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Minister for Regional Development; Lands; 

Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development
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the Financial Management Act 2006.
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The theme of this year’s annual report is ‘looking 
ahead, planning our future’, reflecting the rapidly 
changing environment in which we operate.

In 2013/14 Landgate continued to develop innovative 
ways of delivering high quality services; generating 
profits to invest in new technologies; and returning a 
dividend to our shareholder, the State Government of 
Western Australia.

This year, Landgate made a gross profit of $40.6m, a 
6.8% increase on the previous financial year.  Thanks 
to the efforts of our people, this was an exceptional 
result in the prevailing conditions.

One of Landgate’s most significant achievements 
in 2013/14 was the implementation of the national 
electronic conveyancing system in Western Australia. 
Through investment in Property Exchange Australia 
Ltd (PEXA), the company established to deliver a 
national electronic conveyancing solution to the 
Australian property industry, Landgate has positioned 
itself as a key decision maker in the direction and 
future of e-conveyancing and to take advantage of 
opportunities for new revenue streams. 

Landgate’s partnerships with private and research 
sectors meant we sourced and developed powerful 
tools that ensure location information is more widely 
available. An example of this is our relationship with 
Google in the redevelopment of the Shared Location 
Information Platform (SLIP), a core initiative under the 
State’s Location Information Strategy.

Landgate’s commitment to innovation and research 
and development has seen it lead the way in improving 
many location information services.  It has plans for 
the creation of a Location and Innovation Services 
Hub that will bring policy, governance, infrastructure, 
education, research and development together with 
private sector investment to address issues of local, 
state and national importance.

It is anticipated that fiscal constraints will continue 
and Landgate is leading efforts across government 
to reduce duplication of resources and use location 
information more efficiently.  Operational reforms to 
reduce fixed costs and prepare for the replacement of 
ageing systems are being undertaken.

Landgate is taking a proactive approach to develop 
technological solutions that will allow better 
engagement with customers, make processes and 
systems more efficient and user-friendly, and build 
workforce capacity.

The year ahead is exciting and challenging.  I look 
forward to working with the Board of Management 
(Board), Chief Executive Mike Bradford, his Executive 
team and staff as we continue to build on our 
reputation as Western Australia’s trusted source 
of location information, and a leader in developing 
partnerships between government, business and 
industry.

I also acknowledge the commitment of Landgate’s 
new Minister, the Hon Terry Redman, who supports the 
important role Landgate undertakes and shares our 
vision for the Authority’s future.

Geoffrey Hick 
Chairman

Operational Highlights
Chairman’s Message



 9

Landgate prides itself on a reputation for providing the 
State with world-leading location information products 
and services and maintaining a secure Land Titles 
Register.

This year was the third successive year of growth 
in the property market leading to a 5% increase in 
documents being lodged with Landgate compared 
to 2012/13.  A surge of activity in the last quarter of 
the year for plan lodgement and new title issue was 
managed effectively through a collaborative approach 
with industry, ensuring customer expectations were 
met and more than 9,000 new titles issued.

A significant achievement in 2013/14 was the 
registration of the first Western Australian electronic 
conveyancing transaction.  Over the next few years 
electronic conveyancing will revolutionise the State’s 
property industry.  The estimated savings associated 
with e-conveyancing from 2011 to 2028 will represent 
a financial benefit to the State and industry of 
approximately $80m.    

During the year important steps were taken to 
progress reforms to the Strata Titles Act 1985.  These 
reforms, to be implemented in coming years, will 
modernise the legislation to ensure it meets the needs 
of our growing State. 

Late in 2013 the Locate website was launched. Locate 
uses the Shared Location Information Platform (SLIP) 
to provide the public with access to comprehensive 
data and imagery.  Locate leverages Landgate’s 
implementation of Google Maps Engine and has 
already demonstrated the value of this capability by 
reaching out to a much larger audience. 

The TRANSFORM initiative, launched at the end 
of 2013, will modernise Landgate.  Using new 
technology, reformed processes and an appropriately 
skilled workforce, Landgate will become a more 
customer focused organisation with a stronger 
emphasis on collaboration across government and 
industry.  This will ensure Landgate derives maximum 
value for its customers and the people of Western 
Australia.

Through the efforts of our people, Landgate has 
continued to deliver great service to our customers. 
Their commitment and enthusiasm, as well as their 
depth of knowledge and skill, has been critical to our 
success over the past 12 months.

My thanks to the Board, my Executive team and all our 
people for contributing to our success over the past 
year.

Mike Bradford 
Chief Executive 

Operational Highlights
Chief Executive’s Message
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Electronic Conveyancing

A major milestone over the past 12 months was the completion of the first 
electronic property transaction on 18 June 2014.  Landgate is implementing 
electronic conveyancing in Western Australia, via the electronic lodgement 
platform operated by Property Exchange Australia Ltd (PEXA).  The transaction 
marked a significant milestone for Landgate, PEXA and the Western Australian 
community.  The estimated savings associated with e-conveyancing from 2011  
to 2028 will represent a financial benefit to the State and industry of 
approximately $80m.

Strata Title Act Reform

In March 2014, Cabinet endorsed the program of work as a priority for 
implementation by the end of 2015.  The reforms will help provide more flexible, 
affordable and liveable housing options for residents in Western Australia. 
Landgate will complete reforms to the Strata Titles Act 1985 in 2015, which will 
ensure Western Australia has a modern legislative and regulatory environment to 
better meet the needs of the State, particularly in terms of future growth.

Shared Location Information Platform - Locate

The Locate website, which uses the Shared Location Information Platform 
infrastructure, was launched in October 2013.  It provides access to 
comprehensive government sourced data and imagery, using Google Earth 
technology.  Locate is the first major product to be released under the State 
Government’s $23m Location Information Strategy (LIS).

Landgate will continue to build on past successes and lay the 
foundations for a prosperous future.  The Authority continues to deliver 
for customers today, while developing tomorrow’s business. 

Operational Highlights
Executive Summary
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Aurora

The multiple award-winning bushfire simulation tool, Aurora, has continued to 
receive national and international acclaim.  Jointly developed with the University 
of Western Australia and the Department of Fire and Emergency Services, Aurora 
is the first national bushfire spread simulation tool and can be used throughout 
Australia to provide assistance to emergency services in regional and remote 
areas.  The early warning component will also help better manage prescribed 
burns and simulate the path of bushfires in near-real time. 

Regulated Fees Reform

In March 2014, Cabinet approved a submission which will lead the way for 
drafting of legislation to undertake reforms that will modernise Landgate’s 
approach to the way regulated products and services are priced.  It will allow 
Landgate and the Western Australian community to reap the benefits of savings 
generated by reduced operating costs through business efficiencies.

Business Transformation

One of the most significant changes within Landgate over the past 12 months 
is the commencement of an in-house business improvement program known 
as TRANSFORM.  The program will underpin how the Authority moves forward 
using the latest technology with an even greater focus on collaboration across 
government to leverage location information.  This will ensure Landgate derives 
maximum value for its customers and its shareholder.

Workplace Transformation

Landgate rolled out a human resources performance management system, 
known as GPS (Growth, Performance and Satisfaction) which is part of the 
Authority’s broader TRANSFORM program.  This innovative system has achieved 
much success so far and will go a long way in ensuring Landgate’s existing and 
future workforce is engaged and focused on delivering the right services for 
customers.

$
Operational Highlights
Executive Summary
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OUR KEY HIGHLIGHTS

Gross Profit

Landgate has delivered a record gross 
profit of $40.6m, which exceeds last year’s 
record profit by a further $2.6m and is 
$11.5m above budget.  This represents 
excellent growth in revenue combined with 
a disciplined approach to managing costs 
in light of increased demand for Landgate’s 
services.

Net Assets

Landgate’s net assets have grown to 
$195.2m, representing a 17% increase 
on the previous year.  This has been 
achieved principally through retained 
earnings combined with the strengthening 
of the Authority’s asset position relative to 
liabilities.

Customer Revenue

Customer revenue grew to a record $138.3m 
which is primarily a result of the increased 
activity in the State’s property market.  This 
financial year saw the completion of the latest 
Gross Rental Value (GRV) Metropolitan Triennial 
Program contributing additional revenue in 
2013/14.  These factors resulted in operating 
revenue exceeding target by 3.5% and the 
previous financial year by 10.6%.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year totalled 
$16.6m.  Investment continued in e-business 
initiatives such as e-conveyancing and other 
online infrastructure and in improving the 
quality and accessibility of land information 
across agencies and industry.

Landgate has finished 2013/14 in a strong financial position. 
Demand was high for Landgate’s products and services reflecting 
the strength of the State’s property market.  Management has also 
maintained an emphasis on a lean operating environment with the 
Authority committed to delivering its products and services with 
efficiency, whilst meeting community expectations.

Operational Highlights
Financial Summary

$195.2m $16.6m

$40.6m $138.3m
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6%

17% Customer Revenue - Registrations
$107.5

Customer Revenue - Valuations
$21.4

Customer Revenue - Other
$9.5

State Government Funding
$29.6

Other Revenue
$4.8

3%

Employee Benefits
$75.3

Supplies and Services
$31.9

Other Expenses
$8.9

Accommodation
$4.5

Depreciation and Amortisation
$9.2

Finance Costs
$2.3

57%

24%

7%

3%

2% 7%

OUR PROFIT

Landgate has seen growth in profit for each 
of the last three financial years, a reflection of 
the strength of the Western Australian property 
market.  For these consecutive years, Landgate 
has delivered record profits whilst maintaining 
regulated fees at the same level.  This performance 
has been the result of effective management of 
costs combined with the current strength of the 
State’s property market.

OUR EXPENDITURE

Landgate’s expenditure ended the year 
5.4% below target, a 2% increase over 
the previous year.  The Authority continues 
to focus on maintaining a cost effective 
service delivery structure whilst achieving 
the standard of service delivery expected by 
the community.  

OUR REVENUE

Landgate’s operating revenue exceeded 
the target by 3.9% and was 10.3% above 
the previous year mainly due to additional 
revenue from registrations, searches and 
valuations.  Landgate also receives service 
appropriation from the State Government, 
accounting for 17% of total revenue, down 
from 22.5% last financial year. 

OUR NET ASSETS

Over the last four years Landgate has seen its 
net asset position increase by 81% to $195m, 
indicating the ability to leverage strong returns 
from our asset base.  This strong financial position 
will allow the Authority to continue investing in the 
efficient delivery of services and further diversify 
and enhance the range of products and services 
available to the community.  The strong balance 
sheet position also enables Landgate to contribute 
to the State’s finances through the payment of 
dividends to the State Government.

Our Gross Profit ($m)

Our Net Assets ($m)

Our Expenditure ($m)

Our Revenue ($m)

2009/10

2009/10

2012/13

2012/13

2013/14

2013/14

$6.5

$107.7

$38

$166.8

$40.6

$195.2

2010/11

2010/11

2011/12

2011/12

$0.9

$108.1

$20.9

$130.3
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Landgate’s key services include land information, valuations and 
access to government location information.

Operational Highlights
Performance Summary

LAND REGISTRATION ACTIONS

Land Registration actions involve activities 
associated with registering land transactions 
and include the number of documents examined 
for registration against a title; certificates of title 
created; document search requests received and 
lots created.  The actual average cost per land 
registration action for this financial year was 12% 
below the target of $34.12 due to increased market 
activity and continued process improvement which 
delivered productivity enhancements. 

LAND INFORMATION ACTIONS

Land Information actions involve activities 
associated with the capture, production and 
maintenance of physical land and land boundary 
information in Landgate’s datasets.  These 
datasets include information about cadastre; 
geodetic marks; administrative boundaries; 
contours; cultural or build environment and natural 
features; aerial photography; satellite imagery; 
geographic names; property street addresses; 
road centrelines; native title claims and baseline/
territorial sea limits.  The actual average cost 
per land information action for this financial 
year was 5.1% below the target of $20.28 due 
to productivity gains delivered from business 
improvement initiatives.

Number of Land Registration actions  
(average cost per action)

Number of Land Information actions  
(average cost per action)

Land information – includes land registration and land information services which are delivered 
to ensure the State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land 
information base and certainty of ownership and other interests in land. 

2012/13

2012/13

2013/14

2013/14

2,223,348 ($31.67)

1,712,361 ($16.80)

2,326,984 ($30.05)

1,483,556 ($19.25)

2010/11

2010/11

2011/12

2011/12

2,002,153 ($39.69)

1,755,594 ($18.49)

2,018,957 ($36.84)

1,938,818 ($15.67)
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VALUATIONS COMPLETED

Valuations completed include the unimproved and 
gross rental values including general valuations; 
interim valuations; objections; appeals and queries 
made during the financial year and other valuations 
including stamp duty; market; asset valuations and 
property related valuation consultancy services. 
This is the last year of the Metropolitan Triennial 
Program and hence the highest level of activity. 
The 2013/14 actual average cost per valuation 
is below the target of $14.34, reflecting internal 
efficiencies and fiscal restraint. 

REQUESTS BY AGENCIES FOR DATA CAPTURE 
THROUGH STATE LAND INFORMATION CAPTURE 
PROGRAM (SLICP)

The Location Information Strategy aims to increase 
the number of organisations actively participating 
in SLICP in order to better coordinate and reduce 
the costs of capturing location information, while 
improving the efficiency of this process and 
reducing the cost of coordination.  The 2013/14 
actual average cost of coordinating SLICP requests 
for capture was above the target of $9,267 due to 
a marginal increase in overhead costs that, when 
applied against the number of requests (units), 
translates into a higher average cost.

INFORMATION DELIVERED BY SHARED LOCATION 
INFORMATION PLATFORM (SLIP)

The Location Information Strategy aims to enhance 
SLIP to reduce the effort required to make data 
available and ensure it is the most cost effective 
solution to delivering location information from 
across the State to users.  The cost per gigabyte 
of information delivered is based on the resources 
needed to support SLIP customers and the 
infrastructure cost to maintain SLIP.  The 2013/14 
actual average cost per gigabyte of information 
delivered was above the target of $985.  This was 
due to costs incurred for developing the new SLIP 
platform, which is based on Google Maps Engine, 
in addition to the continued costs of operating SLIP 
Classic.  It is expected that this cost will reduce in 
future years when SLIP Classic is decommissioned. 

Number of Valuations

(average cost per valuation)

Number of requests submitted for data capture 
through SLICP (average cost per request)

Number of gigabytes of information delivered 
by SLIP (average cost per gigabyte)

Valuations – independent valuations support governments’ collection of rates and taxes and 
management of property assets.

Access to government Location information – includes requests for data capture and information 
delivered. these services are delivered to achieve coordinated capture and access to the State’s 
location information.

2012/13

2012/13

2012/13

2013/14

2013/14

2013/14

1,654,902 ($14.91)

197 ($8,924)

4,225 ($933)

1,823,684 ($13.55)

208 ($10,644)

4,519 ($1,487)

2010/11

2011/12

2011/12

2011/12

1,807,113 ($12.80)

1,315,100 ($18.92)

169 ($6,834)

2,402 ($987)
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

our Customers 
and Stakeholders –  
enhancing Value
To ensure the ongoing delivery of core public services and 
to anticipate future requirements, Landgate is transforming 
business systems and processes to deliver better services and 
improve efficiency.  This will allow capital and resources to be 
redirected to fulfil new business opportunities and needs. 
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

In June 2014, Landgate processed its first online 
transaction – a discharge of mortgage.  This marked 
a major milestone for Landgate and is the most 
significant change to conveyancing in more than a 
century.

Landgate is rolling out the digital system in Western 
Australia, via the Electronic Lodgement Network 
Operator platform, developed by Property Exchange 
Australia Ltd (PEXA).  The platform was established 
as an initiative through the Council of Australian 
Governments.

The PEXA solution will provide an efficient way for 
conveyancers, banks and other financial institutions 
to complete property transactions, lodge land title 
dealings for registration as well as facilitate the 
electronic settlement of funds. 

Significant industry-wide progress on electronic 
conveyancing has been achieved.  This includes the 
passing of the Electronic Conveyancing National 

Law in all participating states, and contractual 
agreements with all participating land registries. 

The first release of the national system is now 
operational in Victoria, New South Wales, 
Queensland and Western Australia.  Work is 
underway for the implementation of Release Two, 
which commences in late 2014.  The PEXA system 
will then be available to a wider group of users 
including conveyancers, lawyers and State Revenue 
Offices as well as the use of the Reserve Bank’s 
Settlement Model to conduct financial settlement. 

The estimated savings associated with electronic 
conveyancing from 2011 to 2028 will exceed $580m 
nationally.  As Western Australia represents about 
14% of the market, the benefits to the State and 
local industry are expected to be approximately 
$80m.

National Electronic Conveyancing

Landgate processed 
its first online 
transaction……
marking the most 
significant change to 
conveyancing in more 
than a century.

Mike Bradford
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

Landgate is making good progress in the delivery of 
reforms to the Strata Titles Act 1985.  The reforms, 
which will be implemented by the end of 2015, 
will ensure the State has a modern legislative and 
regulatory environment to better meet its needs, 
particularly in light of future growth.

The Strata Titles Act 1985 is the primary legislation 
that facilitates the subdivision of land into strata 
scheme developments.  Significant changes in the 
property market have taken place since the law was 
last amended in 1996.  In particular, as the use of 
smaller lot sizes continues, there is an increased 
demand for strata as a preferred development 
option.

Strata titling is appropriate for residential, 
commercial and industrial land use and has gained 
acceptance in both new and historic building 
renovation schemes as well as rural and resort 
developments.

Key to the reform work is to ensure consumer 
protection is maintained.  The reforms will also 
consider the level and effectiveness of disclosure 
regimes.  It is envisaged that the reforms will provide 
more flexible staged development procedures and 
layered schemes building developments.  These 
will allow multiple schemes in one building so that 
different uses can be managed.

The reforms will also provide benefits to residents 
and home owners, offering more affordable and 
liveable housing options, as well as improved 
dispute resolution procedures.

Though Landgate is leading the reforms, extensive 
consultation with government agencies and industry 
has and will continue to take place, to ensure all 
objectives are achieved in a timely manner.

Strata Titles Act Reform

New strata reforms, delivered by Landgate, will better meet the needs of Western Australia in the future.
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value 

Location Information Strategy 

Landgate is leading the implementation of the $23m 
Location Information Strategy (LIS) in collaboration 
with the Western Australia Land Information System 
(WALIS) community.

The strategy will facilitate and leverage location 
information to make planning and decision  
making more timely and cost effective for whole  
of Government.               

There have been several achievements during 
the implementation process to date, including 
Landgate’s work with the Departments of Regional 
Development, Planning and Transport to coordinate 
a range of projects.  An example of this is Locate, 
the first major product to be released to the Western 
Australian community. 

The LIS has also underpinned the development  
of new business applications such as the South-
West Native Title Settlement for the Department  
of Lands and the State Agreements and Major 
Projects Locator application for Department of  
State Development. 

These applications are revolutionising the way 
organisations are using location information to 
support major projects.

Consultants were engaged in February 2014 to 
improve the benefits realisation framework to 
assist Landgate and its partners better capture the 
economic and other benefits of the program.

Once the program is implemented in its entirety, 
there will be many other benefits to be gained. 
These include direct financial savings, increased 
return on technology and greater public participation 
in the sharing and use of location information. 

Shared Location Information Platform 

The Shared Location Information Platform (SLIP) 
Future Program underpins the delivery of the LIS by 
enhancing the existing platform features to make 
access easier for all users.  A total of $2.79m has 
been allocated to this project between 2012/13 to 
2013/14.

The initiative will expand the business use of the 
platform, reinforcing its position as the premier data 
infrastructure in Western Australia.  As the preferred 
source of State data, it will reduce duplication 
of information held by other agencies on similar 
systems.

State Land Information Capture Program

The State Land Information Capture Program 
(SLICP) looks at the future location information 
needs of the State by delivering a coordinated 
approach to the capture of new and updated 
location information across Western Australia.

The program provides an online facility to capture 
‘footprints’ for planned projects.  This enables 
the State Government and other proponents to 
avoid duplicating investment in the capture of 
this information.  This program was completed in 
February 2014 and is now fully operational.

An expanded capture program of aerial and high 
resolution satellite imagery to assist planning and 
development of town sites and major infrastructure 
across Western Australia was completed in the last 
12 months.
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

Locate

In October 2013, Landgate launched Locate – the 
first major product from the redevelopment of SLIP. 
Locate delivers online location information about 
Western Australia to the public as a free service.  
This website has received more than two million hits 
since it was launched in October 2013. 

Using Google Maps Engine technology, Locate 
sources its data from a range of State Government 
departments and agencies, including Landgate’s 
historical mapping, aerial photography and 
property information.  Other agencies also share 
information, such as public transport routes, train 
and bus stops, suburbs, town sites and electoral 
boundaries, the location of community services 
(hospitals and schools) and information from the 
most recent Commonwealth Census.

       As custodian of
Western Australia’s 
land and geographic 
data, Landgate’s vision 
is to solve tomorrow’s 
challenges by integrating 
location information into 
everything we do.
Mike Bradford



 21

Aurora, Australia’s first ever online bushfire 
simulation tool, is a collaborative project between 
Landgate, the Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services and the University of Western Australia.  
Cutting edge technology helps to plan for the 
future and minimise the impact of devastating 
bushfires.

‘Aurora for the Regions’ won the Regional 
Category in the National iAwards in Melbourne 
in August 2013.  It also won the Sustainability 
and Environment Category in the Asia Pacific 
Information, Communications and Technology 
Awards in Hong Kong in November 2013.  Aurora 
has been nominated for a 2014 Premier’s Award 
in the Revitalising the Regions Category.

Aurora - Australia’s First Bushfire Simulation Tool 

Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

Image courtesy of the Fire and Emergency Services Authority

Aurora technology will help minimise the devastating impact of bushfires.

FireWatch

During the year, FireWatch Pro and MyFireWatch, 
Landgate’s next generation of online fire information 
systems were launched. Together they provide a 
world-class system to deliver critical fire information 
in near real-time for individual incidents. 

One of the advantages of MyFireWatch is that 
it can be used by people without any technical 
knowledge, providing a fast and easy-to-use 
interface that can be accessed on multiple device 
platforms. FireWatch Pro is for users with more 
complex needs.

MyFireWatch and FireWatch Pro are finalists in the 
2014 WaITTA Awards in the Regional Category.

The real power of 
location information 
will only be seen when 
anyone, anywhere, 
anytime can 
seamlessly access, 
analyse and consider 
information as easily 
as searching the 
internet.

Mike Bradford
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

Property Interest Report 

In October 2013, Landgate redeveloped and 
launched a new-look Property Interest (PI) Report.

The PI Report provides a simple means of 
accessing many government ‘interests’ over 
property which are not registered on the Certificate 
of Title.

During the year, 20 additional interests have been 
added to the PI Report which means there are now 
57 interests available.  New interests are continually 
being investigated and added to the PI Report.

The redevelopment has provided many benefits to 
customers including a more user-friendly format 
with the interests clearly defined and greater ease 
of access for both industry professionals and the 
public.

The property interest report can help prospective buyers make better-informed decisions when purchasing a property.

More than 6000 
property interest 
reports were 
purchased in the first 
six months of the 
launch.
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Growth in property market activity has led to 
increased demand on Landgate’s advice service. 
Advice staff assist customers submitting land 
transaction documents for lodgement. 

A tiered support service was introduced that 
resulted in 53% of advice enquiries being resolved 
at first point of contact, reducing telephone queues 
and allowing staff to focus on more complex 
customer enquiries.

Other initiatives to improve customer experience 
include multi-skilling customer service staff, a new 
customer feedback system, planning for a new 
contact centre telephony system, a new website 
and a new Customer Relationship Management 
system.

Enhanced Customer Experience

Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Customers and Stakeholders – Enhancing Value

New support service 
led to more than half of 
queries being resolved 
at first point of contact.
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

our Business  
Improvement –  
planning our Future
Supported by the commencement of a performance audit, the 
TRANSFORM approach will generate greater efficiencies and 
new business prospects.  It will facilitate a multi-skilled, flexible 
and externally focused workforce enabling Landgate to better 
respond to and anticipate customer needs.
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Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Business Improvement – Planning Our Future

TRANSFORM – Improving our Business  

TRANSFORM is Landgate’s broad business 
improvement program to accelerate its reform 
agenda and to achieve the goals outlined in the 
Strategic Development Plan 2014/15-2018/19.  

During the past 12 months, Landgate engaged 
external consultants to carry out a holistic 
assessment of the business.  This led to a number 
of recommendations including better understanding 
and engagement with customers, improving 
business processes and overhauling systems to 
make them efficient, streamlined and user-friendly. 

Landgate is now moving into detailed planning of 
the broader program.  Through execution of the 
TRANSFORM program, Landgate will deliver an 
enriched customer experience, increase commercial 
revenues and reduce operating costs.  In doing so, 
it will enable Landgate to drive maximum value for 
its customers and shareholder.

Regulated Fees

Landgate is modernising its approach to the way 
regulated products and services are priced.  Pricing 
Reform will allow Landgate and the Western 
Australian community to reap the benefits of savings 
generated by reduced operating costs through 
business efficiencies.  Government has supported 
this approach and a submission was approved by 
Cabinet in March 2014 which will lead the way for 
the drafting of legislation.  

ePlan Lodgement

Land Surveyors are now able to submit deposited 
plans, strata plans and additional information 
relating to a particular plan to Landgate, via the 
ePlan Lodgement application on the MyLandgate 
Survey Channel. 

This new system, made available in 2013/14, 
enables plans to be lodged via the web rather than 
email, significantly improving efficiency in the plan 
lodgement and audit processes.  The streamlined 
process facilitates the secure capture and storage 
of plan information and the automatic distribution 
of information to relevant teams or individuals, 
enabling Landgate to process a record number 
of plan lodgements leading up to the end of the 
financial year. 
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Our Business Improvement – Planning Our Future

Landgate and the Office of State Revenue have 
been working collaboratively to introduce an 
Electronic Valuation Request system for stamp duty 
valuations. 

The existing process relies heavily on paper 
documents and courier services between Midland 
and the Perth Central Business District.

A pilot project for a new electronic process was 
implemented in June 2014, leading the way for the 
introduction of a web based portal that will upload 
valuation requests and documents in a purely digital 
format.  Valuation requests will be logged to valuers 
online and once the valuation is complete, the 
stamp duty transaction can be actioned immediately 
by the Office of State Revenue.

The process will save between four and eight 
working days in the turnaround time.  Trials to 
test the system and processes will continue until 
September 2014, with anticipated roll out in March 
2015. 

Electronic Valuation Request 

1.657 million

250,000 km
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

Were travelled during revaluations

Our Valuers carried out revaluations throughout Western Australia, clocking up over 250,000km in 2013/14.

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
Valuations were made for rating and taxing purposes



Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

our Strategic alliances, 
partnerships and 
Innovation – developing 
tomorrow’s Business
Landgate is internationally recognised as a leader in the 
management and use of location information and technology. 
Landgate continues to explore opportunities for further 
innovation and collaboration, locally and internationally, through 
business partnerships and alliances that further harness the 
Authority’s unique resources, skills and knowledge.
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Our Strategic Alliances, Partnerships and Innovation –  
Developing Tomorrow’s Business

Google Maps 

In 2013, Google approached Landgate to be one 
of 50 international organisations to take part in the 
launch of its new online, interactive, digital atlas, 
Google Maps Gallery. Launched in February 2014, 
this atlas allows people to view high quality maps 
and imagery from around the world.

Landgate’s contribution includes an aerial 
photograph of the whole Perth metropolitan area 
captured in 1965, as well as Landgate’s ‘Earth is 
Art’ collection of aerial images that showcase the 
Western Australian landscape.  The original survey 
map of the Canning Stock Route, explored by Alfred 
Canning, which compares features of the route with 
detailed aerial photography from the present day, 
is also included.  At the time of launch, Landgate’s 
maps were listed in the ‘Top Maps’ visited.  

Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information 

The Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial 
Information (CRCSI) is Landgate’s main vehicle for 
coordinating spatial research and development. 
Commercial opportunities currently being 
investigated include the outcomes from research 
within the agricultural sector through the Biomass 
Business Project and also the creation of new 
technology to aid decision making in urban planning 
through the Greening the Greyfields Project.  The 
Greening the Greyfields is an example of a project 
in the applications stream of the CRCSI research 
portfolio. It aims to develop state-of-the-art 
modelling tools using spatial data sets including 
valuations and cadastre data, to identify, model and 
visualise potential urban renewal projects.

Knowledge and technology transfer between 
the CRCSI and Landgate is underway, with 
CRCSI researchers working with Landgate staff 
to determine how new tools for automated 
feature extraction from imagery can be integrated 
into Landgate’s business processes to deliver 
efficiencies.

The Spatial Infrastructures program has attracted 
high achieving PhD candidates.  Research has 
commenced into the next generation of internet 
searching and automated online data discovery 
technology that will complement Landgate’s SLIP 
Future development.

Recognising that 
the security of land 
ownership underpins 
every economy, Landgate 
continues to share its 
expertise and experience 
in land administration 
with developing countries.
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Our Strategic Alliances, Partnerships and Innovation –  
Developing Tomorrow’s Business

Joint Venture harnesses NASA Technology 

earthmine Australia (eA) is testament to Landgate’s 
commitment to forming partnerships in order to 
create innovative solutions.  eA is an incorporated 
joint venture with Geomatic Technologies and 
earthmine Inc.

eA is unique in that it harnesses NASA technology 
to provide 3D street level imagery to businesses 
and government in Australian and New Zealand.

Over the last 12 months, eA has continued to grow 
with capture revenue increasing by over 50%.  eA 
supports research and development by providing 
data through agreements with Curtin University and 
the CRCSI.

The eA library of data continues to grow, with 
over 13,000km purchased by customers this year, 
proving the ‘capture once and share many times’ 
solution is a success.  In choosing this option, it 
has saved government clients over $850,000 in the 
2013/14 financial year.

There are a wide range of industries that have 
benefitted from the eA solution in 2013/14, 
including rail, insurance, land development, 
communications, electricity, as well as local and 
state governments. 

Landgate maintains 
a dynamic research 
and development 
capability through 
an alliance with 
Curtin University and 
collaborations with 
other universities 
and technology 
partners.

earthmine Australia has continued to grow with capture revenue increasing by 50%.
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Landgate’s expertise in developing innovative 
solutions and delivering quality professional 
training programs is demonstrated by its high 
success rate in acquiring funding from federal 
grants programs.
 
In the 2013/14 financial year, Landgate was 
awarded funding for four projects through the 
National Disaster Resilience Program.  This 
program, co-funded by the Australian and Western 
Australian Governments, aims to support the 
development of disaster mitigation tools. 

Several Landgate projects have led to the 
development of improved disaster mitigation 
products and services, used by both the State 
Government and the community.  These include 
the development of predictive storm surge 
modelling technology, a low-tech geo-location 

tool, a wind erosion hazard index for the farming 
community and enhancements to the award-
winning products ‘FireWatch’ and ‘FloodMap’.

Landgate has also received funding from the 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade for the 
delivery of two Australian Awards Fellowships 
programs.  These programs aim to build capacity 
and foster links with developing Asia-Pacific 
countries.  

This year, Landgate has shared its location 
information expertise with land administration 
professionals from Vietnam, People’s Democratic 
Republic of Lao, Cambodia, Tonga, Kiribati, 
Solomon Islands and Mauritius.  Landgate is 
proud to contribute to the improvement of land 
governance in developing nations in the region. 

Sharing Knowledge Locally and Internationally 

Operational Highlights
Significant Achievements

Our Strategic Alliances, Partnerships and Innovation –  
Developing Tomorrow’s Business

Hon Terry Redman, Minister for Lands with Mauritian Government’s Minister of Housing and Lands, Hon Dr Abu Twalib Kasenally.
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Our Strategic Alliances, Partnerships and Innovation –  
Developing Tomorrow’s Business

Innovation

Landgate’s Innovation Program works to inspire 
ideas from staff across the business.  Activities 
included support for world-class flood modelling 
using satellite imagery and working to deliver 
business efficiencies supporting Landgate’s 
valuations staff. 

Landgate is a leader and key supporter of 
innovation, research and development across the 
Western Australia public sector and is an active 
member of the WA Public Sector Joint Innovation 
Working Group. 

Landgate has extended its innovation activities 
externally to the start-up community and 
universities.  As part of Australian Public Sector 
Innovation Month, Landgate sponsored GovHack, 
a short duration, high intensity event, which 
harnessed creativity and innovation to create 

solutions for problems and challenges facing 
government.  The event brought together ideas 
people, technical expertise, developers and 
a huge selection of data held by government 
(utilising Landgate’s SLIP) for a 54 hour application 
development competition.

Landgate sponsored a Location Innovation Prize at 
GovHack to promote the use of new SLIP by the 
application developments and start-up community.  
The prize was won by an application called ‘Clue 
Go’ which was an interactive and educational 
mobile application based in the cloud which allows 
users to create teams who compete to discover the 
hidden history of Perth using a selection of data 
delivered by new SLIP.

The Innovation Team has led the way in innovative thinking across government.
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our people –  
the Reason for  
our Success
Investing in our people is critical to support Landgate’s future 
sustainability, to achieve its vision and realise its potential. 
Landgate is proud to report that the Authority is building on its 
growing reputation as an employer of choice.
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Our People – The Reason for Our Success

People, Culture and Leadership

Fostering a Diverse Workplace and Supportive Culture

Landgate’s Workforce and Diversity Plan 2012-
2015 continued to assist in identifying current 
and future workforce requirements.  The plan 
incorporated Landgate’s Aboriginal Employment 
Strategy, Reconciliation Action Plan, Disability 
Access Inclusion Plan and Diversity Framework, all 
of which highlight the value of diversity and equal 
employment opportunities. 

Cultural Awareness

Landgate’s Aboriginal Cross Cultural Awareness 
Program, Wangkanij Boodjar Kaatany (talking, 
land, and thinking) continued strongly with almost 
50% of Landgate staff completing training by June 
2014.  Wangkanij Boodjar Kaatany will continue 
as an initiative of the new Landgate Aboriginal 
Employment Strategy 2014-2017.

Landgate’s Trainee Program

Landgate’s School-based Trainee Program 
continued to provide students with valuable and 
relevant workplace experience. 

Increasing the Representation of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Employees  

In 2013/14, key achievements included the creation 
and implementation of the Landgate Mentoring 
Aboriginal People Pool. By 30 June 2014, Landgate 
had eight qualified mentors who completed 
an accredited Mentoring Aboriginal People 
qualification.

Landgate’s traineeships provided valuable experience.
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Our People – The Reason for Our Success

Landgate hosted a number of events during 
2013/14 including the annual NAIDOC celebration, 
a collaborative effort between the City of Swan and 
the Western Australian Government Department of 
Corrective Services.  The Authority also hosted the 
annual International Women’s Day Breakfast, which 
was attended by representatives from various local 
businesses and Landgate staff. 

Staff participated in many community events 
over the last 12 months such as volunteering 
their time to plant 3,000 native rushes and reeds 
around Whiteman Park and supporting the Cancer 
Council’s initiative, ‘Daffodil Day’.  Landgate staff 
were also actively involved in the School Volunteer 
Program, supporting local schools in a variety of 
educational programs.

Landgate in the Community

Landgate has hosted 
IWD events for over 
a decade, raising 
thousands of dollars 
for local charities.

The annual International Women’s Day event supported local charities.
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Our People – The Reason for Our Success

Reduction in Leave Liability 

In the last 12 months, there was a significant 
reduction in Landgate’s leave liability, decreasing 
from $19.5m in July 2013 to $18.8m in June 
2014.  Through a proactive campaign, staff were 
encouraged to take leave during quieter periods to 
‘recharge’.

Wellness Program

Landgate’s Wellness Program continued to provide 
a diverse range of activities, such as the Landgate 
Fun Run, where staff are invited to participate with 
the aim of increasing their mental and physical 
wellbeing.

Landgate supported the Lions’ Recycle for Sight 
Australia program, which encourages people to 
donate their second-hand glasses which are then 
passed on to those less fortunate.  

Landgate is proud to have joined the Western 
Australian suicide prevention initiative One Life.  
One Life aims to transform attitudes regarding 
suicide and suicidal behaviour and presents a  
guide for policies and services to better meet the 
needs of people at risk.  

Growth, Performance and Satisfaction

Part of the TRANSFORM process is the 
implementation of a new human resources 
performance management system, known as 
Growth, Performance and Satisfaction (GPS) which 
was rolled out in 2013. 

The purpose of GPS is to bring employees and 
managers together to agree on individual objectives 
and provide a forum to discuss their performance.  
Ninety per cent of staff had their GPS conversation 
with their manager and created their 2013/14 Work 
Plan.  GPS is helping to build a performance culture, 
leadership and accountability across Landgate. 

GPS, created by Landgate will go a long way 
in ensuring the Authority’s existing and future 
workforce is engaged and focused on delivering the 
right services for its customers.

       
GPS will bring 
employees and 
managers together 
to agree on individual 
objectives.
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Significant Issues and Trends

Property Market

A large proportion of Landgate’s revenue is 
dependent on the activity of an often volatile 
property market which can create challenges to the 
Authority.

The lack of flexibility to respond to market activity 
in a timely manner is a significant challenge faced 
by Landgate.  This is due to current fee setting 
arrangements as part of the annual State Budget 
process and is being addressed through regulated 
fee reform. 

Growth in property market activity, as experienced 
in the last couple of years, is not anticipated 
to continue at the same rate.  The underlying 
population and economic growth is expected to 
maintain some support and activity is likely to 
stabilise over the next three years.  Landgate is 
closely monitoring property market forecasts. 

Increasing Demand for Government Services 

The steady population growth in Western 
Australia has prompted an increase in demand for 
government services.  The State Government has 
responded by adopting measures that ensure the 
delivery of services and limit debt levels. 

Landgate is facing fiscal constraints and cost 
pressures, while demand for improvements in public 
services continues to grow. 

Initiation of the TRANSFORM program will increase 
productivity and improve service delivery.

Ageing Workforce 

Over 45% of Landgate’s staff are aged over 50 
years, which has the potential to lead to a significant 
loss of corporate knowledge when they leave the 
workforce.

Landgate has commenced succession planning 
in key critical areas.  TRANSFORM will deliver 
a knowledge management framework and the 
Authority is intending to automate business 
processes.  Identifying and capturing intellectual 
property, business rules and legal precedents is 
fundamental to addressing this issue, as is sourcing 
the right skills and capabilities in the future.  

Open Data 

There is a global trend for government data to 
be openly accessible at little or no cost, easily 
discoverable and accessible with no restrictions on 
use, reuse and redistribution. 

Landgate is investigating the impacts of adopting 
open data policies which, if implemented, would 
minimise the impact on current operations whilst 
maximising future opportunities. 

National Reform Agendas 

With national reform agendas successfully delivering 
electronic conveyancing, there is the potential 
for the national consolidation of registration 
and location information systems and services. 
Landgate actively monitors development and 
opportunities in these areas.
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New Pastoral Leases 

All pastoral leases in Western Australia will expire on 
30 June 2015.  While the Department of Lands (DoL) 
is responsible for the expiry and grant of new pastoral 
leases, Landgate is responsible for their registration 
in the State’s Land Title System and will continue 
to support the DoL to ensure this major initiative is 
successful. 
 
Significant work is being undertaken with DoL and 
industry stakeholders, such as financiers and lawyers, 
to ensure the leases and their associated documents 
are registered at Landgate as smoothly as possible 
on 1 July 2015. 

Commoditisation of Information Technology 

Cloud infrastructure for delivering Information 
Technology solutions as a service has become 
increasingly popular and viable and will reduce 
infrastructure and service delivery costs. 

Recognising these costs in the financial statements 
has the potential to impact the bottom line during 
transition as new ‘software as a service’ costs are 
incurred, in addition to depreciation and writing off 
retiring systems. 

A unified communications system has recently been 
procured as “software as a service”. A refresh of core 
legacy systems, using a strategy based on replacing 
or redeveloping systems with current technology,  
is planned.

Private Sector Partnerships 

There are increasing opportunities to partner with 
the private sector to provide the Authority’s data and 
services to new markets and customer segments 
using jointly developed technology and intellectual 
property.  Landgate will continue to seek these 
opportunities. 

By funding an Innovation Program and looking to 
develop a Location and Innovation Hub, Landgate 
is providing an environment where emerging trends 
and technology can be developed to benefit the State 
Government and public. 

Local Government Authority Reform (LGAR) 

In July 2013, the State Government announced 
a range of changes to Perth’s metropolitan local 
governments including a proposal to reduce the 
current number of metropolitan councils from  
30 to 15, to take effect from 1 July 2015.

This LGAR will require Landgate to undertake a 
significant amount of work, including provision 
of services on behalf of the Department of Local 
Government and changes to Landgate’s core systems 
to accurately reflect the reform in products and 
services. 

Landgate is preparing for the reform by establishing 
working relationships with relevant government 
agencies, identifying affected internal processes and 
systems and planning for implementation of changes 
required to support the reform.   

Significant Issues and Trends
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Geoffrey Hick, FCA MAICD 
Chairman

Geoffrey Hick joined the Landgate Board in 2009 and 
was appointed Chairman in 2010.  He is a Chartered 
Accountant and a former partner of Grant Thornton 
Chartered Accountants.  Geoffrey has specialised 
in providing business advice to management and 
Boards of private and public companies on a range 
of matters including finance, taxation, property 
development, business planning and strategy.  He is 
currently a Board Member of several other companies 
and has been a Board Member of companies 
involved in land development, hospitality, franchising, 
construction, mining and finance. 

Roger Hussey, LLB (WA) MA (Oxon) Business (Stanford) 
Deputy Chair 

Roger Hussey joined the Landgate Board in October 
2012. Roger’s career has focused on business 
management and commercial activities.  He was 
Chairman and CEO of Century Holdings Ltd and 
became Chairman of other ASX companies involved 
in mining and industrial activities.  Roger has 
also been a senior Strategy Consultant with large 
international consulting firms KPMG and Deloitte, 
leading large-scale organisational projects for 
government and business clients.  Roger has also 
been appointed Chairman of many government 
and community bodies, such as Princess Margaret 
Hospital, Telethon Child Health Research Institute, 
Agwest Trade Development, TAB (WA) and Bali Eye 
Foundation.

Authority Overview
Board

Landgate is the trading name of the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority. It is a statutory authority with commercial 
powers established under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 
and is accountable to the Minister for Lands.

Left to right: Claire Poll, Roger Hussey, Paul White, Geoffrey Hick, Karen Gadsby, Anne Arnold and Mike Bradford.
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Anne Arnold, BEc

Anne Arnold joined the Landgate Board in January 
2013. Most recently, Anne was Chief Executive of 
the Real Estate Institute of WA.  Previously, she held 
senior positions in a number of private and public 
organisations.  Anne has served on various Boards 
and committees and is currently Councillor and 
Deputy Chair, Heritage Council of Western Australia 
and a Member of the government’s Affordable 
Housing Round Table.  Anne has a Bachelor of 
Economics from the University of Western Australia.

Karen Gadsby, BComm FCA MAICD

Karen Gadsby joined the Landgate Board in 2011  
and Chairs the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.  She has extensive experience in 
finance and in the mining industry.  She is Chair of 
Community First International Ltd, Chair of Strategen 
Environmental Consulting Pty Ltd, and a Director 
for Talisman Mining Ltd.  Her previous directorships 
include AMES (Vic), Western Health (Vic), GMHBA 
(Vic) and Perth Home Care Services (WA).  Karen 
has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of 
WA and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with 
Coopers and Lybrand WA.

Claire Poll, BA BJuris LLB

Claire Poll joined the Landgate Board in February 
2012. She has more than 20 years’ experience 
delivering legal and commercial solutions globally 
across a range of industries.  Currently, Claire is 
Corporate Director at Verona Pharma plc, a drug 
discovery and development company listed on 
the AIM stock exchange in the UK.  Prior to this, 
she worked in venture capital and headed the 
corporate development division at Inmarsat Ltd, a 
global satellite communications company.  Claire 
is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and holds a Bachelor of Laws from the 
University of Western Australia and a Diploma in 
Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities 
Institute of Australia. 

Paul White, BSc BEng MBA 

Paul White joined the Landgate Board in 2009.  He 
brings with him significant expertise in information 
technology, strategic planning, project management 
and the implementation of technology-based 
solutions.  Currently, Paul is the CEO of The Tailor 
Made Spirits Company, which produces and markets 
boutique Australian spirits.  Paul is also on the Board 
of earthmine Australia, which provides services for 
the collection, processing and delivery of 3D street 
level imagery in the Australian and New Zealand 
marketplace.  He graduated from the University 
of Western Australia with a Bachelor of Science 
in Electrical Engineering (Honours) and Computer 
Science.  He also holds a Master of Business 
Administration from the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology, Boston, USA.
 

Mike Bradford, BSurv MMngt Stud    
Chief Executive

Mike Bradford was appointed Chief Executive 
of Landgate in June 2009.  He has led the 
transformation of the business, including founding 
a new commercial sales team and the development 
of a Location Information Strategy for Western 
Australia.  Mike has international experience 
managing land information products and services, 
including topographic map production, satellite 
remote sensing and geographic information systems. 
He is experienced in strategic planning and the 
management of complex information technology 
projects.  He has also been instrumental in several 
cross government initiatives.  Mike is Deputy Chair 
of the Australia New Zealand Land Information 
Council and holds a Bachelor of Surveying Degree 
and a Master in Management Studies (Project 
Management).
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Jodi Cant, BEc GAICD 
General Manager, Business Development  

Jodi Cant joined Landgate in 2004 and was appointed 
the General Manager Business Development in 
October 2009.  Previously, Jodi was the Executive 
Director of both Information Access and Business 
Services. Jodi also developed and implemented the 
Landgate Innovation Program, a first for the State 
Government.  Jodi has worked in both the private 
and not-for-profit sectors with extensive experience 
in strategic planning, organisational transformation, 
marketing and communications.  Jodi is the Chair of 
earthmine Australia and a Board member of PSMA. 
She is a creative thinker and an effective team builder. 
Jodi holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree from 
University of Western Australia, is a Graduate of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a 
Fellow of Leadership WA.

Andrew Fernandez 
General Manager, Sales, Marketing & Customer  
Service 

Andrew Fernandez joined Landgate in August 
2012 as General Manager Sales, Marketing and 
Customer Service.  Andrew brings to Landgate 
a results driven, commercial focus that aligns 
customer satisfaction with financial results.  Drawing 
on a wealth of executive management, customer 
service and sales experience from previous roles 
in the telecommunications, information technology 
and health sectors, Andrew is passionate about 
implementing changes to the way Landgate views 
and engages with its customers, as well as how 
it takes its offerings to market.  Andrew is leading 
his team to deliver greater value to the Authority’s 
customers and raising the public profile of Landgate. 
Andrew has undertaken various executive programs 
from the Australian School of Management, Harvard 
Business School and others.

Authority Overview
Corporate Executive

Left to right: Jodi Cant, Andrew Fernandez, John Wreford, Alison Hodge, Mike Bradford (Chief Executive) and Bruce Roberts.



 45

Authority Overview

Alison Hodge, MA (Merit), BA, Grad Dip Bus Admin
A/General Manager, Strategy & Reform

Alison Hodge joined Landgate in 2013 and brings 
over 20 years of progressive strategic and operational 
experience.  In her corporate career, she has led 
diversified sales, marketing and customer teams for 
large global organisations through to entrepreneurial 
start-ups, and public/private partnerships.  In her 
consulting career she has successfully worked 
with leading organisations in professional services, 
construction, and owner managed businesses. Alison 
has a proven ability in designing and implementing 
actionable strategies focused on driving growth. 
Skilled at implementing change programs, she adopts 
a practical ‘real life’ approach to ensure program 
success.  She has a Master of Arts (with Merit) from 
the University of Sydney where she achieved first 
place for her research dissertation, a Bachelor of Arts 
and a Graduate Diploma in Business Administration.  

Bruce Roberts, BJuris LLB 
General Manager, Operations 

Bruce Roberts joined Landgate in 1993 and prior 
to being appointed General Manager Operations in 
December 2011 he held the positions of Registrations 
Branch Manager and Registrar of Titles.  He has 
also held a number of other roles including Manager 
Legal Services and Deputy Commissioner of Titles. 
Bruce has worked on Landgate’s major legislative 
reforms, such as changes to the Transfer of Land Act 
1893 which enabled WA’s digital land title register, 
and the creation of the Land Administration Act 1997 
which created the single title registration system 
for Private and Crown owned land in WA.  He has 
also worked on international projects establishing 
land title systems in Asia.  He was the inaugural 
Chair of the Australian Registrars National Electronic 
Conveyancing Council of Australia.  Bruce holds a 
Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Jurisprudence.

John Wreford, BEng GradDipBus MCom CPA CISA 
General Manager, Finance, Information & Legal 
Services    

John Wreford joined Landgate as General Manager 
Finance, Information and Legal Services in 2011. 
John’s experiences from the private sector in 
accounting, banking, information technology 
and legal services industries have contributed 
a commercial edge to Landgate’s investment, 
operational and strategic decisions.  This has assisted 
Landgate in increasing profitability and productivity 
in the business as a result of close attention to cost 
management and resource levels.  John holds a 
Bachelor of Engineering, a Graduate Diploma of 
Business (Professional Accounting), a Master in 
Commerce (Electronic Commerce) and is currently 
completing his PhD by research in Information 
Systems.  He is a member of CPA Australia (Public 
Practice), the Australian Computer Society and the 
Information Systems Audit and Control Association.
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http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Business+Operations
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Strategy+and+Reform
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Audit+and+Risk+Management
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Authority Overview
Strategic Framework    

Social and Environmental Responsibility: 
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit to the State

Government Goal: 

Landgate Goals:

Be Self Sustaining and Profitable

The State’s administrative, commercial 
and social systems are supported by a 
land information base and certainty of 
ownership and other interests in land

Land Information
Information about land ownership, land
boundaries and geographic features is 

collected, recorded and made available for use 
by government, business and the community

Access to Government  
Location Information

Effective access to land and location information 
can be demonstrated by improved data capture, 

access and usability of location information

Valuations
An impartial valuation and 

property consultancy service

Secure property rights and land titles 
register underpins property market

Shared Location Information Platform 
(SLIP)

Location Information Strategy
(LIS)

Deliver fair, impartial valuations for State 
and Local Government and utilities that 
underpin the rating and taxing system

Detail extent of interest and restrictions 
affecting use and enjoyment of private 

and crown land

Co-ordinated and expanded State Land 
Information Capture Program (SLICP)

Manage and value property assets on 
behalf of State and Local Government

Provision and integration of location 
information (maps, surveys, aerial and 

satellite imagery and property sales 
information) to support decision making

Increase government agencies’ 
collaboration in location information to 

achieve greater efficiencies and improve 
decision making

Independent valuations support 
government’s collection of rates and 
taxes and management of property 

assets

Co-ordinated capture and access to the 
State’s location information

Create Value for our Customers

Landgate Outcomes

Landgate Services

Lead the Transformation of Location 
Information Strategy to benefit the Community
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Authority Overview
Strategic Framework

Outcome Based Management Framework 

Landgate directly contributes to the State 
Government’s goal of ensuring economic activity 
is managed in a socially and environmentally 
responsible manner for the long term benefit of the 
State by:

 · Underpinning the effective and efficient 
operation of land and property markets

 · Supporting the State’s rating and taxing base

 · Providing access to government location based 
information to support sound decision making 
by government, industry and the community. 

These contributions and their relationships to State 
Government goals and Authority outcomes are 
outlined on the previous page.  Further detail on 
Landgate’s contributions to the State Government’s 
goals and planned outcomes are outlined in the 
Authority Performance and the Disclosures and 
Legal Compliance sections of this Annual Report.  

Shared Responsibilities  

Landgate is leading the implementation of the 
Location Information Strategy (LIS) in collaboration 
with the Western Australian Land Information 
System (WALIS) community.  WALIS is a dynamic 
partnership of government agencies, businesses 
and educational institutions, working together 
to manage and promote the State’s geographic 
information. 

State Cabinet approved the LIS in August 2011 and 
confirmed Landgate’s lead role in consolidating and 
managing the State’s location information asset on 
behalf of government.  The collaboration between 
Landgate and WALIS to implement the LIS will:

 · Support the economic growth of the State by 
improving the access, use and integration of 
location information.

 · Provide location information to support sound 
planning and decision making for government, 
industry and the community. 

 · Minimise the duplication of resources by 
collecting location data once and using it many 
times. 

 · Reduce infrastructure cost and maintenance for 
location information, resulting in more efficient 
utilisation of funding across government. 

 · Develop the location information industry 
through partnerships between industry and 
government, rather than direct competition to 
provide new planning and decision-making 
support services, Geographic Information 
System (GIS) capabilities, data collection and 
maintenance services and industry development 
opportunities. 

Although Landgate is not directly responsible for the 
delivery of other agencies’ desired outcomes and 
services, Landgate works collaboratively with other 
agencies to deliver cross government outcomes and 
provide benefits to government, industry and the 
community. 
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Auditor General 

Page 1 of 3 
 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

 

   
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND INFORMATION AUTHORITY 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Western Australian Land Information Authority at 
30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Independent Audit Opinions
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are those policies and 
procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority for the year ended 30 June 2014.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
  

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Independent Audit Opinions
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Independent Audit Opinions
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance 
and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority for the year ended 30 June 2014 included on 
the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may 
have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If 
users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information 
contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
5 September 2014 
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Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
5 September 2014   

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Certification of the Financial Statements

Murray Smith

Chief Finance Officer
Western Australian Land Information Authority
5 September 2014 

The accompanying financial statements 
of the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the  
Financial Management Act 2006 from 
proper accounts and records to present 
fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014 and 
the financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware 
of any circumstances which would render 
the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
5 September 2014    
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note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

INCOME

Revenue 

Provision of services 7 130,760 117,536

Sale of land information, data and imagery 8 7,577 7,567

Commonwealth grants and contributions 9 21 669

Interest revenue 10 2,194 2,212

Other revenue 11 2,456 1,800

Gains

Other gains 12(b) 103 0

TOTAL INCOME 143,111 129,784

EXPENSES

Employee benefits expense 13 75,288 73,576

Supplies and services 14 31,894 27,855

Other expenses 15 8,574 8,446

Depreciation and amortisation expense 16 9,214 8,892

Finance costs 17 2,324 2,550

Accommodation expenses 18 4,526 7,101

Impairment loss 31 160 1,121

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 12(a) 148 6

TOTAL EXPENSES 132,128 129,547

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State Government 10,983 237

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 19 28,486 36,850

Royalties for regions fund 20 534 353

Services received free of charge 21 611 577

TOTAL GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 29,631 37,780

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 40,614 38,017

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 37 (12,632) (11,643)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 27,982 26,374

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2014
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note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 36 451 230

Income tax on items that will not be reclassified 36 0 0

451 230

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets 36 0 9,585

Income tax on items that will be reclassified 36 0 (2,875)

0 6,710

Total other comprehensive income for the period 451 6,940

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 28,433 33,314

See also note 52 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2014
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note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22 71,949 65,561

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 1,185 341

Inventories - maps 19 29

Receivables 24 26,132 18,274

Amounts receivable for services 26 4,386 5,987

Prepayments 27 2,106 2,270

Accrued interest 28 907 505

Total Current Assets 106,684 92,967

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 2,525 2,083

Amounts receivable for services 26 22,212 22,324

Receivables 24 1,308 0

Other financial assets 25 32,237 32,135

Furniture, plant and equipment 29(a) 4,914 4,868

Leasehold improvements 29(b) 6,591 6,840

Intangibles 29(c) 23,568 19,284

Buildings 29(d) 40,716 42,108

Land 29(e) 12,202 11,746

Deferred tax assets 37 3,747 3,637

Total Non-Current Assets 150,020 145,025

TOTAL ASSETS 256,704 237,992

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014
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note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 32 5,442 8,547

Current tax liabilities 5,667 10,609

Finance lease 33 2,902 2,736

Provisions 34 15,558 15,774

Other current liabilities 35 5,153 4,129

Total Current Liabilities 34,722 41,795

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease 33 23,503 25,578

Provisions 34 3,326 3,791

Total Non-Current Liabilities 26,829 29,369

TOTAL LIABILITIES 61,551 71,164

NET ASSETS 195,153 166,828

EQUITY 36

Contributed equity 88,467 84,619

Reserves 28,287 27,836

Retained earnings 78,399 54,373

TOTAL EQUITY 195,153 166,828

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2014

note

Contributed 
Equity  

($000)
Reserves

($000)

Retained 
Earnings

($000)
Total Equity

($000)

Balance at 1 July 2012 36 81,420 20,896 27,999 130,315

Profit / (loss) 0 0 26,374 26,374

Other comprehensive income 0 6,940 0 6,940

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 6,940 26,374 33,314

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 2,374 0 0 2,374

   Other contributions by owners 828 0 0 828

   Distributions to owners (3) 0 0 (3)

Total 3,199 0 0 3,199

Balance at 30 June 2013 84,619 27,836 54,373 166,828

Balance at 1 July 2013 36 84,619 27,836 54,373 166,828

Profit / (loss) 0 0 27,982 27,982

Other comprehensive income 0 451 0 451

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 451 27,982 28,433

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 2,339 0 0 2,339

   Other contributions by owners 1,544 0 0 1,544

   Distributions to owners (35) 0 (3,956) (3,991)

Total 3,848 0 (3,956) (108)

Balance at 30 June 2014 88,467 28,287 78,399 195,153

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2014

note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Provision of services 123,063 113,908

Sale of land information, data and imagery 7,679 6,864

Commonwealth contributions 21 669

Interest received 1,792 2,130

GST receipts on sales 1,633 1,352

GST receipts from taxation authority 3,830 3,645

Other receipts 2,272 2,405

Payments

Employee benefits (75,677) (72,368)

Supplies and services (30,799) (24,972)

Other expenses (11,324) (10,865)

Accommodation (4,881) (3,834)

Finance Costs (2,429) (5,720)

GST payments on purchases (5,462) (4,910)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 38(b) 9,718 8,304

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 12 1

Proceeds from refund of investments 1 0

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (12,322) (8,052)

Purchase of investments 0 (15,044)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (12,309) (23,095)
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2014

note
2014

($’000)
2013

($’000)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Finance lease payments (2,671) (2,459)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (2,671) (2,459)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriations 24,212 33,247

Royalties for regions funds 2,038 1,180

Holding account drawdowns 5,987 5,233

Capital appropriations 2,339 2,374

Taxation equivalents - payments (17,684) (6,986)

Dividends paid (3,956) 0

Net cash provided by State Government 12,936 35,048

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,674 17,798

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 67,985 50,187

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 38(a) 75,659 67,985

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Authority’s financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers 
to Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.

Although the Authority is required to operate on 
prudent commercial principles, Treasurer’s Instruction 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements designates the Authority 
as a not-for-profit entity for purposes of compliance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards.

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
Treasurers Instruction 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. 
There has been no early adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the Authority for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB 
as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions 
that govern the preparation of financial statements 
and take precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land, buildings and shares 
held in PEXA Ltd which have been measured at fair 
value. 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied  throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000). 
 
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying the 
Authority’s accounting policies resulting in the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 
 
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that 
have a significant risk of causing a material  
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority. 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government 
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made 
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have 
been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable. 
 
Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows: 

Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to 
the client or by reference to the stage of completion 
of the transaction.  Where the rendering of services 
can not be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected 
to be recoverable. 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and 
disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and 
can be measured reliably. 
 
Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 
 

Service appropriations 
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues 
at fair value in the period in which the Authority gains 
control of the appropriated funds.  The Authority 
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited 
to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding 
account) held at Treasury. See Note 19 for further 
commentary on service appropriations. 
 
Grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when  
the Authority obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash  
is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value.  Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated. 
 
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as 
revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Authority obtains control over the funds.  The 
Authority obtains control of the funds at the time the 
funds are deposited into the Authority’s bank account. 
Where contributions recognised as revenues during 
the reporting period were obtained on the condition 
that they be expended in a particular manner or used 
over a particular period, and those conditions were 
undischarged as at the end of the reporting period, 
the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those 
undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes. 
See Note 20 ‘Royalties for regions.’ 
 
Gains/losses 
Realised and unrealised gains/losses are usually 
recognised on a net basis.  These include gains/
losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets 
and some revaluations of non current assets. 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(f) Income tax 

The Authority operates within the national tax 
equivalent regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent 
amount in respect of income tax is payable to the 
Treasury.  The calculation of the liability in respect 
of income tax is governed by NTER guidelines and 
directions approved by Government.

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, 
the Authority is required to comply with AASB 112 
Income Taxes.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period 
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, 
and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
for temporary differences at the tax rate expected 
to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities 
settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted 
or substantively enacted.  The relevant tax rates are 
applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and 
taxable temporary differences to measure the 
deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made 
for certain temporary differences arising from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability.  No deferred 
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these 
temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, 
other than a business combination, that at the time of 
the transaction did not affect either accounting profit 
or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only 
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses.

Current and deferred income tax equivalents are 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets and liabilities, and when the 
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

(g) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, 
land and building 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements and building costing over $1,000 are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets 
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items 
costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of 
acquisition direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total or where the 
asset is capitalised).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements, land and building are initially 
recognised at cost.

For items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements, land and building acquired at no cost 
or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement 
of land and building and the historical cost model 
for furniture, equipment, plant and leasehold 
improvements. Land is carried at fair value less 
accumulated impairment losses.  The building is 
carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
and less accumulated impairment losses. Furniture, 
equipment, plant and leasehold improvements 
are carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.
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(g) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, 
land and building - cont. 

The fair value of land is determined on the basis of 
current market buying values determined by reference 
to the recent market transactions, where market 
based evidence is available. This is typically the case 
for land within the Perth metropolitan area.  Land 
outside the Perth metropolitan area is valued on the 
basis of existing use, where market based evidence 
is not available.  The fair value of the building is 
determined on the basis of market buying values by 
reference to recent market transactions.  When the 
building is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount restated to the revalued 
amount.

Valuations for land and building are provided annually 
by the Valuer General and will be assessed by the 
Authority at 30 June each year. Where the valuation 
differs materially from the assets’ carrying value the 
valuation will be brought to account.  

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of land and 
building, any revaluation surplus relating to that item 
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets as described in Note 29 
‘Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, 
intangibles, land and building’.

Depreciation/amortisation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful 
lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of 
their future economic benefits.

Depreciation/amortisation of other assets is 
calculated on the straight line basis, using rates which 
are reviewed annually. 

Estimated useful lives for each class of asset are: 

Furniture 11 years

Equipment 5-15 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Plant 15-20 years

Leasehold Improvements 8-15 years

Building 50 years

Leasehold Improvements under development 
are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Leasehold 
Improvements’.

Land is not depreciated.

(h) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquired and internally generated intangible assets 
costing over $5,000 are capitalised.  The cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their 
useful lives.  Costs incurred below these thresholds 
are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For 
assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed 
annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible 
assets controlled by the Authority have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible 
asset are:

Service delivery software and 
related project costs 1-12 years
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(h) Intangible assets - cont. 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets - cont.
The value of intangible assets include:

 - major computer software packages acquired plus 
costs associated with preparing the software for 
its intended use; and

 - major internally developed software plus the 
associated development costs.

Intangible assets under development are classified as 
‘Works in Progress - Service Delivery’.

Research and Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. 
Development costs incurred for an individual project 
are carried forward when the future economic benefits 
can reasonably be regarded as assured. Other 
development costs are expensed as incurred.

(i) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and 
intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at 
cost is written down to recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  
Where a previously revalued asset is written down 
to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as 
a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive 
income.  As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, 
unless an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost 
is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits 
and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.

See Note 31 ‘Impairment loss’ for the outcome of 
impairment reviews and testing.

See Note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and Note 24 
‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

(j) Leases 

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially 
recognised, at the commencement of the lease 
term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the 
fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, determined 
at the inception of the lease.  The assets are 
disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under 
lease, and are depreciated over the period during 
which the Authority is expected to benefit from their 
use.  Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding lease liability, according to the interest 
rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the 
Authority has four categories of financial instruments:

 - Loans and receivables; 

 - Held-to-maturity investments (term deposits); 

 - Other financial assets; and

 - Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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(k) Financial instruments - cont.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into 
the following classes: 

Financial Assets

 - Cash and cash equivalents

 - Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 - Receivables

 - Amounts receivable for services

 - Other financial assets

Financial Liabilities

 - Payables

 - Finance lease liabilities

 - Other current liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value.  Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables 
is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.

See Note 2(p) ‘Investments and other financial assets’ 
and Note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, 
cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and 
short-term deposits with original maturities of six 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

(m) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see Note 32 ‘Payables’) represent 
the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within 
a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Authority 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to 
be equivalent to its fair value.

(n) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.  Costs are assigned by the 
method most appropriate for each particular class of 
inventory, with the majority being valued at weighted 
average cost.

(o) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. impairment).  The collectability of receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Authority will not be 
able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days.

See Note 2(k) ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 24 
‘Receivables’.

(p) Investments and other financial assets

Investments classified as held-for-trading and 
available-for-sale are initially measured at cost. 
Subsequent to initial recognition these investments 
are measured at fair value less impairment.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments are acquired.  Management determines 
the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and evaluates this designation at the end 
of each reporting period.
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(p) Investments and other financial assets - cont. 

Fair values of quoted investments are based on 
current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset 
is not active (e.g. unlisted securities), the Authority 
establishes fair value using valuation techniques. 
These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing models.

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a 
quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured 
at cost.

Gains or losses on investments held-for-trading 
are recognised in profit or loss.  Gains or losses on 
available-for-sale investments are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, 
until the investment is derecognised.  At that time, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The Authority assesses at each balance date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.

(q) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the Authority becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(r) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period (see 
Note 34 ‘Provisions’).

Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term 
employee benefits’.  The annual leave liability is 
recognised and measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels including non-salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a 
current liability as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid recognised when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels including non-salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.
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(r) Provisions - cont.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Authority does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as non-current 
liabilities because the Authority has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of 
service. 

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public 
Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave 
in the fifth year of the agreement.  The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for employees 
to be used in the fifth year.  This liability is measured 
on the same basis as annual leave.  Deferred leave 
is reported as a current provision as employees can 
leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public 
Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks 
leave per calendar year.  The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees and is 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESB) and other fund providers administer public 
sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employees vary according 
to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed 
to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme closed to new members  
since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 
2007 who were not members of either the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or 
after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB 
Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new 
employees have been able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund provider.  The Authority makes 
contributions to GESB or other fund providers 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions 
to these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of employees who are not members of the 
Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes 
of employees and whole-of-government reporting. 
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the Authority to the 
GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability.

The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer 
benefits attributable to members who transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. 
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Authority to the GESB. 
The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined 
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish 
all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS 
obligations.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of 
the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from 
the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See also Note 2(s) ‘Superannuation expense’.
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(r) Provisions - cont. 

Provisions – other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. 
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-
costs provision’.

See Note 15 ‘Other Expenses’ and Note 34 
‘Provisions’.

(s) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income comprises of employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other 
superannuation funds. The employer contribution 
paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back 
into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(t) Interest in jointly controlled entities 

Interests in Jointly Controlled entities are accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting, as 
required by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements.  Under the equity method, the 
investment is initially recognised at cost and the 
carrying amount is increased or decreased to 
recognise the Authority’s share of the profit or 
loss of the jointly controlled entity after the date of 
acquisition.  The share of the profit or loss of the 
jointly controlled entity is recognised in the Authority’s 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Distributions 
received from the jointly controlled entity reduce the 
carrying amount of the investment.

See Note 25 ‘Other financial assets’.

(u) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 

The Authority receives appropriation funding on an 
accrual basis.  The appropriations are paid partly 
in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account 
receivable). The accrued amount receivable is 
accessible on the emergence of the cash 
funding requirement to cover asset replacement.

See also Note 19 ‘Service appropriation’ and Note 26 
‘Amounts receivable for services’.

(v) Dividends

Dividends are provided for in the reporting period 
in which the dividends recommended by the Board 
are accepted by the Minister for Lands, with the 
concurrence of the Treasurer of Western Australia.

(w) Assets and services received free of charge or for 
nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for 
nominal cost are recognised as income at the fair 
value of the assets and/or the fair value of those 
services that can be reliably measured and the 
Authority would otherwise pay for.  A corresponding 
expense is recognised for services received.  
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement  
of Financial Position.

(x) Foreign currency translation

The Authority accounts for foreign currency 
transactions in accordance with AASB 121 The 
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate.  The 
Authority’s functional currency is Australian Dollars 
(Australia is the primary economic environment 
in which the Authority operates).

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
initially translated to the functional currency using the 
exchange rates at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the year end exchange 
rates. All exchange rate differences are included in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(y) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.
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3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.  The Authority evaluates 
these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments

The Authority has entered into a number of leases for 
buildings for branch office accommodation.  Some of 
these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature 
and it has been determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership.  Accordingly, these leases have been 
classified as operating leases.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that have a significant risk of causing a  
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in 
calculating the Authority’s long service leave provision 
include expected future salary rates, discount 
rates, employee retention rates and expected future 
payments.  Changes in these estimations and 
assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of 
the long service leave provision.

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Authority has applied the following Australian 
Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that 
impacted on the Authority.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair 
value, sets out a framework 
for measuring fair value
and requires additional 
disclosures for assets and 
liabilities measured at fair
value. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes 
AASB 119 (October 2010), 
making changes to the
recognition, presentation and 
disclosure requirements.

The Authority assessed 
employee leave patterns to 
determine whether annual
leave is a short-term or other 
long-term employee benefit. 
The resultant
discounting of annual leave 
liabilities that were previously 
measured at the
undiscounted amounts is not 
material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards

This Standard supersedes 
AASB 1048 (June 2012), 
enabling references to the
Interpretations in all other 
Standards to be updated by 
reissuing the service
Standard. There is no 
financial impact.
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estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting  
Standard - cont.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 13

[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 
2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 
108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 
120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 
134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 &1038 and Int 2, 
4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131  
& 132]

This Standard replaces the 
existing definition and fair 
value guidance in other
Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations 
as the result of issuing AASB 
13 in September 2011. There 
is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 119

(September 2011)[AASB 1, 8, 
101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 
and Int 14]

This Standard makes 
amendments to other 
Australian Accounting 
Standards
and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. The
resultant discounting of 
annual leave liabilities that 
were previously measured at
the undiscounted amounts is 
not material.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Disclosures – Offsetting

Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]

This Standard amends the 
required disclosures in AASB 
7 to include information
that will enable users of an 
entity’s financial statements 
to evaluate the effect or
potential effect of netting 
arrangements, including 
rights of set-off associated 
with the entity’s recognised 
financial assets and 
recognised financial liabilities, 
on the entity’s financial 
position. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from Annual

Improvements 2009-11 Cycle 
[AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 
and Int 2]

This Standard makes 
amendments to the 
Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations 
as a consequence of the 
annual improvements 
process. There is no financial 
impact.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting  
Standard - cont.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Mandatory Effective Date 
of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-
11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]

This Standard amends the 
mandatory effective date of 
AASB 9 Financial
Instruments to 1 January 
2015 (instead of 1 January 
2013). Further amendments 
are also made to numerous 
consequential amendments 
arising from AASB 9 that will 
now apply from 1 January 
2015. There is no financial
impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 
arising from the Withdrawal of 
Australian Int 1039

The withdrawal of Int 1039 
Substantive Enactment of 
Major Tax Bills in Australia
has no financial impact for 
the Authority during the 
reporting period and at
balance date. Measurement 
of tax assets and liabilities 
continues to be measured in 
accordance with enacted or 
substantively enacted tax law 
pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments [AASB 1, 
5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118,
119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 
137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 
& 2011-7 and Int 12]

The Standard introduces a 
number of editorial alterations 
and amends the mandatory 
application date of Standards 
for not for profit entities 
accounting for interests in 
other entities. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.

Part A of this omnibus 
Standard makes 
amendments to other 
Standards arising from 
revisions to the Australian 
Accounting Conceptual 
Framework for periods 
ending on or after 20 
December 2013. Other Parts 
of this Standard become
operative in later periods. 
There is no financial impact 
for Part A of the Standard.
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estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  
Consequently, the Authority has not applied early 
any of the following Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued that may impact the Authority. 
Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply 
these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date.

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifies 
the circumstances under 
which a liability to pay a 
government levy imposed 
should be recognised. 
There is no financial 
impact for the Authority at 
reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes 
AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, 
introducing a number of 
changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application 
date of this Standard was
amended to 1 January 
2018. The Authority has 
not yet determined the 
application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements

This Standard, issued in 
August 2011, supersedes
AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial
Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities, 
introducing a number of 
changes to accounting
treatments.

Mandatory application 
of this Standard was 
deferred for not-for-profit 
entities by AASB 2012-10 
Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance
and Other Amendments. 
The adoption of the new
Standard has no financial 
impact for the Authority as 
it doesn’t impact 
accounting for related 
bodies and the Authority 
has no interests in other 
entities.

1 Jan 2014
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in 
August 2011, supersedes
AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures, introduces new
principles for determining 
the type of joint 
arrangement that exists, 
which are more aligned 
to the actual rights and 
obligations of the parties to 
the arrangement.

Mandatory application of 
this Standard was deferred 
for not-for-profit entities by 
AASB 2012-10. There is no
financial impact for the  
Authority as the new 
standard continues to 
require the recognition 
of the Authority’s share 
of assets and share 
of liabilities for the 
unincorporated joint 
operation.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

This Standard, issued in 
August 2011, supersedes
disclosure requirements in 
AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 128 
Investments in Associates 
and AASB 131 Interests in 
Joint Ventures. Mandatory 
application was deferred 
for not-for-profit entities by 
AASB 2012-10. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts

The Authority has not yet 
determined the application 
or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements

This Standard, issued in 
August 2011, supersedes
AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial 
Statements, removing 
the consolidation 
requirements of the earlier 
standard whilst retaining 
accounting and disclosure 
requirements for the 
preparation of separate 
financial statements. 
Mandatory application was 
deferred by one year for 
not-for-profit entities by 
AASB 2012-10. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures

This Standard, issued in 
August 2011 supersedes
AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a
number of clarifications for 
the accounting treatments 
of changed ownership 
interest.

Mandatory application was 
deferred for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. 
The adoption of the new
Standard has no financial 
impact for the  Statutory
Authority as it does 
not hold investments 
in associates and the 
accounting treatments 
for joint operations is 
consistent with current 
practice.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 
1031

Materiality

This Standard supersedes 
AASB 1031 (February 
2010), removing Australian 
guidance on materiality 
that is not available in 
IFRSs and refers to other 
Australian pronouncements 
that contain guidance on 
materiality. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
1055

Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires 
specific budgetary 
disclosures in the financial 
statements of not for profit 
entities within the General 
Government Sector. The 
Authority will be required
to disclose additional 
budgetary information and
explanations of major 
variances between actual 
and budgeted amounts, 
though there is no financial 
impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 
2009-11

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 10 & 12]

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 
2010-7

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes 
consequential mendments 
to other Australian 
Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 9 
in December 2010. The 
Authority has not yet 
determined the application 
or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2015
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2011-7

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 
107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 
132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 
16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect 
to consequential changes
arising from the issue of 
AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 
127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures. 
Mandatory application
was deferred for not-for-
profit entities by AASB 
2012-10. The Statutory 
Authority has analysed 
the suite of Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements 
Standards and determined 
that no financial impact 
arises from adopting
the various Standards.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2012-3

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities
[AASB 132]

This Standard adds 
application guidance to 
AASB 132 to address 
inconsistencies identified 
in applying some of the
offsetting criteria, including 
clarifying the meaning of
“currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-
off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be 
considered equivalent to 
net settlement.

The Authority does not 
routinely hold financial
assets and financial 
liabilities that it intends 
to settle on a net basis, 
therefore there is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 
2013-3

Amendments to AASB 
136 – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets

This Standard introduces 
editorial and disclosure 
changes. There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2013-4

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the 
continuation of hedge
accounting in 
circumstances where a 
derivative, which has
been designated as a 
hedging instrument, 
is novated from one 
counterparty to a central 
counterparty as a 
consequence of laws or 
regulations. The Authority
does not routinely enter 
into derivatives or hedges,
therefore there is no 
financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2013-8

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - 
Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-Profit
Entities – Control and 
Structured Entities [AASB 
10, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued 
in October 2013, provide
significant guidance in 
determining whether 
a not-for-profit entity 
controls another entity 
when financial returns are 
not a key attribute of the 
investor’s relationship. The 
Standard has no financial 
impact in its own right, 
rather the impact results 
from the adoption of the 
amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 
2013-9

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - 
Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial
Instruments

This omnibus Standard 
makes amendments to 
other Standards arising 
from the deletion of 
references to AASB 1031 
in other Standards for 
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 
(Part B), and, defers the 
application of AASB 9 to 
1 January 2017 (Part C). 
The Authority has not yet 
determined the application 
or the potential impact of
AASB 9, otherwise there 
is no financial impact for 
Part B.

1 Jan 2014
1 Jan 2017
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and 
estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not  
yet operative

Operative for 
reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2014-1

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards

The Authority has not yet 
determined the application 
or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jul 2014
1 Jan 2015
1 Jan 2016
1 Jan 2018

(c) Changes in accounting estimates 

There were no changes in accounting estimates that 
will have an effect in the current period or is expected 
to have an effect in future periods.

6. Services of the authority

Information about the Authority’s services and the 
expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable 
to those services are set out in Note 52 ‘Schedule of 
Income and Expenses by Service’.

The three services of the Authority and their objectives 
as at 30 June 2014 were:

Service 1: Land Information
Information about land ownership, land boundaries 
and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by government, business and 
the community.

Service 2: Valuations
An impartial valuation and property consultancy 
service.

Service 3: Access to Government Location Information
Effective access to land and location information can 
be demonstrated by improved data capture, access 
and usability of location information.
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7. Provision of Services 

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Land titles management fees

  Search 39,127 37,399

  Transfer 23,453 22,465

  Mortgage 16,422 15,439

  Discharge 15,689 14,767

  Other (plan lodgements, caveats, applications etc.) 12,808 11,818

107,499 101,888

Valuation service fees 21,381 14,079

Electronic advice of sale fee 1,535 1,426

Interest enquiry 345 143

130,760 117,536

8. Sale of land information, data and imagery

Land information and services 2,614 2,600

Property information and services 2,604 2,709

Imagery 1,723 1,623

Consultancy services 636 635

7,577 7,567

9. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Grants

  National Bushfire Warning System  (a) 21 420

  Continuously Operating Reference Stations  (b) 0 249

21 669
  
In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, the Authority 
recognises contributions as income, when it obtains control 
over the income (usually when received), notwithstanding that 
there may be restrictions or conditions imposed on the use of 
contributions.  
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9. Commonwealth grants and contributions - cont.

a. National Bushfire Prediction, Detection, Simulation and Early 
Warning System  
 
The purpose of the project is for the Authority to develop 
a national system that will predict, detect and manage 
bushfires and provide this information to the National 
Telephone Early Warning System. 
 
Refer to Note 2(e) ‘Income’.  

b. Continuously Operating Reference Stations (CORS) 
 
This contribution is for the construction of a permanent 
Global Navigation Satellite System, commonly known as 
Continuously Operating Reference Stations (CORS) in WA.  
  
Data from the CORS is used to support research into 
continental deformation; seismic monitoring; sea level 
variation; surface movement due to ground water changes; 
water vapour and atmospheric modelling for improved 
weather forecasting.  
 
Refer to Note 2(e) ‘Income’. 

10. Interest Revenue

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Interest on funds invested by the Department of Treasury 1,377 2,212

Interest on funds invested in Term Deposits 804 0

Interest on funds held on deposit with the Western Australian  

Treasury Corporation 13 0

2,194 2,212
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11. Other revenue

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Project revenue 1,250 1,056

Recovery of costs 766 554

WALIS forum 343 0

Government Vehicle Scheme 58 56

Sale of maps 31 66

Other services 8 68

2,456 1,800

12. (a) Net (gains)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 

Furniture, office and computer equipment

Cost 4,026 1,577

Accumulated depreciation (3,866) (1,570)

Carrying amount of non-current assets 160 7

Less: Proceeds from sale 12 1

Net (gains)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 148 6

(b) Other gains

Gain on equity accounted investment - earthmine Australia Pty Ltd 103 0

Total other gains 103 0

Refer to Note 25(a) ‘Other financial assets’
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13. Employee benefits expense 

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Salaries and wages (a) 60,361 58,184

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 7,231 6,681

Annual leave (b) 5,214 5,947

Long service leave (b) 2,482 2,764

75,288 73,576

a. This includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee. 

b. This includes a superannuation contribution component.  
 
Employment on-costs such as workers compensation 
insurance and payroll tax are included at Note 15 ‘Other 
expenses’.  The employment on-costs liability is included at 

Note 34 ‘Provisions’.

14. Supplies and services

Services and contracts - IT 19,516 16,648

Services and contracts - others 8,421 7,834

Agents commission 1,911 1,683

Communications 641 575

Consultancy including legal costs 634 413

Travel 525 432

Consumables 246 270

31,894 27,855
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15. Other expenses

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Employee on-costs (a) 4,044 4,014

Staff recruitment 798 280

Other staffing costs 693 1,003

Grants and subsidies 468 341

Minor purchases 302 460

Hire charges - furniture 268 141

Insurance 236 492

Fringe benefits tax 224 144

Board and committee fees 198 141

Advertising 195 290

External customer costs 178 175

Books, magazines, acts and subscriptions 162 198

Bank charges 130 121

Printing costs 124 84

Membership fees 90 73

Postage 84 98

Hospitality 16 16

Cost of sales - maps 10 16

Share of loss accounted for using the equity method (b) 0 23

Other expenses 354 336

8,574 8,446

a. Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance.

b. Refer to Note 25(a) ‘Other financial assets’.
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16. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Depreciation

   Building 1,392 1,392

   Computer equipment 1,017 927

   Equipment 188 254

   Plant 68 134

   Furniture 8 8

2,673 2,715

Amortisation

   Service delivery software and related project costs 5,440 4,994

   Leasehold improvements 1,101 1,183

6,541 6,177

Total depreciation and amortisation 9,214 8,892

17. Finance costs

Finance lease charges

   Buildings 2,228 2,444

   Land 96 106

2,324 2,550

18. Accommodation expenses

Repairs and maintenance 1,462 1,568

Utilities and statutory charges 1,243 1,279

Contingent rent - land and buildings 729 3,144

Lease rentals 555 556

Minor works and alterations 319 313

Other accommodation expenses 218 241

4,526 7,101
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19. Service appropriation

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Appropriation revenue received during the reporting period 28,486 36,850

Service appropriations are accrual amounts, reflecting  
the full cost of services delivered.  The appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The 
receivable (holding account) comprises an allocation based on 
the depreciation expense for the reporting period.

20. Royalties for regions fund

Revenue received during the period:

Royalties for regions funds -  

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund (a) (i) 360 180

Royalties for regions funds -  

Regional Community Services Fund (a) (ii) 174 173

534 353

a. These funds are committed to projects and  
programs in WA regional areas. The Authority currently has 
two projects:  

i. Pilbara Cities Economic Diversification  
Framework - Enhanced Valuation; and 

ii. WA Location Information Strategy

21. Services received free of charge

Services received free of charge have been determined on the basis of 
the following estimates provided by agencies:

Department of Finance 366 348

Department of the Attorney General 245 229

611 577

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or 
for nominal consideration, the Authority recognises revenues 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of 
those services that can be reliably determined and which would 
have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall 
be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
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22. Cash and cash equivalents

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Term deposits 65,000 0

Operating bank account 6,929 65,540

Cash on hand 20 21

71,949 65,561

23. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

Foreign exchange held on deposit with the Western Australian  

Treasury Corporation (a) 1,000 0

Royalties for regions fund (b) 165 318

Security deposits (c) 19 22

Paid parental leave (d) 1 1

1,185 341

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense (e) 2,525 2,083

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,710 2,424

a. The Authority has engaged the Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation in accordance with Landgate authorisations and 
the relevant Treasurer’s Instruction 826 to facilitate a Foreign 
Exchange to be settled in October 2014. 

b. Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in 
WA regional areas (Refer Note 20 ‘Royalties for regions fund’). 

c. Security deposits received from Value Added Resellers and 
tenant’s as rental bond. 

d. Funds received from the Commonwealth Government for the 
Paid Parental Leave Scheme unpaid at year end. 

e. Amount held in the suspense account is only used for the 
purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that 
occurs every 11 years. 
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24. Receivables

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Current

Trade debtors (a) 22,769 9,402

Accrued revenue 2,435 7,963

Goods and services tax 974 975

26,178 18,340

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables (b) 46 66

26,132 18,274

Non-current

Accrued revenue 1,308 0

1,308 0

a. The 2013-14 Trade debtors includes the Gross Rental  
Value General Metropolitan Triennial Program. As this is the  third 
and final year of the program and it attracts the highest level of 
revenue.

b. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables:

Balance at the start of year 66 48

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income (13) 58

Amounts written off during the year (7) (40)

Balance at end of year 46 66

Refer to Note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and Note 42 ‘Financial 
instruments’.
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25. Other financial assets

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Non-current

Investment - Property Exchange Australia Ltd (PEXA) (i) 32,038 32,039

Investment in Jointly Controlled Entity - earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (ii)(a) 199 96

32,237 32,135

i. Investment - Property Exchange Australia Limited (PEXA). 
 
Effective 3 March 2014, National e-Conveyancing 
Development Limited (NECDL) changed it’s name to Property 
Exchange Australia Ltd (PEXA). 
 
PEXA is an unlisted public company limited by shares, 
incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The object of the company is to create and operate a system 
to provide an efficient, competitive system to settle real 
property transactions, lodge instruments with Land Registries 
and pay associated duty and tax obligations electronically. 
 
The Authority has a 15.9% ownership interest in PEXA, this is 
represented by owning 11,442,009 fully paid ordinary shares 
at a cost of $22.45m. 
 
In 2012-13 the Authority revalued it’s shares in PEXA to 
fair value, resulting in the recognition of a $9.59m (pre tax) 
unrealised gain on the investment. 
 
In 2013-14 no additional shares were purchased by the 
Authority. 
 
Refer to Note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments’. 
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25. Other financial assets - cont.

ii. Joint ventures 

a. earthmine Australia Pty Ltd  
In 2011-12, the Authority together with Geomatic 
Technologies (GT) and earthmine Incorporated (EI), 
formed a company called earthmine Australia Pty Ltd (eA), 
incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
eA commenced trading on 1 February 2012. 
 
The objective of eA is to provide Hi-Resolution 3D Street 
Level Imagery within Australia and New Zealand.  
 
The Authority has a 45% ownership interest in  
eA, represented by owning 180,000 fully paid  
$1 ordinary shares.  
 
GT and EI have ownership interests of 45% and 10% 
respectively.  
 
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements, the Authority is required to account for 
interests in Jointly Controlled Entities using the equity 
method of accounting.  
 
The following is the Authority’s share of eA’s (unaudited) 
income and expenses, and assets and liabilities 
recognised in the financial statements:  

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Income 502 271

Expenses (390) (294)

Net profit/(loss) before income tax 112 (23)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (9) 0

Net equity accounting profit/(loss) after income tax 103 (23)
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25. Other financial assets - cont.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Current assets 177 116

Non-current assets 59 0

Total assets 236 116

Current liabilities (37) (20)

Non-current liabilities 0 0

Total liabilities (37) (20)

Net assets 199 96

The Authority does not have any contingent liabilities or 
commitments in respect to the eA investment.

b. Western Australian Satellite Technology and Applications 
Consortium – X Band Facility (X Band).    
The Authority has an interest in a Joint Venture, X Band, 
which is a consortium of universities and public sector 
organisations; the Facility maintains satellite reception facilities 
at Murdoch University.  The Facility’s use includes: acquiring 
and processing data for weather forecasting, monitoring 
environmental conditions and technical research.  The Authority 
is required to make annual contributions of $20,000 for the 
operation and maintenance of the Facility. The Facility is 
managed by a Board in accordance with the Joint Venture 
Agreement that established X Band.  The Authority does not 
account for X Band in accordance with AASB 131 Interests 
in Joint Ventures, because this interest is not material.  The 
Authority’s annual contributions are expensed. 

c. Western Australian Satellite Technology and Applications 
Consortium – L Band Facility (L Band).  
The Authority has a Joint Venture interest in L Band which is 
a consortium of universities and public sector organisations; 
the Facility  maintains satellite reception facilities at Curtin and 
Murdoch Universities.  The Facility’s use includes: facilitating 
the reception of earth observation data, and to maintain an 
archive of remotely sensed data received from various satellites.  
The Authority is required to make annual contributions of 
$10,000 for the operation and maintenance of the Facility.  The 
Facility is managed by a Board in accordance with the Deed 
that established L Band.  The Authority does not account for L 
Band in accordance with AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
because this interest is not material.  The Authority’s annual 
contributions are expensed.
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25. Other financial assets - cont.

iii. The Authority has an investment of one ordinary share in Public 
Sector Mapping Agency (PSMA) Australia Limited, an unlisted public 
company limited by shares, incorporated under the Corporations 
Act 2001.  PSMA has 9 shareholders being the Commonwealth of 
Australia and each Australian State and Territory Government. Each 
shareholder holds one fully paid $1 share. 
 
PSMA’s primary purpose is the building of national data sets to 
which all shareholders contribute data at no cost, and its activities 
are funded from the revenues it receives from data licensing, and 
data supply contracts with third parties. Part of this revenue is 
distributed back to the shareholders at a rate determined by the 
Directors of PSMA. 
 
The Authority represents the WA Government on the Board of PSMA. 
The Authority owns one fully paid $1 share, but does not have 
control or significant influence over the financial and operating policy 
decisions of PSMA. 
 
This investment is measured at cost because it is an unlisted 
company, and there is no active market in which these type of shares 
are traded, therefore, fair value cannot be reliably measured. 
 
The distribution (royalties) received by the Authority in 2013-14 for 
the 2012-13 financial year was $131,866 (2012-13: $112,251). 
 
This revenue is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
under ‘Sale of land information, data and imagery’. (Refer Note 8). 
 
The Authority does not intend to dispose of this shareholding in the 
next financial year.

26. Amounts receivable for services

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Current 4,386 5,987

Non-current 22,212 22,324

26,598 28,311

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. 
It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement. 
Refer to Note 19 ‘Service appropriation’.
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27. Prepayments

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Information and technology services 2,047 1,891

Other 59 379

2,106 2,270

28. Accrued interest

Interest on cash balances invested by the Department of Treasury 89 505

Interest on cash balances invested in Term Deposits 805 0

Interest on cash balances held on deposit with the Western Australian 

Treasury Corporation 13 0

907 505

29. (a) Furniture, plant and equipment 

Furniture

At cost 114 114

Accumulated depreciation (74) (66)

40 48

Plant

At cost 1,356 1,346

Accumulated depreciation (233) (165)

Written down value 1,123 1,181

Works in progress at cost 214 143

1,337 1,324

Equipment

At cost 2,500 2,687

Accumulated depreciation (1,527) (1,770)

973 917

Computer equipment

At cost 10,311 11,294

Accumulated depreciation (7,747) (8,715)

2,564 2,579

Total furniture, plant and equipment 4,914 4,868
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29. (b) Leasehold improvements 

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

At cost 14,154 13,699

Accumulated depreciation (8,058) (6,957)

Written down value 6,096 6,742

Works in progress at cost 495 98

Total leasehold improvements 6,591 6,840

29. (c) Intangibles

Service delivery software and related project costs

At cost 86,686 80,959

Accumulated amortisation (75,826) (71,836)

Written down value 10,860 9,123

Works in progress at cost 12,708 10,161

Total intangibles 23,568 19,284

29. (d) Buildings (under finance lease)

At fair value (a) 43,500 43,500

Accumulated depreciation (2,784) (1,392)

Accumulated impairment losses 0 0

Total buildings (under finance lease) 40,716 42,108
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29. (e) Land

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Land under finance lease

At fair value (a) 8,500 8,500

Total land under finance lease 8,500 8,500

Land reserves

At fair value (b) 3,702 3,246

Total land reserves 3,702 3,246

Total land 12,202 11,746

a. The Authority’s Property and Valuation Services Branch  
value the building and land under a finance lease each year. 
As there has been no material change in fair values, the 
building and land will be reported at existing fair value at  
30 June 2014. 

b. This represents Reserves for which the Authority became 
responsible since 1 July 2008. Prior to 1 July 2008 these 
Reserves were administered by the Department for Lands on 
behalf of the Crown. 
 
The land reserves were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by  
the Authority’s Property and Valuation Services Branch.  
The valuations were performed during the year ended  
30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014. The fair 
values of the land reserves has been determined by  
reference to recent market transactions.

Total furniture, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements, intangibles,  
building and land 87,991 84,846
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29. (f) Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of furniture, equipment, 
plant, leasehold improvements, intangibles, land and building at 
the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.

2014
Furniture 

($’000)
Equipment

($’000)

Computer
Equipment

($’000)
Plant

($’000)

Works in 
Progress

Plant
($’000)

Leasehold 
Improvements

($’000)

Works in 
Progress

Leasehold 
Improvements

($’000)

Service 
Delivery,

Software 
and 

Project 
Costs

($’000)

Works in 
Progress

Service
Delivery
($’000)

Land
($’000)

Building
($’000)

TOTAL
($’000)

Carrying amount 

at 1 July 2013
48 917 2,579 1,181 143 6,742 98 9,123 10,161 11,746 42,108 84,846

Additions 0 267 950 0 71 455 824 7,219 9,987 40 0 19,813

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0 0 (429) 0 (7,059) 0 0 (7,488)

Disposals 0 (22) (90) 0 0 0 0 (48) 0 (35) 0 (195)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 451 0 451

Depreciation/ 

amortisation
(8) (188) (1,017) (68) 0 (1,101) 0 (5,440) 0 0 (1,392) (9,214)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (160) 0 0 (160)

Adjustments 0 (1) 142 10 0 0 2 6 (221) 0 0 (62)

Carrying amount 

at 30 June 2014 40 973 2,564 1,123 214 6,096 495 10,860 12,708 12,202 40,716 87,991

2013

Carrying amount 

at 1 July 2012
56 866 2,033 145 1,084 6,916 0 13,793 6,951 11,519 43,500 86,863

Additions 0 297 1,523 1,122 181 1,421 98 229 5,897 1 0 10,769

Transfers 0 0 0 0 (1,122) 0 0 0 (1,566) (3) 0 (2,691)

Disposals 0 (1) (6) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (7)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 230 0 230

Depreciation/ 

amortisation
(8) (254) (927) (134) 0 (1,183) 0 (4,994) 0 0 (1,392) (8,892)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,121) 0 0 (1,121)

Adjustments 0 9 (44) 48 0 (412) 0 95 0 (1) 0 (305)

Carrying amount 

at 30 June 2013 48 917 2,579 1,181 143 6,742 98 9,123 10,161 11,746 42,108 84,846
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30. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value includes only land reserves.  
For financial instruments revalued at fair value refer to Note 42 
‘Financial instruments’.

Assets measured at fair value:

2014
Level 1

($’000)
Level 2

($’000)
Level 3

($’000)

Fair value
at the end 

of period
($’000)

Land reserves (Refer to Note 29(e)) 0 283 3,419 3,702

0 283 3,419 3,702

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 or 3 during the period.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values:

Level 2 fair values of land reserves are derived using the market 
approach.  Market based evidence of sales prices of comparable 
land in close proximity is used to determine price per square 
metre.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

2014

Land 
reserves
($’000)

Fair value at start of period 2,838

Additions 39

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 583

Disposals (41)

Fair value at end of period 3,419

Valuation process

There were no changes in valuation technique during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date 
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-
current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require 
valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 
inputs on a recurring basis.

The Authority does not currently hold any specialised buildings or 
infrastructure assets.
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30. Fair value measurements - cont. 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by 
either using market evidence of sales of comparable land that is 
unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant 
and marketable condition (low restricted use land), or, comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted 
use land).

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Authority are derived and 
evaluated as follows:

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility.  Relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Description and fair value as 
at 30 June 2014
$’000’s

Valuation 
Technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of unobservable 
inputs (weighted average)

Relationship of  
unobservable inputs  

to fair  value

Land reserves
($3,419)

Market approach

 

Selection of 
land with similar 

approximate utility

$0.01 - $25 per m2

($1.48 per m2)
Higher value of similar 

land increases  
estimated fair value

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances is provided  
in Note 29(f)

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised 
nature of land reserves, these assets are valued at Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy on a cost approach.  The cost approach 
recognises that restrictions have been placed on their use 
and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to 
requirements.  These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the 
assets being held to deliver a specific community service.
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31. Impairment loss

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

In accordance with the AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the Authority 
has reviewed its assets for impairment, including items in work-in 
progress as at 30 June 2014, and this impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

160 1,121

The impaired assets were intangibles (software), recognised 
in work-in-progress, and therefore not yet available for use.  It 
is considered that further development and completion of the 
software would not generate future economic benefits to the 
Authority.  There were no other indications of impairment of 
furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, intangible, 
land and building assets at 30 June 2014.

32. Payables

Accrued expenses 3,125 3,913

Accrued salaries 1,866 1,629

Trade payables 451 3,005

5,442 8,547

33. Finance lease

Current

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 121 114

   Building 2,781 2,622

Total current 2,902 2,736

Non-current

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 979 1,066

   Building 22,524 24,512

Total non-current 23,503 25,578
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33. Finance lease - cont. 

The land associated with the building is owned by the State 
Government of Western Australia and leased to a private sector 
entity until 14 March 2021.  The private sector entity owns the 
building and has leased it to the Authority until 14 March 2021 
after which ownership passes to the Government.  In the event of 
default, the estimated value of the remaining lease payment 
becomes due and payable to the private sector entity.

34. Provisions

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Current

Employee benefits provision (a)

   Annual leave (b) 4,153 4,631

   Long service leave (c) 10,465 10,293

   Deferred salary scheme (d) 102 0

14,720 14,924

Employee on-costs provision (e) 838 850

Total current provisions 15,558 15,774

Non-current

Employee benefits provision (a)

   Long service leave (c) 3,146 3,586

3,146 3,586

Employee on-costs provision (e) 180 205

Total non-current provisions 3,326 3,791

a. Employee benefits as at 30 June 2014 includes $1.64m  
in respect of employer superannuation contributions  
(30 June 2013 $1.71m). 

b. Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where 
there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the reporting period.  Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,450 3,804

More than 12 months after the end of reporting period 703 827

4,153 4,631
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34. Provisions - cont.

c. Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current 
where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,467 3,702

More than 12 months after the end of reporting period 10,144 10,177

13,611 13,879

d. Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified 
as current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities 
will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 102 0

More than 12 months after the end of reporting period 0 0

102 0

e. The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities 
gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers compensation insurance.  The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments.  The associated 
expense is included at Note 15 ‘Other expenses’. 

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of the reporting period 1,055 959

   Additional provisions recognised 460 514

   Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (497) (418)

Carrying amount at the end of reporting period 1,018 1,055
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35. Other current liabilities

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Unearned revenue 2,069 1,554

Electronic advice of sales administration 1,251 1,154

Revenue received in advance 980 320

Payroll tax 321 333

Other liabilities 532 768

5,153 4,129

36. Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on 
behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual interest 
in the net assets of the Authority.  The asset revaluation surplus 
represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of 
non-current assets.

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 84,619 81,420

   Contributions by owners

      Capital appropriations (a) 2,339 2,374

   Other contributions by owners

      Royalties for regions fund - Regional Infrastructure and  

      Headwork Fund (a) 1,504 827

      Land reserves transferred from the Department of Lands  

      to the Authority (b) 40 1

   Distributions to owners

      Land reserves transferred out to other agencies now responsible  

      for those reserves (b) (35) (3)

Balance at the end of period 88,467 84,619

a. The amounts received represent funding towards the WA 
Location Information Strategy.  Also refer Note 20 ‘Royalties 
for regions fund’. 

b. Refer Note 29 (e) ‘Land’.
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36. Equity - cont.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of period 27,836 20,896

   Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

      Land reserves 451 230

      Other financial assets (a) 0 9,585

      Deferred tax asset (see Note 37 'Taxation equivalent') 0 (2,875)

Balance at the end of period 28,287 27,836

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described 
in accounting policy Note 2(g).

a. Refer Note 25 ‘Other financial assets’ for further details. 

Retained earnings

Balance at the start of period 54,373 27,999

Result for the period 27,982 26,374

Dividend disbursement (3,956) 0

Balance at the end of period 78,399 54,373

Total equity 195,153 166,828
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37. Taxation equivalent

The Western Australian Land Information Authority was included 
in the National Tax Equivalents Regime (NTER) for the first time on 
1 January 2007.  The NTER requires the payment of income tax 
assuming the Authority is a non-government business.

Major components of income tax expense as at 30 June 2014 are:

(a) Income tax expense 

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Current income tax

Current income tax charge 12,742 12,571

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax 0 (166)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (100) (744)

Benefit from previously unrecognised tax loss used to reduce deferred 

tax expense (10) (18)

Total Income tax expense 12,632 11,643

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 
payable
Reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) applicable to 
accounting profit before income tax equivalents at the statutory 
income tax rate to income tax expense at the Authority’s  
effective income tax rate for the period ended 30 June 2014  
and 30 June 2013 are as follows:  

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents 40,614 38,017

   Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 30% 12,184 11,405

   Non-deductible expenses 458 422

   Temporary differences not recognised 0 0

   Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax 0 (166)

   Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax (10) (18)

   Temporary investment allowance 0 0

Income tax expense/(benefit) 12,632 11,643
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37. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the 
following:

Assets Liabilities Net

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Receivables (14) (20) 0 152 (14) 132

Inventories 0 (2) 0 0 0 (2)

Other financial assets (21) (25) 2,881 2,875 2,860 2,850

Property, plant & equipment (35,606) (33,639) 34,439 32,635 (1,167) (1,004)

Payables (54) (48) 0 0 (54) (48)

Provisions (6,071) (6,243) 699 678 (5,372) (5,565)

Tax (assets) liabilities (41,766) (39,977) 38,019 36,340 (3,747) (3,637)

Set off of tax 38,019 36,340 (38,019) (36,340) 0 0

Net tax (assets) liabilities (3,747) (3,637) 0 0 (3,747) (3,637)

Movement in temporary  
differences during the year

Balance
1 July 2014

($’000)

Recognised 
in Income

($’000)

Recognised
in Equity
($’000)

Balance 
30 June 2014

($’000)

Receivables 132 (146) 0 (14)

Inventories (2) 2 0 0

Other financial assets 2,850 10 0 2,860

Property, plant & equipment (1,004) (163) 0 (1,167)

Payables (48) (6) 0 (54)

Provisions (5,565) 193 0 (5,372)

Tax (assets) liabilities (3,637) (110) 0 (3,747)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets.



 107

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

38. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement 
of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement 
of Financial Position as follows:   

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 22) 71,949 65,561

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see Note 23) 3,710 2,424

75,659 67,985

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash 
flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents 27,982 26,374

Non-cash items:

   Depreciation and amortisation expense 9,214 8,892

   Impairment loss 160 1,121

   Expensed capital projects relating to prior years 0 217

   Resources received free of charge 611 577

   Doubtful debts expense 20 19

   Net loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current assets 148 6

   Net loss/(gain) on share of investment in joint venture (103) 23

   Income tax equivalent expense 12,632 11,643

   Grants and subsidies from State Government (29,631) (37,780)

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

   Inventories 10 (8)

   Receivables (a) (9,168) (3,597)

   Prepayments 164 (554)

   Accrued interest (402) (82)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

   Accounts payable (a) (2,637) 247

   Provisions (423) 1,408

   Other liabilities 1,140 (287)

   Net GST receipts / (payments) (b) 1 85

   Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) 0 0

Net cash provided by /(used in) operating activities 9,718 8,304
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38. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

a. Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/
payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in 
respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not 
included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items. 

b. This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 

c. This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

39. Resources provided free of charge

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

During the reporting period the following resources in excess of $10,000  

were provided to other agencies free of charge:

Department of Finance 11,100 10,933

Department of Lands 4,699 4,817

Department of Parks and Wildlife 971 681

Main Roads Western Australia 928 765

Department of Fire and Emergency Services 920 717

Department of Aboriginal Affairs 802 1,731

Department of Agriculture & Food 574 665

The University of Western Australia 378 63

Western Australia Police Service 345 588

Tourism Western Australia 325 222

Department of Water 302 700

Department of Health 302 335

Department of Treasury 299 310

Department of Education 226 251

Department of Planning 216 583

Department of Mines & Petroleum 197 733

Department of Training & Workforce Development 190 16

Department of Fisheries 178 171

Department of Transport 154 343

Department of the Attorney General 152 105

Forrest Products Commission 151 178
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39. Resources provided free of charge - cont.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

LandCorp 140 283

Horizon Power 118 0

Public Transport Authority 71 452

Department of Education Services 47 57

Western Australian Electoral Commission 27 22

Department for Child Protection and Family Support 27 18

Department of Commerce 16 14

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 0 357

Dampier Port Authority 0 41

Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 0 40

Parliament of Western Australia 0 13

Department of Local Government and Communities 0 13

23,855 26,217

Resources provided to other agencies which were less than  

$10,000 per agency 36 29

Resources provided free of charge to organisations other  

than departments and statutory authorities: 3,853 3,725

Total resources provided free of charge 27,744 29,971
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40. Commitments

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Finance lease commitments

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases are 

payable as follows:

   Within 1 year 5,076 5,076

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 20,305 20,305

   Later than 5 years 10,154 13,753

Minimum finance lease payments 35,535 39,134

Less future finance charges (9,130) (10,820)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 26,405 28,314

The present value of finance lease payable is as follows: (a)

   Within 1 year 4,771 4,771

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 15,579 15,579

   Later than 5 years 6,055 7,964

Present value of finance lease liabilities 26,405 28,314

Included in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 33 'Finance lease') 2,902 2,736

Non-current (Note 33 'Finance lease') 23,503 25,578

26,405 28,314

The land associated with the building is owned by the State 
Government of Western Australia and leased to a private sector 
entity until 14 March 2021.  The private sector entity owns the 
building and has leased it to the Authority until 14 March 2021 
after which ownership passes to the Government.

The lease contains an escalation clause under which the 
minimum lease payments are increased by the movement in the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) every six months.  Any excess of 
lease payments above the minimum lease payments set at the 
lease inception in September 1993 is deemed contingent rent 
and is expensed each year.  (Refer Note 18 ‘Accommodation 
expenses’).
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40. Commitments - cont.

In September 2013 the lease payments (minimum lease payments 
plus contingent rent) was reset to an equivalent market rent.  Any 
excess of the lease payments above the minimum lease payments 
set at the lease inception will continue to be accounted for as 
contingent rent.  The new lease payments will then increase by the 
movement in the CPI every 6 months until the lease expires.

Apart from the September 2013 reset of lease payments, the lease 
has a “ratchet clause” that prevents the lease payments from 
falling.

In the event of payment default, the remaining lease payments 
become due and payable.

The finance lease does not impose restrictions on Landgate’s 
financial operations such as dividends, debt, or further leasing. 

The commitments below are inclusive of GST - Non-cancellable operating 
lease commitments

These commitments are in respect of non-cancellable operating 
leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period date 
but not recognised as liabilities.  These leases include office 
accommodation, office equipment and motor vehicles.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Within 1 year 895 878

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,296 1,408

Later than 5 years 512 682

2,703 2,968

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 473 2,153

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 585

Later than 5 years 0 0

473 2,738
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40. Commitments - cont.

Other expenditure commitments

These expenditure commitments relate to general administration 
expenses including IT services, software licensing and 
maintenance, photographic services and building maintenance, 
and are payable as follows:

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Within 1 year 32,959 26,255

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 40,567 33,773

Later than 5 years 0 0

73,526 60,028

41. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority  
and senior officers

(a) Remuneration of members of the accountable authority 

The number of members of the accountable authority,  
whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within  
the following bands are: 

* Includes the Chief Executive who is a senior officer and a 
member of the accountable authority.

2014 2013

0 - 10,000 0 1

10,001 - 20,000 0 3

20,001 - 30,000 0 3

30,001 - 40,000 4 0

40,001 - 50,000 1 1

50,001 - 60,000 1 0

300,001 - 310,000 0 1*

320,001 - 330,000 1* 0

7 9

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Base remuneration and superannuation 517 426

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 8 12

Other benefits 19 20

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 544 458

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense 
incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the 
accountable authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the 
Pension Scheme.
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41. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority  
and senior officers - cont.

(b) Remuneration of senior officers 

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers  
reported as members of the accountable authority, whose  
total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits  
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the  
following bands are: 

2014 2013

60,001 - 70,000 1 0

110,001 - 120,000 1 0

160,001 - 170,000 1 1

180,001 - 190,000 1 1

190,001 - 200,000 1 2

200,001 - 210,000 2 1

7 5

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,089 873

Annual leave and long service leave accruals (10) 26

Other benefits 58 38

1,137 937

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense 
incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than 
senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

42. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables, 
investments, amounts receivable for services, payables, finance 
lease liabilities and other current liabilities.  The Authority has 
limited exposure to financial risks.  The Authority’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified 
below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s 
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Authority.  The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those 
assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the 
table at Note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and Note 24 
‘Receivables’.
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies - cont.

The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to 
bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk.

Overdue customer accounts are regularly reviewed, and credit 
may be suspended until the account is brought up to date. 
Where it is economic to do so, the Authority refers large unpaid 
debts to a debt collection agent for further action, including legal 
proceedings.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based 
on objective evidence such as observable data indicating 
changes in client credit ratings.  For financial assets that are 
either past due or impaired, see Note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due.  The Authority is exposed to 
liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows 
including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast 
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as 
foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The Authority’s trading in foreign currency is minimal.  The 
Authority is exposed to interest rate risk primarily on cash 
and cash equivalents.  There are no borrowings or Treasurer’s 
advance other than finance leases (fixed interest).

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair 
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 71,949 65,561

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,710 2,424

Amounts receivables for services 26,598 28,311

Receivables (i) 26,466 17,299

Other financial assets 32,237 32,135

160,960 145,730

Financial liabilities

Payables 5,442 8,547

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 1,100 1,180

   Building 25,305 27,134

Other current liabilities 5,153 4,129

37,000 40,990

i. The amount of receivables excludes GST receivable from  
the ATO .
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  The 
Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as 
shown below.

The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past 
due but not impaired and impaired financial assets.  The table 
is based on information provided to senior management of the 
Authority.

The Authority holds collateral in the form of bank guarantees and 
cash deposits in respect of some customers to mitigate the risk  
of these customers being unable to pay their accounts when  
due - the total value of collateral held is $2.34m.

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Not past
due and 

not 
impaired
($’000)

Up to 
1 month
($’000)

1-3 
months
($’000)

3 months 
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More 
than 

5 years
($’000)

Impaired 
financial 

assets
($’000)

2014  
Financial assets

Cash and cash  
equivalents 71,949 71,949

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 3,710 3,710

Receivables (a) 26,466 25,831 255 300 79 1 0 0

Other financial assets 32,237 32,237

Amounts receivable 
for services 26,598 26,598

160,960 160,325 255 300 79 1 0 0
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Not past
due and 

not 
impaired
($’000)

Up to 
1 month
($’000)

1-3 
months
($’000)

3 months 
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More 
than 

5 years
($’000)

Impaired 
financial 

assets
($’000)

2013  
Financial assets

Cash and cash  
equivalents 65,561 65,561

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 2,424 2,424

Receivables (a) 17,299 17,220 29 41 5 4 0 0

Other financial assets 32,135 32,135

Amounts receivable 
for services 28,311 28,311

145,730 145,651 29 41 5 4 0 0

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from 
the ATO (statutory receivable).
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure 
and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and 
financial liabilities.  The maturity  analysis section includes interest 
and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section 
analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Fixed 
interest 

rate
($’000)

Variable 
interest 

rate 
($’000)

Non-
Interest
bearing
($’000)

Nominal 
Amount
($’000)

Up to 
1 month
($’000)

1-3 months
($’000)

3 months  
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More than 
5 years
($’000)

2014
Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3.01  71,949 65,000  6,929  20  72,997  6,949  66,048 

Restricted cash 
and cash  
equivalents 3.01  3,710  3,710  3,723  3,723 

Receivables (a) 26,466 26,466 26,466 26,466

Other financial 
assets  32,237  32,237  32,237  1,000 

 

31,237 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services

 26,598 26,598  26,598  507  1,014  2,865 22,212 

160,960 65,000 10,639 85,321 162,021 38,645 67,062 2,865 22,212 31,237

Financial liabilities

Payables 5,442 5,442 5,442 5,442

Finance lease 
liabilities 

   Land 8.46  1,100  1,100  1,479  18  53  140  846  422 

   Building 8.46  25,305 25,305  34,054  410  1,226  3,229 19,459  9,730 

Other liabilities  5,153  5,153  5,153  5,153 

 37,000 26,405 10,595 46,128 11,023 1,279 3,369 20,305 10,152

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable 
from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Fixed 
interest 

rate
($’000)

Variable 
interest 

rate 
($’000)

Non-
Interest
bearing
($’000)

Nominal 
Amount
($’000)

Up to 
1 month
($’000)

1-3 
months
($’000)

3 months  
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More than 
5 years
($’000)

2013
Financial assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3.40 65,561 65,540 21 65,561 65,561

Restricted cash 
and cash  
equivalents 3.40 2,424 2,424 2,424 2,424

Receivables (a) 17,299 17,299 17,299 17,299

Other financial 
assets 32,135 32,135 32,135 32,135

Amounts 
receivable for 
services

28,311 28,311 28,311 498 1,498 3,991 20,961 1,363

145,730 0 67,964 77,766 145,730 85,782 1,498 3,991 20,961 33,498

Financial liabilities

Payables 8,547 8,547 8,547 8,547

Finance lease 
liabilities 

   Land 8.46 1,180 1,180 1,630 18 53 140 846 573

   Building 8.46 27,134 27,134 37,504 410 1,226 3,229 19,459 13,180

Other liabilities 4,129 4,129 4,129 4,129

40,990 28,314 0 12,676 51,810 13,104 1,279 3,369 20,305 13,753

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from 
the ATO (statutory receivable).
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate 
sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period on the profit/(loss) for the period  
and equity for a 1% change in interest rates.  It is assumed that 
the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period.

-1% After Tax +1% After Tax

2014

 Carrying 
 amount 
($’000)

 Profit 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

 Profit 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 71,929 (504) (504) 504 504

Restricted cash and cash  
equivalents

3,710 (26) (26) 26 26

Total increase / (decrease) 75,639 (530) (530) 530 530

2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  65,540  (459)  (459)  459  459 

Restricted cash and cash  
equivalents

 2,424  (17)  (17)  17  17 

Total increase / (decrease) 67,964  (476)  (476)  476  476 
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42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Fair value hierarchy
The Authority uses the following hierarchy for determining and 
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:  
  
i. Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date; 

ii. Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; or 

iii. Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
  
The following table shows the Authority’s financial assets and 
liabilities according to the valuation hierarchy.  

2014
Level 1

($’000)
Level 2

($’000)
Level 3

($’000)
Total

($’000)

Investments - available for sale 0 0 32,038 32,038

Total 0 0 32,038 32,038

2013

Investments - available for sale 0 0 32,039 32,039

Total 0 0 32,039 32,039

Level 3 financial assets and liabilities
The following table shows the movements in the Authority’s Level 
3 assets and liabilities.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Level 3 Financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 32,039 6,229

   Additions 0 16,225

   Disposals 0 0

   Adjustments - refund (1) 0

   Unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 0 9,585

Balance at the end of the financial year 32,038 32,039

During the reporting period there were no transfers into or out of 
level 3.



 122    Landgate Annual Report 2013/14

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

42. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Valuation process
There were no changes in valuation technique during the period.

Transfer in and out of fair value level are recognised on the date of 
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
Transfers between the three hierarchy levels are determined 
according to the criteria of each of the three levels.

The carrying amounts of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities 
are calculated using appropriate valuation models, including 
discounted cash flow modelling and the most recent arm’s length 
market transactions between knowledgeable willing parties.  The 
following table shows a Level 3 financial assets and liabilities, 
and the effect on profit/(loss) and equity, at the end of the 
reporting period, based on a reasonably possible change to the 
most relevant risk variable (share price), with all other variables 
constant.

-10% After Tax +10% After Tax

2014

 Carrying 
 amount 
($’000)

 Profit (i)
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

 Profit (i) 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Investments - available for sale 32,038 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

Total Increase / (Decrease) 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

2013

Financial Assets

Investments - available for sale 32,039 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

Total Increase / (Decrease) 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

i. The effect on profit is zero because it is included in Other 
Comprehensive Income.
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43. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial 
statements, the Authority has the following contingent 
liabilities: 
  
i. The Authority has pending or potential litigation 

that may affect the financial position to the value of 
$2,517,080. 

ii. There is potential for Copyright Agency Limited 
and/or individual surveyors to claim against the 
State of Western Australia and/or the Authority in 
respect of: 

a. copying surveyors’ plans for public use; and 

b. the Authority’s use of plans to create products 
and services following the decision of the 
Federal Court of Australia in Copyright Agency 
Limited v State of New South Wales [2007] 
FCAFC 80 (5 June 2007) and the decision 
of the High Court of Australia in Copyright 
Agency Limited v State of New South Wales 
[2008] HCA 35 (6 August 2008).

  
Litigation has currently ceased and Copyright Agency 
Limited is negotiating with the States the rate of 
payment to be made for publication of surveyors’ 
plans. This may include an amount for retrospectivity 
which is unquantified. 

Contingent assets

In addition to the assets incorporated in the financial 
statements, the Authority has one contingent asset in 
relation to a counterclaim reported in (i) above for the 
value of $1,500,000.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44. Intellectual property

The Authority’s intellectual property consists of 
software; data; records created and processes 
developed by the Authority as a result of its activity 
and transactions; publications; products; trade marks 
and know-how; in the categories listed below.  At the
end of the reporting period the intellectual property 
cannot be reliably measured, and accordingly has 
not been recognised as an asset in the financial 
statements. Moreover, AASB 138 ‘Intangible 
Assets’ does not allow internally generated brands, 
mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items 
similar in substance to be recognised as assets in the 
financial statements:

1. Air Photography 
A collection of images and mosaics of Western 
Australia collected from 1948. 

2. Spatial Cadastral Database 
Includes information about land parcel boundaries 
(including freehold and crown lots),  lodged 
cadastral boundaries, control marks, easements, 
surveyed mining tenement and administrative 
boundaries. 

3. Geodetic Survey Marks Database 
Information and metadata about the State’s 
geodetic survey marks including three dimensional 
coordinates that provide the common geographic 
reference framework for the State’s spatial data 
sets. 

4. GEONOMA Database 
Place, feature and road name information for 
Western Australia, including position, origin, 
meaning and classification of names. 

5. Authority’s Branding and Ownership 
Various registered trade marks, business names, 
internet domain names and unregistered trade 
mark rights. 

6. Mapping Products 
Copyright, design, artwork and “know how” related 
to mapping products and publications (digital and 
analogue, including internet design).
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44. Intellectual property - cont.

7. Application and Web Services Copyright in the 
software code for various application and web 
services and the associated documents and 
process maps used for their specification and 
description (including for such key applications as 
SmartPlan and SmartRegister). 

8. Tenure

 · Tenure Systems - systems containing 
descriptions of how land is held, e.g. freehold 
or reserve.

 · Title and Document Images and hardcopy 
- digital and historical hard copies of titles, 
surveys and documents that are held in a 
central location. 

9. Topographic Database/Geodatabase 
Repository of all geographic land information 
stored in terms of relief, cultural, transport, road 
centreline, hydrography, coastlines and points of 
interest. 

10. Satellite Imagery 
Digital datasets of satellite value-added images 
maintained in a catalogue archive. 

11. Native Title Database 
Spatial data depicting external boundaries of 
Native Title Applications and Indigenous Land 
Use Agreements (ILUAs). 

12. Thematic Databases 
Data fundamentally used in the preparation of 
thematic mapping products, e.g. StreetSmart 
Touring Maps, City and Town Series, Street 
Express, Street Directory, Emergency Service 
Directories and WA Travellers Atlas. 

13. Land and Property Improvements Database 
A repository that contains a description of the 
physical characteristics of land and improvements 
to land. 

14. Land Valuations Database 
A database of current and previous values 
determined by the Valuer General. 
 
 
 

15. Property Sales and Rentals Database 
A repository of historical sales and rental 
information integrated with land and property 
descriptions. 

16. Computer Assisted Valuation Methodology 
A suite of integrated software that assists with the 
mass appraisal of values. 

17. Work Management System Database 
A suite of software that provides the recording 
and allocation of human resources across 
services. 

18. Property/Valuation GIS 
Integrated spatial and textual data displayed via a 
customised suite of software. 

19. Customer Information 
A collection of lists and databases that make 
up the Authority’s information, location data, 
commercial activity and interactions. 

20. TRIM Database 
A register of the Authority’s hard copy records, 
and storage of digital copies of surveys and 
related documents. 

21. Property Street Address Database 
A database of current property street address 
details and geocodes of all property in Western 
Australia. 

22. Soil Grade Classification Sketches 
Analogue Soil Classification Sketches for 
agricultural land throughout Western Australia 
used for rating valuations. 

23. Algorithms and Techniques 
Confidential customised and novel algorithms 
and techniques for work processes, assessments, 
and analysis to generate, depict and manipulate 
land and auxiliary information, digital geographic 
information, valuation and property information 
(including such tools and methodology to 
automate the thematic presentation of data). 
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44. Intellectual property - cont.

24. The Innovation Forum database of material 
Collection of material (text and drawings) around 
opportunities or issues related to the location 
information domain, and associated markets. 

25. Licences 
Copyright in the compilation and design or a 
suite of licences to disseminate the Authority’s 
products and services. 

26. Publications 
Copyright in the imagery, design and compilation 
of the Authority’s key documentation, including 
its reports, policies, frameworks, guidelines and 
manuals. 

27. Marketing material and collateral 
Includes the copyright in marketing created 
photography, imagery, newsletters and videos. 

28. Training 
Copyright in developed modules and training 
presentations. 

29. South-West Native Title Settlements (SWNTS) 
Application 
An application built by the Authority for the 
Department for Lands to manage the negotiations 
for the South West Native Title Settlement 
process. The custom application was developed 
using Microsoft SharePoint, drawing upon data 
from the new Shared Location Information 
Platform (SLIP). 

30. State Capture and Advice Register (SCAR) 
An application  to manage the State Land 
Information Capture Program (SLICP) program. 
The custom application was developed using 
Microsoft SharePoint, drawing upon data from the 
new Shared Location Information Platform (SLIP). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Data Update and Express Tool (DUET) 
An application built by NGIS for the Authority that 
streamlines the data publishing process for the 
new SLIP. 

32. WFS Translator (for the new SLIP) 
An application that enables Web Feature Services 
(WFS) version 1 services to be delivered from the 
new SLIP (Google Maps Engine). 

33. Custom FME scripts for processing the Authority’s 
data and publishing to SLIP Custom scripts for 
the FME software developed by the Authority to 
streamline the publishing of data to the new SLIP. 

34. Data dictionaries for data maintained by the 
Authority as a custodian 
Detailed descriptions of datasets for use by users 
of the new SLIP.  

35. GME custodian manuals 
(naming conventions etc.) 
Detailed instructions produced by the Authority 
for users publishing data to the new SLIP. 
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45. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

The Authority has a 15.9% ownership interest in PEXA, this is 
represented by owning 11,442,009 fully paid ordinary shares at a 
cost of $22.45m. 
 
The Authority purchased a further 2,276,429 shares at $2.80 
($6.37m) each on 21 August 2014.  This will maintain the 
Authority’s 15.9% ownership interest. 
 
There have been no other significant events occurring after  
30 June 2014 that affect these financial statements.

46. Remuneration of auditor

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in  

respect of the audit for the current financial year.

158 155

47. Affiliated body

The Land Surveyors’ Licensing Board is an affiliated body in that it  
received administrative support and a grant of $13,400 from the  
Authority. The Board is not subject to the operational control of the 
Authority and reports to Parliament separately.

13 13

48. Supplementary financial information

a. Write offs

            Bad debts and public property Approved by  

            Accountable Authority 7 50

b. Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

            Losses of public monies and public and other property through  

            theft or default (i) 2 0

            Amount recovered 2 0

0 0

c. Gifts of public property

       Gifts of public property provided by the Authority 2 0
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48. Supplementary financial information - cont.

i. There were several items lost as a result of theft however 
these items had a book value of ‘nil’. Their replacement value 
for insurance purposes totalled $230.

49. Special purpose accounts

Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management 
Act 2006.

Payroll deductions

The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold income tax 
instalments deducted from salaries and wages of employees of 
Landgate Payroll.

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Balance at the start of the year 0 0

   Receipts 15,006 15,850

   Payments

      The Australian Taxation Office (15,006) (15,850)

Balance at the end of the year 0 0

This special purpose account is reported on a cash basis.

50. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement

The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT) is 
recouped from the Commonwealth government.

Balance at the start of the year 28 30

   Receipts 56 16

   Payments (23) (18)

Balance at the end of the year 61 28
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51. Explanatory statement

This statement provides details of any significant variations 
between budget and actual results for 2014 and between the 
actual results for 2013 and 2014.  Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% or $1m.

(i)  Significant variances between budget and actual for 2014

2014
Budget
($’000)

2014
Actual

($’000)
Variance
($’000)

Income

Provision of services 123,706 130,760 7,054

Sale of land information, data and imagery 9,936 7,577 (2,359)

Commonwealth grants and contributions 0 21 21

Other revenue 1,958 2,456 498

Other gains 0 103 103

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 76,931 75,288 (1,643)

Supplies & services 27,934 31,894 3,960

Other expenses 13,238 8,574 (4,664)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 12,685 9,214 (3,471)

Accommodation 6,509 4,526 (1,983)

Impairment loss 0 160 160

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 148 148

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 29,583 28,486 (1,097)

Royalties for regions fund 904 534 (370)

Explanation of variations:

Provision of services
Provision of services were higher than the budget as a result of 
higher than expected activity levels from document registrations 
and revenue from the Gross Rental Value General Metropolitan 
Triennial Program.

Sale of land information, data and imagery
Sale of land information, data and imagery revenue was lower 
than budget as a result of lower than anticipated commercial 
related activity during the year. 
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51. Explanatory statement - cont.

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth grants and contributions received 
were higher than expected. The budget assumed 
project completion during 2012-13, however, some 
funding from the Digital Regions Initiative National 
Partnership for the National Bushfire Warning System 
which was expected during 2012-13 was received in 
2013-14. 
 
Other revenue
Other revenue was higher than budget as a result of 
additional revenue from miscellaneous recoups and 
marginally higher interest revenue on cash.

Other gains
Gains on investment are not budgeted for, however, 
during 2013-14 the unrealised gain from an 
investment in earthmine Australia Pty Ltd was brought 
to account.

Employee benefit expense
Employee benefit expense is lower than budget as 
a result of positions kept vacant and a higher rate of 
leave taken than anticipated.  Resources within the 
Agency were also rationalised with more employees 
undertaking work on capital projects than planned.

Supplies and Services
An increase in the use of Software Hosted Services 
and costs associated with Application Development 
Services resulted in higher than planned supplies and 
services costs. 

Other expenses
Other expenses was lower than budget as a result 
of the lower than expected expensing of project 
costs in compliance with the Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards.  The 
other expense was also lower than budget as a result 
of lower employment on costs, as a consequence of 
the lower employee benefit expense.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense is lower 
than budget as a result of delays in commencing 
some planned capital works programs and as a 
consequence of some assets reaching the end of 
their useful lives.
 

Accommodation
Accommodation expense was lower than anticipated 
as a result of the contingent rental rates on the 
Midland Building finance lease which were adjusted 
back to lower than expected market rates.

Impairment loss
Impairments are not budgeted for, however, during 
the 2013-14 financial year there were some Works in 
Progress Intangible assets that were considered to 
be impaired on the basis of not generating a future 
economic benefit. 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Losses are not budgeted for, however, a loss was 
realised on the sale of some non-current assets 
during 2013-14.

Service appropriation
Service appropriations are lower than budget as a 
result of the Section 25 transfer of appropriation to 
the Department of Planning for the Regional and 
Urban Scenario Planning (RUSP) initiative of the 
Location Information Strategy (LIS) program and 
the Government Corrective Measure procurement 
savings for 2013-14.

Royalties for regions fund
The Royalties for Regions fund relate to the LIS and 
the Pilbara cities - enhanced valuation services in the 
Pilbara.  During 2013-14 the Department of Planning 
recashflowed the RUSP initiative of the LIS resulting 
in the actual Royalties for Regions funds being lower 
than budget.
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51. Explanatory statement - cont.

(ii)  Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2014

2014
Actual

($’000)

2013
Actual

($’000)
Variance
($’000)

Income

Provision of services 130,760 117,536 13,224

Commonwealth grants and contributions 21 669 (648)

Other revenue 2,456 1,800 656

Other gains 103 0 103

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 75,288 73,576 1,712

Supplies & services 31,894 27,855 4,039

Accommodation 4,526 7,101 (2,575)

Impairment loss 160 1,121 (961)

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 148 6 142

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 28,486 36,850 (8,364)

Royalties for regions fund 534 353 181

Explanation of variations:

Provision of services
Provision of services were higher than 2012-13 as a result of 
a significant increase in revenue from the Gross Rental Value 
General Metropolitan Triennial Program.  2013-14 is the third and 
final year of the triennial program and hence attracts the highest 
level of revenue. Land Titles Management activity levels have also 
increased compared to 2012-13.

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth grants and contributions received were lower 
than the 2012-13 actual as a result of less funding received  
in 2013-14 for the National Bushfire Warning System which  
was completed during the 2012-13 financial year.  The  
2012-13 financial year also included funding for the Continuously 
Operating Reference Stations which was completed in 2012-13 
with no further funding received for this project during 2013-14.
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51. Explanatory statement - cont.

Other revenue   
Other revenue was higher than 2012-13 as a result 
of additional revenue from project related activities, 
miscellaneous recoups and revenue from the WALIS 
Forum. WALIS Forums generally occur every 18 
months with no Forum held during 2012-13. 

Other gains
The investment in earthmine Australia Pty Ltd resulted 
in an unrealised gain during 2013-14.  In 2012-13 
there was a loss on investments that was reported in 
other expenses.

Employee benefit expense
Employee benefit expense is higher than the 2012-13 
financial year mainly as a result of higher salary costs 
being incurred on capital projects which were unable 
to be capitalised and an increase in the employer 
contribution rate for eligible employees in relevant 
superannuation  schemes during 2013-14.

Supplies and Services
Supplies and services expense is higher in 2013-
14 as a result of the increased costs related to 
information technology contracts, specifically 
Application Development Services and additional 
expenditure on Software Hosted Services. 

Accommodation
Accommodation expense is significantly lower than 
2012-13 as a result of the lowering of market rental 
rates as per the lease agreement for the Midland 
building and land finance lease.  Savings have also 
been achieved on the maintenance agreement and 
other outgoings.

Impairment loss
During 2013-14 there were some Works in Progress 
Intangible assets that were considered to be impaired 
on the basis of not generating a future economic 
benefit.  The value of Intangibles which met the 
criteria for impairment was lower than 2012-13.  
 
 

 
 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
The loss on disposal of non-current assets was higher 
in 2013-14 as a result of higher losses being realised 
on the sale of some non-current assets.

Service appropriation
Service appropriations are lower than 2012-13 as a 
result of the receipt in 2012-13 of additional funding 
following the Appropriation Review and the reversal 
of funding in 2013-14 for the third and final year of 
the Gross Rental Value General Metropolitan Triennial 
Program.  A Section 25 transfer of appropriation to 
the Department of Planning for the RUSP initiative 
of the LIS program and the Government Corrective 
measures procurement savings during 2013-14 
contributed to this result. 

Royalties for Regions Fund
The Royalties for Regions funds relate to the LIS and 
the Pilbara cities - enhanced valuation services in 
the Pilbara.  In 2013-14 the majority of the funding 
received was for the Pilbara cities-enhanced valuation 
services in the Pilbara which was higher than that 
received in 2012-13. 
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52. Schedule of income and expenses by service

Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government 
Location Information Total

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Income

Revenue

Provision of services 109,379 103,457 21,381 14,079 0 0 130,760 117,536

Sales of land information, 
data & imagery

7,514 7,567 63 0 0 0 7,577 7,567

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions

21 669 0 0 0 0 21 669

Interest revenue 1,879 1,926 199 212 116 74 2,194 2,212

Other revenue 1,391 1,800 0 0 1,065 0 2,456 1,800

Gains

Other gains 103 0 0 0 0 0 103 0

Total income 120,287 115,419 21,643 14,291 1,181 74 143,111 129,784

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 52,723 51,768 20,210 19,872 2,355 1,936 75,288 73,576

Supplies and services 26,489 25,074 977 764 4,428 2,017 31,894 27,855

Other expenses 6,137 6,474 1,718 1,637 719 335 8,574 8,446

Depreciation and  
amortisation expense

7,686 7,505 443 442 1,085 945 9,214 8,892

Finance costs 1,992 2,220 210 244 122 86 2,324 2,550

Accommodation expenses 3,164 5,142 1,142 1,609 220 350 4,526 7,101

Impairment loss 144 990 10 101 6 30 160 1,121

Loss on disposal of 
non-current assets

148 6 0 0 0 0 148 6

Total expenses 98,483 99,179 24,710 24,669 8,935 5,699 132,128 129,547
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52. Schedule of income and expenses by service - cont.

Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government 
Location Information Total

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2013
($’000)

Profit/(loss) before grants  
nd subsidies from State  
Government

21,804 16,240 (3,067) (10,378) (7,754) (5,625) 10,983 237

Grants and subsidies from 
State Government

Service appropriation 13,846 10,334 7,079 21,076 7,561 5,440 28,486 36,850

Royalties for regions fund 0 0 360 180 174 173 534 353

Services received free  
of charge

427 433 165 132 19 12 611 577

Total grants and subsidies from 
State Government

14,273 10,767 7,604 21,388 7,754 5,625 29,631 37,780

Profit/(loss) before income tax 
equivalent (expense)/benefit 36,077 27,007 4,537 11,010 0 0 40,614 38,017

Income tax equivalent (ex-
pense)/benefit (12,632) (11,643)

Profit/(loss) for the period 27,982 26,374

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Geoffrey Hick

Chairman
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
5 September 2014   

In the opinion of the Board of 
Management, Western Australian Land 
Information Authority, the accompanying 
key performance indicators:

 » are based on proper records;

 » are relevant and appropriate for 
assisting users to assess the 
Authority’s performance; and 

 » fairly represent the Authority’s 
performance for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2014.  

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Certification of the Key Performance Indicators
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Relationship to Government Goals

The following table illustrates the relationship 
between the Authority’s services, the desired 
outcomes and the relevant Government Goal.  The 
key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of 
impact of the delivery of services on the achievement 
of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators 
monitor the relationship between the service delivered 
and the resources used to produce the service.  Refer 
to the Performance Management Framework section 
of the Annual Report for further details.

 

Government Goal Outcomes Services

Social and Environmental  
Responsibility:

Ensuring that economic activity 
is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term 
benefit of the State.

The State’s administrative, 
commercial and social systems 
are supported by a land 
information base and certainty 
of ownership and other interests 
in land.

1. Land Information - 

Information about land 
ownership, land boundaries 
and geographic features 
is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by 
government, business and 
the community.

Independent valuations support 
government’s collection of rates 
and taxes and management of 
property assets.

2. Valuations - 

An impartial valuation 
and property consultancy 
service.

Coordinated capture and 
access to the State’s location 
information.

3. Access to Government 
Location Information  - 

Effective access to land 
and location information 
can be demonstrated by 
improved data capture, 
access and usability of 
location information.
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Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social 
systems are supported by a land information base 
and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

The extent to which the currency and relevance of the 
Land Information Databases meet the needs of the 
Western Australian community.  

Percentage of work program completed
Actual

2011/12
Actual

2012/13
Target

2013/14
Actual

2013/14

Extent to which the currency and relevance 
of the Land Information Databases meet 
the needs of the Western Australian 
community 

99% 89% 100% 94%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Landgate maintains its strategic land information 
datasets in order that they are fit for purpose and 
match the level of land related activity and change 
through cyclical and targeted data revision.  Currency 
and relevance relate to how well the data itself is 
kept up to date and the support given to the many 
requests for new and revised information received 
through the Western Australian Land Information 
System (WALIS) Office.  As the maintenance is 
needs-based, the achievement of set targets reflects 
the extent to which these user needs are met and 
therefore it is an indicator of effectiveness.

 

How was the indicator derived? 

For 2013-14 the indicator is derived from those core 
land information databases that describe and record 
the location and physical attributes of the State’s 
infrastructure.  Landgate’s geographic information 
focus is on location products and services with 
ongoing process improvement.

The core databases are: 

 · Aerial Photography

 · Property Street Addressing 

 · Geographic Naming

 · Spatial Cadastral Database

 · Medium Scale Topographic Data

 · Large Scale Topographic Data 

The currency of the information provides a measure 
of Landgate’s effectiveness in responding to land 
development and social changes.  Activity targets 
are set in response to administrative expectations 
relating to development and submissions to the 
Western Australian Land Information System (WALIS) 
Office.  They define the minimum required to maintain 
the land information base and deliver the needs at 
the levels of accuracy, currency and completeness 
expected by the users.
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What does this indicator show? 

The indicator shows how well Landgate has 
maintained its geographic location and land boundary 
information overall.  It is an average measured 
via achievement against targets for each of the 
core databases.  These targets are gauged on 
Landgate’s capacity to satisfy an expected level of 
data maintenance and user community requests for 
new information as well as maintain cyclic revision 
programs agreed by the WALIS Council.

In 2013-14 Landgate was on average 94% effective 
in meeting overall user expectations.  Exceptions 
against individual targets are described as follows:

Medium Scale Topographic Data 
The shortfall is a result a lower level of resources 
available caused by the loss of experienced staff due 
to retirements and a major software upgrade.  This 
returned a significantly lower review time to edit ratio 
resulting in the target shortfall.

Property Street Address
The shortfall is a result of a period of lower level of 
resources available and other priority work. 

Geographic Names
The shortfall is a result of a period of lower level of 
resources available and other priority work. 

Aerial Photography
The shortfall is a result of the cancellation of 14 
projects due to their specific project requirements. 
The requirement for particular weather conditions and 
suitable ocean tides could not be accommodated in 
the capture program.                           
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Outcome:

The State’s administrative, commercial and social 
systems are supported by a land information base 
and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Claims against registered interests as a result of 
fraud, negligence or errors, settled by the Crown.  

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Number of claims settled by Crown 0 1 0 2

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The indicator provides a measure of the State’s 
success in maintaining an accurate land titles register. 
It shows the settled claims against the State arising 
from fraud, negligence or errors involving the certainty 
of land ownership within the State.

How was the indicator derived? 

The indicator is derived from a register that records 
new, current or rejected claims made for monetary 
compensation against the State concerning 
registered interests in land under the Transfer of Land 
Act 1893 (excludes minor ex gratia payments).

The following definitions apply:

“Fraud” means the illegal activities by a person or 
persons other than the registered owner or owners to 
effect changes to the existing interests recorded on a 
Certificate of Title or other land transaction document.

“Negligence or errors” means the actions or 
errors attributed to the Registrar of Titles or to 
conveyancers, but not detected, which affect the land 
register or clients’ ability to successfully complete 
land transactions.

What does this indicator show? 

WA has a robust land titles system. The two 
payments made in 2013-14 do not indicate a 
significant trend involving error or negligence.

There was an out of court compensation payment for 
an office error due to the issuing of a misleading 138B 
notice under the Transfer of Land Act 1893, which 
caused the parties to incur additional costs.
 
There was also one successful claim for 
compensation for fraud paid by the State under 
the Transfer of Land Act 1893. The true registered 
proprietors were deprived of their land by an 
unauthorised sale, whilst they were overseas. It 
appears to be identity theft by strangers.
 
Whilst this payment in 2013-14 and the payment in 
2012-13 are both due to fraud committed through 
identity theft by strangers, both frauds occurred 
before the increased awareness of the importance of 
verification of identity.
 
It is impossible to prevent fraud, but with vigilance the 
risk of successful fraud is minimised.
 
The importance of verification of identity and authority 
to deal are highlighted by the Commissioner and 
Registrar of Titles’ Verification of Identity Practice 
and recent known unsuccessful attempts at land title 
fraud in Western Australia.
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Service 1:

Land Information.

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries 
and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by Government, business and 
the community.  

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 2):

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Average cost per land registration action $36.84 $31.67 $34.12 $30.05

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land registration actions include a range of activities 
associated with registered land transactions.  
The most common include document searches, 
examination and registration of interests on land.  
The last two involve incorporating changes made 
to a Certificate of Title.  Typically, changes concern 
land ownership details on a title, applications for 
a new title for subdivisional land development, 
caveats, leases, powers of attorney, and other minor 
adjustments to land titles.

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of 
recording on Government guaranteed land titles the 
range of interests, boundaries and ownership relevant 
to that land.  This is a clear indicator of the efficiency 
with which the land registration system and service is 
maintained.

How was the indicator derived? 

The number of transactions is derived from a 
recording and checking system that reports the 
number of:

 · Documents examined for registration against  
the title; 

 · Certificates of title created;

 · Document search requests received; and

 · Number of lots created.

The cost of registration actions includes all 
direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 
and overhead recurrent costs.  The cost of land 
registration actions is recovered via charges to users 
for each transaction.  Each charge is calculated on a 
full cost recovery basis.

What does this indicator show? 

The increased market activity, together with continued 
process improvement and the implementation of 
several productivity enhancements has meant the 
delivery of registration actions is 11.9% below the 
target.
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Service 1:

Land Information

Service description:

Information about land ownership, land boundaries 
and geographic features is collected, recorded and 
made available for use by Government, business and 
the community.

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 2):  

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Average cost per land information action $15.67 $16.80 $20.28 $19.25

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land information actions include a range of activities 
associated with the capture, production and 
maintenance of physical land and land boundary 
information in Landgate’s datasets.  These datasets 
include information about:

 · Cadastre;

 · Geodetic marks;

 · Administrative boundaries;

 · Landscape relief (ie contours);

 · Cultural, or built environment, and natural 
features;

 · Aerial photography;

 · Satellite imagery;

 · Geographic Names;

 · Property Street Addresses;

 · Road Centreline (ie position of constructed 
roads);

 · Native Title Claims; and

 · Baselines/territorial sea limits

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost 
of maintaining an up-to-date Government land 
information base and the costs involved represent a 
key indicator of efficiency.

How was the indicator derived? 

The number of actions is derived from recording 
systems that report the above list of items.

The cost of land information actions includes all 
direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect and 
overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show? 

Continuous business improvement has continued 
to deliver productivity gains predominantly from 
technical system changes affecting operational 
efficiency.  Operational factors, combined with cost 
saving measures, has produced a unit cost 5.1% 
below target.
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Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ 
collection of rates and taxes, and management of 
property assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2): 

International standards for accuracy and uniformity of 
rating and taxing values are met.

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Benchmark against international standards 
for accuracy using Median Ratio Test:

Gross Rental Value 93.25% 94.77% >92.5% 92.7%

Unimproved Value 92.59% 92.18% >92.5% 92.43%

Coefficient of dispersion to check 
uniformity of values:

Gross Rental Value 4.53% 6.37% <7% 4.49%

Unimproved Value 3.89% 3.58% <15% 3.36%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

State and local governments rely on impartial, uniform 
and accurate property values as a base for levying 
rates and taxes.  Therefore, measuring the uniformity 
and accuracy of valuations provides a useful indicator 
of our contribution to their effectiveness in meeting 
this outcome.

How was the indicator derived? 

The uniformity and accuracy of Unimproved Values 
are checked against international ratio standards 
published by the International Association of 
Assessing Officers (IAAO) in their ‘Standard on 
Ratio Studies’.  Coefficient of Dispersion (COD) and 
the Median Value Price Ratio (MPR) tests are the 
key standards.  These are used extensively in both 
Australia and New Zealand.  Both were adopted 
as ideal indicators suited to Western Australia. 
Gross Rental Values are compared against our own 
standards developed in 1998 along similar lines to the 
IAAO land value standards.  
 

 

In relation to the MPR, the IAAO Standards state that 
“the overall level of appraisal for a jurisdiction.... for 
vacant land.... should be between 90 percent and 
110 percent”, and that the “Coefficient of Dispersion 
(COD) for vacant land should be 20 percent or less”. 
In larger urban jurisdictions dealing with uniform land 
releases and availability of sales, the COD should be 
<15%. 

For Unimproved Values the Valuer General of Western 
Australia has set an MPR standard of >92.5% and a 
COD of <15%.

While there is currently no international standard for 
Gross Rental Values, the Valuer General has adopted 
the same accuracy and uniformity measures applying 
to Unimproved Values but with a tighter COD target of 
<7%.

The quality of the outcome is reflected in the extent to 
which the results exceed the minimum targets.
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What does this indicator show? 

For unimproved values the outcomes show the 
following:

The MPR of 92.43% is slightly under the target of 
>92.5%. The degree with which it falls below target 
is considered to be insignificant and is well within the 
normal range of fluctuations from year to year.  The 
MPR was determined on a statistical analysis which 
compared assessed values as at the date of valuation 
being 1 August 2013 with sales occurring between  
1 June 2013 and 31 August 2013. 

The COD at 3.36% is the best result since these 
indicators commenced in 2000. The previous best 
result was 3.58% achieved in 2012-13.  The COD is 
a measure of divergence between the assessed land 
values and selling prices and this result is indicative 
of a relatively stable property market during the 
designated period of 1 June 2013 and 31 August 
2013.

For gross rental values the outcomes show the 
following:

The MPR shows 92.70% against a target of >92.5% 
measured from a sample size of 18,695 key rents. 
This is the highest level of accuracy recorded for a 
joint metropolitan Perth and country program.

The COD of 4.49% meets the requirement of ‘less 
than 7%’ as a measure of valuation uniformity and is 
close to the best recorded outcome for a combined 
Metropolitan Perth and country program of 4.20% in 
2010-11. Given the large key rent sample size, this is 
an excellent result.

Taken together the above unimproved value and 
gross rental value results show a very satisfactory 
outcome.
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Outcome:

Independent valuations support Governments’ 
collection of rates and taxes, and management of 
property assets.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Adjustments of rating and taxing values as a result 
of Objections and Appeals as a percentage of total 
values in force. 

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Adjustments to rating and taxing values 
as a result of Objections and Appeals as a 
percentage of total values in force

0.0211% 0.0196% <0.2% 0.0147%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The percentage of values amended as a consequence 
of owners exercising their right to challenge values is 
a reasonable measure of the integrity and fairness of 
the values contained in Valuation Rolls.

How was the indicator derived? 

The figure is derived by dividing the number of values 
that have been amended as a result of an objection or 
appeal by the total number of rating and taxing values 
in force.

What does this indicator show? 

As at 30 June 2014, there were 2,061,761 values in 
force in Western Australia. During the year 304 of 
these were amended as a result of formal objections 
determined by the Valuer-General or reviews by 
the State Administrative Tribunal. This indicates 
that only one in every 6,782 values was amended. 
The outcome of 0.0147% remains well below the 
international standard and is also an improvement 
from the 2012-13 outcome of 0.0196%.

The result demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
valuation process in Western Australia and the 
general acceptance of the valuation rating base by 
ratepayers and taxpayers.
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Service 2:

Valuations

Service description:

An impartial valuation and property consultancy 
service. 

Key Efficiency Indicator: 

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Average cost per valuation $18.92 $14.91 $14.34 $13.55

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The number of valuations made and the average cost 
per valuation provide a reliable measure of overall 
performance against forecast targets and previous 
years’ outcomes.  Some variation does occur from 
year to year due to the cyclical nature of the gross 
rental valuation (GRV) program. 

During the year 1,823,684 values were made at an 
overall program cost of $24.7m or $13.55 per value. 
This reflects a 9.12% decrease in the cost per value 
over the previous year as 2013-14 is the third and 
final year of the program and hence has the highest 
level of activity.  This result compares favourably 
when measured against the $12.80 per valuation 
recorded in 2010-11, which was the same point in the 
previous three year cycle, the increase was 5.86%.

How was the indicator derived? 

Cost per valuation refers to the total cost per value of 
unimproved and gross rental values including general 
valuations, interim valuations, objections, appeals 
and queries made during the financial year, and other 
valuations including stamp duty, market, and asset 
valuations, and property related valuation consultancy 
services.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an 
appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent 
costs.

What does this indicator show? 

The average cost per valuation of $13.55 is 79 
cents less than the target of $14.34. It is also only 
75 cents more than the cost per value of $12.80 
incurred in 2010-11 being the same point of the 
Perth metropolitan revaluation cycle.  This excellent 
outcome reflects internal efficiencies and expenditure 
restraint.
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s 
location information.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 3):

Use of location information

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Overall satisfaction with the capture of, 
access to and useability of Government 
Location Information (Note 1)

67% 65% 75% 66%

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework resulted in new effectiveness indicators in 

2011-12 for this Outcome.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy (LIS) for Western 
Australia was endorsed by the Minister for Lands 
and approved by Cabinet in 2011.  The goals of 
the LIS are to facilitate the State’s growth and 
sustainable development through improved use of 
location information.  This enables better informed 
government, industry and community decision 
making.  It also streamlines the capture and 
maintenance of government data.  Landgate, through 
the WALIS framework, is responsible for the overall 
coordination of the LIS. 

The key strategic initiatives for the LIS are: 

 · Strategic Capture of the State’s location 
information

 · Enhanced access to location information

 · Education and career development

 · Citizen engagement through location technology

 · Promoting and branding Western Australia

The benefits of the LIS can only be achieved if 
improvements to the strategic capture of and access 
to location (or spatial) information can be translated 
into increased use of location information across the 
public and private sectors.  This indicator will provide 
a measure of how the business use of the location 
information captured and disseminated improves over 
time.

More effective capture, access and use of location 
information, and reducing duplication of effort across 
government, can be demonstrated through:

 · a more comprehensive and coordinated capture 
process through the State Land Information 
Capture Program (SLICP);

 · access to a wider range of data available through 
the Shared Location Information System (SLIP); 
and

 · annual surveys of customer usage of location 
information provided through these mechanisms.
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How was the indicator derived?

The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework in 2011-12 resulted in a new 
effectiveness indicator.

The actual satisfaction level of 66% is an average 
of two overall satisfaction scores derived through 
independent survey results obtained in May and June 
2014 and it is specific to this effectiveness indicator.  
The survey will be conducted on an annual basis to 
address this indicator.

The independent survey consists of two online 
questionnaires; a SLIP survey (for SLIP users) and 
a SLICP survey (for SLICP participants).  Reliability 
and validity testing was undertaken prior to launch.  
Data collection was done over a 3 week period with 
reminders sent weekly to non-respondents or partially 
completed surveys.  A total sample size of 279 SLIP 
users and 70 SLICP users was achieved.  Based on 
a sample size of 279 SLIP users and a sample size of 
70 SLICP users, the margin of error at the 95% level 
of confidence is ± 4.0%. 

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the level of satisfaction of WALIS 
community members in relation to the capture, 
access and useability of Government Location 
Information.  It provides insight into the way in which 
WALIS community members rate the effectiveness 
of data capture through SLICP and data access and 
ease of use through SLIP.

The 2013-14 overall satisfaction level of 66% is 
marginally higher than the 2012-13 result.  However, 
this falls short of the target figure of 75% for  
2013-14.  The key reason for this stems from 
continued customer perceptions in an environment of 
change, primarily for SLIP.  Under the LIS, in 2013-14, 
SLIP is currently undergoing a fundamental renewal 
based on the Google Maps Engine.  
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s 
location information.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 3):

Strategic Capture – Participation

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Percentage increase in the number of 
requests submitted by agencies (manually 
and on-line) requesting data capture 
through the State Land Information Capture 
Program (SLICP)  (Note 1)

100% 17% 5% 6%

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework resulted in new effectiveness indicators in 

2011-12 for this Outcome.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The SLICP is designed to reduce cost and avoid 
duplication in the capture of location information 
across the State of Western Australia by planning, 
recording and acquiring the information through 
one channel to ensure the most strategic use of 
resources.  Landgate through WALIS has simplified 
the SLICP process and is seeking to expand the 
SLICP to address the future needs of the State’s 
location information.  

How was the indicator derived?

The increase in the number of requests is measured 
in terms of the percentage increase in the number of 
requests submitted by agencies with a baseline being 
set during 2011-12.   

For 2013-14, a total of 208 requests were received, 
representing a 6% increase from the previous year.
 

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows that a percentage increase in 
the number of agencies taking part in SLICP leads 
to improvements in the use of strategic resources 
through reduced duplication of effort and cost 
savings for the State.  For 2013-14, a 6% increase 
in the number of requests has been recorded.  The 
primary reason for this is the increased awareness 
of SLICP and its capabilities.  Intensive efforts were 
made in 2013-14 through the WALIS Office with 
regard to stakeholder engagement for SLICP.  
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Outcome:

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s 
location information.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (3 of 3):

Enhanced Access

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Volume of data consumed - 

Percentage increase in the total volume of 
data delivered (gigabytes) through Shared  
Land Information Platform (SLIP) (Note 1)

100% 76% 5% 7%

Data Availability  - 

Percentage increase in the number of 
datasets available through SLIP (Note 1)

100% 12% 5% 19%

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework resulted in new effectiveness indicators in 

2011-12 for this Outcome.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

SLIP provides a single point of access for whole of 
government and industry partners to use and share 
location information.  It works by enabling data 
custodians to manage and disseminate their core 
location information through a single online point, 
ensuring all those accessing the information work off 
a common source of truth.

Highlighting the volume of data consumed and the 
number of datasets available in SLIP shows that 
Government agencies are embedding SLIP services 
into their systems and core business applications. 

Through measuring the increasing use of SLIP 
services and the number of datasets available 
highlights the value placed on SLIP by government 
and industry to facilitate access to needed ‘source of 
truth’ location information. 
 

How was the indicator derived?

Volume of data consumed is measured in terms of the 
increase in the volume of data delivered through SLIP 
with a baseline being set during 2011-12.  Reporting 
figures were gathered using SLIP Enabler Operations 
Reports. 

For 2013-14, a total volume of 4,518.71 gigabytes of 
data was consumed.  This represents an increase of 
7% from the previous year.

Data Availability is measured in terms of the increase 
in the number of datasets available through SLIP with 
a baseline being set during 2011-12.      

For 2013-14, a total of 2,850 datasets are available 
through SLIP.  This represents a 19% increase in 
datasets from the previous year.
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What does the indicator show?

The indicator shows that the value of information 
provided through a single access point is increasingly 
becoming more relied upon as a preferred data 
delivery channel.  The significant increase in 
volume of data downloaded highlights that more 
organisations require access to data to carry out  
their duties. 

For 2013-14, the increase in the volume of data 
consumed reflects a continued change in culture 
throughout Western Australia where online services 
are becoming the norm for complete and current 
access to location information.  Landgate and 
WALIS have worked with a number of organisations 
to ensure SLIP is reliable and delivers location 
information through web services direct into business 
system applications.  As these applications are 
rolled out throughout an organisation, more users are 
drawing on SLIP services, increasing the total data 
downloaded from SLIP.
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Service 3:

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description:

Effective access to land and location information can 
be demonstrated by improved data capture, access 
and usability of location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Strategic Capture

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Average cost of coordinating the SLICP per 
request for capture (Note 1)

$6,834 $8,924 $9,267 $10,644

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework resulted in new efficiency indicators in 

2011-12 for this Service.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western 
Australia aims to increase the number of 
organisations actively participating in SLICP in 
order to better coordinate and reduce the costs of 
capturing location information, while also improving 
the efficiency of this process and reducing the cost of 
coordination. 
 

How was the indicator derived?

The cost of coordinating and managing the SLICP 
(based on Landgate and WALIS Office resources 
used to manage the program) is compared with the 
number of capture requests received in order to 
derive an average cost per transaction.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an 
appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent 
costs.

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the average cost of effectively 
co-ordinating the capture of SLICP data for 
customers.  The actual for 2013-14 is above the 
target due to a marginal increase in overhead costs 
that, when applied against the number of requests 
(units), translates into a higher average cost.
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Service 3:

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description:

Effective access to land and location information can 
be demonstrated by improved data capture, access 
and usability of location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Enhanced Access

Actual
2011/12

Actual
2012/13

Target
2013/14

Actual
2013/14

Average cost per gigabyte of information 
delivered through SLIP (Note 1)

$987 $933 $985 $1,487

(Note 1 – The implementation of a revised Outcome Based 
Management framework resulted in new efficiency indicators in 

2011-12 for this Service.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western 
Australia aims to enhance SLIP to reduce the effort 
required to make data available through SLIP and 
ensure SLIP is the most cost effective solution to 
delivering location information from across the State 
to users.  
 

How was the indicator derived?

The cost per gigabyte of information delivered 
through SLIP is based on the resources needed to 
support SLIP customers and the infrastructure cost 
to maintain SLIP (i.e. average cost per gigabyte of 
information delivered through SLIP).

The total cost includes all direct costs and an 
appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent 
costs.

What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the delivery cost (per Gigabyte) 
of data through SLIP.  The actual for 2013-14 is higher 
than the target mainly due to the implementation 
of the Location Information Strategy’s SLIP Future 
(based on Google Maps Engine) which is being 
developed to eventually replace the existing SLIP 
Classic.  This cost was in addition to maintaining the 
old SLIP Classic (which will continue in the near term 
until it can be decommissioned, in consultation with 
customers). 
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Ministerial Directives 

Under section 65(3) of the Land Information 
Authority Act 2006, Landgate is required to 
include in its Annual Report the text of a written 
direction given to it by the Minister, relating to the 
performance of Landgate’s functions.  There were 
no directions given during 2013/14.  

Other Financial Disclosures
Pricing Policies  

Under the Treasurer’s Instruction 903, section 13(i), 
Landgate is required to advise the Department 
of Treasury (Treasury) of the policies underlying 
the pricing of its goods and services and, where 
appropriate, provide references to relevant public 
documents that contain pricing information.  For the 
major categories of goods and services provided by 
Landgate, the following pricing policies apply:

Land Registrations 

The setting of fees for land transaction documents, 
memorial registrations and survey plan lodgements 
are made pursuant to section 181 of the Transfer 
of Land Act 1893; section 130 of the Strata Titles 
Act 1985; and section 22 of the Registration of 
Deeds Act 1856. The basis for determining the 
cost of these services is in accordance with 
the guidelines set out in ‘Costing and Pricing 
Government Services’ published by Treasury.  The 
2013/14 schedule of fees for services relating to 
the lodgement of documents remained unchanged 
from the existing fee. Fees relating to the lodgement 
of survey plans were increased pursuant to a 
notification in the Government Gazette on  
26 July 2013.

Land Searches 

Similarly, the schedule of fees for inspecting and 
copying (searching) land registration information, 
including Certificates of Title, survey plans and 
documents were also unchanged.

Land Valuations 

Pricing for valuations and valuation consulting 
services are made under the powers contained 
within the Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Land 
Information Authority Act 2006. 

Other Goods and Services 

These products and services cover a broad range 
of technical and market driven endeavours and 
include: 

 · Maps and aerial photography

 · Remote sensing satellite imagery 

 · Native Title mapping 

 · Geospatial data sales 

 · Property value and sales information 

 · Land information enterprises

 · Land and property market

Prices of non-regulatory goods and services 
produced and delivered by Landgate are determined 
in accordance with Landgate’s Pricing Framework. 

This framework ensures that the Authority complies 
with the State Government’s requirements for the 
pricing of land information and for the costing and 
pricing of goods and services, as detailed in  
section 16 of the Land Information Authority Act 
2006.  The framework includes processes and 
procedures to ensure prices are set in a transparent, 
methodical and accountable way.
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Capital Works 

Capital
Expenditure

($’000)

Estimated 
Cost to 

Complete 
($’000)

Location Infrastructure 1,385          407

Location Information Strategy 4,529  301

Products and Services          929            62

Asset Replacement 5,736  212

Business Reform Initiatives 4,010  428

Total     16,589       1,410       

Minor delays were experienced across all programs 
causing work to be carried over for completion 
in the early stages of 2014/15.  The $1.410m is 
committed expenditure as at 30 June 2014. 

Landgate’s capital works consists of five ongoing 
programs:

Location Infrastructure 

This program supports improvements in the 
collection and maintenance of location information 
that is the basis of Landgate’s operations and 
crucial to the operations of government, industry 
and the wider community.  This program ensures 
the data meets the quality requirements of users 
and is designed to modernise systems and 
processes associated with producing location 
products.  The program also provides for the 
support of the implementation of the Location 
Information Strategy, which will transform the spatial 
information sector and funds Landgate’s Innovation 
program.

Location Information Strategy

The Location Information Strategy (LIS) provides a 
framework and strategic direction for the collection, 
use and management of location information. 

This will be supported by a number of strategic 
enablers led by Landgate, including the 
redevelopment of the Shared Location Information 
Platform and a better coordinated whole of 
government approach to acquiring and managing 
location information.

A number of benefits will be derived from the 
LIS, including direct financial savings through the 
reduction in duplication of data and systems and 
improved capture, more efficient services via new or 
streamlined processes and better decision making 
through the availability of accurate, reliable and 
relevant location information.

Products and Services

This program provides for the research and 
development of new products and services and the 
continual improvement of online business initiatives 
to meet government and community needs.  The 
primary activities of this program include developing 
web-enabled products, improving service 
delivery of key business solutions and extending 
mapping products to the commercial, private and 
government sectors.  

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2014 was as follows: 
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Asset Replacement

The Asset Replacement program provides for 
ongoing asset management through replacement 
and maintenance of facilities, physical infrastructure, 
information technology assets and third party 
software systems.

Business Reform Initiatives

This program provides for the development of core 
functions and data to meet an increased demand 
for integrated services and technological change. It 
will deliver operational efficiencies through process 
automation and redesign, and position Landgate to 
supply a range of new commercial, best practice 
‘end to end’ services and integrated or bundled 
solutions.  Currently the major project within 
this program is the implementation of electronic 
conveyancing, which was established as an 
initiative of the Council of Australian Governments 
to deliver a uniform and seamless national approach 
to electronic conveyancing.

Employment & Industrial Relations - Staff Profile 

Number of Employees - Representation by Division 

Business Unit

Number  of 
Employees 

2013/2014

Number of 
Employees 
2012/13

Office of the Chief Executive 12 15

Strategy & Reform 51 59

Operations 464 465

Finance Information & Legal Services 161 166

Business Development 30 16

Sales, Marketing & Customer Service 119 122
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Employment & Industrial Relations - Staff Profile - cont.

Number of Employees – Representation by Employment 
Status 

Employee Status

Number  of 
Employees 

2013/2014

Number of 
Employees 
2012/13

Full – Time 707 719

Part – Time 130 124

Casual 0 1

Permanent 785 787

Fixed Term Contract 52 55

Staff Development

Landgate has worked to improve performance 
with a smaller, more highly skilled, innovative and 
engaged workforce and this has been facilitated by 
a continued focus on staff development.

In 2013/14, investment in staff training and 
development improved the skills base to meet 
changing business needs. Managers and staff were 
encouraged to identify their own training needs and 
organise these under the Government’s Common 
Use Agreements to ensure timely and relevant 
training was provided in a cost effective manner. 
This was in addition to the Human Resources 
team, as part of the Learning and Development 
Framework, identifying training needs that were 
delivered at the whole of agency level.
There was a pause in leadership and management 
development across the business as TRANSFORM 
and the associated capability review activity 
progressed. Leadership and management 
development will be picked up as a priority in 
2014/15.

GPS continued to be embedded throughout 
Landgate, and managers and employees worked 
together to define objectives and measures that 
aligned to the corporate outcomes. By June 2014, 
more than 90% of staff had completed a GPS Work 
Plan, and performance reviews and conversations 
commenced in June.  
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Enabling Legislation 

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 is 
the governing legislation which establishes the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (the 
‘Authority’) as a statutory authority with commercial 
powers.  The Authority operates under the business 
name of Landgate. 

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 prescribes 
the powers Landgate has to perform its functions 
and links to other Acts. 

Administered Legislation 

Landgate is responsible for administering legislation 
in relation to the registration of land transactions 
and the regulation of land surveyors.  The Transfer 
of Land Act 1893, Strata Titles Act 1985 and 
Valuation of Land Act 1978 are the principal Acts 
regulating the registration of land transactions.  
The Licensed Surveyors Act 1909 provides for the 
registration, licensing practice of land surveyors, the 
making of authorised surveys and establishment of 
the Land Surveyors Licensing Board.

Landgate’s operations are affected by more  
than 100 Acts. The Fair Trading Act 2010 which 
applies the Australian Consumer Law set out in  
Schedule 2 of the Competition and Consumer 
Act 2010 (Commonwealth) and Part IV of the 
Competition and Consumer Act 2010 both apply to 
Landgate’s commercial operations.  The Financial 
Management Act 2006, Auditor General Act 2006 
and State Supply Commission Act 1991 regulate 
finances, accounts and procurements. 

Governance Arrangements

Since Landgate commenced operating as a 
statutory authority in 2007, the Board has been 
committed to establishing and practicing effective 
governance arrangements to oversee the direction 
and operations of Landgate. 

The corporate governance structure of Landgate 
enables the Authority’s objectives to be pursued 
and achieved.  The structure encompasses the 
systems and processes required to make and 
manage business decisions. 

Minister

The Minister for Lands has responsibility for 
Landgate and is administratively responsible for the 
Land Information Authority Act 2006. 

The Minister approves Landgate’s budget, strategic 
direction, strategic initiatives and financial decisions. 
The Minister tables Landgate’s Annual Report and 
any directions given to the Authority in Parliament 
and is accountable to Parliament for Landgate’s 
performance. 

Board

The Board is accountable to the Minister for 
the performance and the efficient and effective 
financial management of the Authority.  The role 
and functions of the Board are set out in the Land 
Information Authority Act 2006 and the Board 
is subject to the provisions within the Statutory 
Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.  

The Board is responsible for:

 · Setting the broad strategic direction of Landgate 
and objectives, plans and performance targets 
through the annual development of a five year 
Strategic Development Plan and one year 
Statement of Corporate Intent, which must be 
agreed by the Minister;

 · Approving the budget and capital submissions 
to State Government (under the Financial 
Management Act 2006);

 · Reporting to the Minister on the operational and 
financial performance of Landgate;

 · Making a recommendation, as soon as 
practicable after the end of the financial year, 
on whether a dividend is to be paid to the 
Consolidated Account and if so the amount to 
be paid;

 · Monitoring financial and operational 
performance of Landgate (against agreed goals/
targets);

 · Providing risk management oversight;
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 · Consulting and communicating with the 
Minister;

 · Monitoring and approving major business 
transactions;

 · Reviewing the internal financial and operational 
control environments;

 · Determining the scope (and any relevant limits) 
of authority delegated to the Chief Executive; 
and

 · Overseeing the management of the Authority 
by the Chief Executive to ensure it is operating 
effectively and has a culture of compliance and 
best practice business performance in financial, 
human resource, risk and asset management. 

Board Structure

The Minister appoints the members of the Board 
which is to comprise not less than four and not 
more than six persons in addition to the Chief 
Executive (ex officio member) in accordance with 
the Land Information Authority Act 2006.

The Board Members are required to have relevant 
knowledge and experience to enable Landgate’s 
functions under the Land Information Authority Act 
2006 to be performed and a range of skills and 
expertise is required including commercial acumen; 
information technology; strategy development and 
financial management.  The skills and experience 
of the current Board members are set out in the 
Authority Overview Section. 

Members are appointed for fixed terms of up to 
three years and can be reappointed.  The Minister 
designates appointed members to the roles of 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman.

Board Sub-Committee – Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
(ARMC) is a sub-committee of the Board and 
is established under Section 29 (1) of the Land 
Information Authority Act 2006.  

The primary objective and responsibility of the 
ARMC is to assist the Board in fulfilling and 
discharging its responsibilities in relation to 
Landgate’s accounting policies, financial reporting 
practices, financial and internal control systems, 
internal audit function and risk management 
framework, by providing an objective and robust 
opinion on the effectiveness and efficiency of these 
activities.

The Board has authorised the ARMC to:

 · Select, engage, terminate and approve the 
fees and other terms and conditions of the 
engagement of special or independent counsel, 
accountants, other experts and other advisors 
as it deems necessary to carry out its duties; 

 · Have unrestricted access to management, 
employees and information it considers relevant 
to its responsibilities;

 · Meet individually with the Auditor General and/
or their representative, the Chief Executive, 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Manager, 
Audit and Risk Management without any other 
members of management being present, at 
least once a year or whenever it is deemed 
appropriate by the Chair of the ARMC; and 

 · Consult with and be consulted by management 
on the appointment and performance of the 
Manager, Audit and Risk Management.  
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ARMC Financial Reporting 

The ARMC reviews the annual financial 
statements and key performance indicators before 
recommending a submission to the Board for 
approval.

The ARMC also reviews other financial issues and 
reports throughout the year, including:

 · Any significant or unusual accounting issues or 
new transactions;

 · New or changes to accounting standards and 
how that may impact on Landgate’s financial 
management;

 · Review Landgate’s Investment Policy either 
annually or immediately as a result of a change 
in regulatory requirements, whichever occurs 
first; and

 · The appropriateness of Landgate’s accounting 
policies and practices.

ARMC Risk Management (including Business Continuity)

The ARMC undertakes the following activities 
throughout the year:

 · Reviews Landgate’s risk management 
policies and frameworks which include risk 
management, business continuity, insurance 
and other related areas; 

 · Monitors the Strategic (material) risk exposures 
and the key activities which are undertaken to 
manage or reduce these risks;

 · Assists in the management of Operational and 
Project risks;

 · Considers the Risk Appetite Statement, 
focusing on high risk activities; and

 · Reviewing the Business Continuity Test 
schedule and outcomes. 

ARMC Legal and Regulatory obligations (Compliance)

In the area of Compliance the ARMC:

 · Reviews Landgate’s approach to achieving 
compliance with statutory and regulatory 
obligations through the Compliance Policy and 
Compliance Framework; 

 · Monitors changes in legislation, standards 
and other forms of regulation to determine the 
impact on Landgate’s activities; 

 · Confirms the Annual Compliance Certification 
which is completed by each General Manager 
as part of the Annual Report process; and

 · Monitors any high risk legal or compliance 
matters through to conclusion.

Internal and External Audit Functions 

Ensuring the independence of audit activities, the 
ARMC will consider:

 · Approval of the Annual Audit Plan, ensuring 
adequate coverage of high risk areas,  through 
a risk assessment of auditable areas within the 
Audit Universe;

 · Monitor the progress of the internal audit plan 
and approve any changes required to the 
planned scope;  

 · Visibility of the annual Office of the Auditor 
General (OAG) Audit Plan which highlights 
proposed audits, timing and costs;

 · Review audit reports from internal audit and the 
OAG, ensuring satisfaction with both the audit 
recommendations and management responses;

 · Monitor follow up action in response to internal 
audit and external audit recommendations;

 · Report on the realisation of benefits from 
Capital Projects (Asset Investment Plan); and

 · Review and approve the Internal Audit Charter 
on a two year cycle.   
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Risk Management

Landgate has an established Risk Management 
Framework which incorporates Strategic Risk, 
Operational Risk and Project Risk.  Landgate’s 
Strategic Risks are identified as part of the Strategic 
Development Plan annual review process and 
as such are reassessed on an annual basis for 
completeness and emphasis of point.  The Strategic 
Risks are monitored on no less than a quarterly 
basis and reports are provided to the Board, Audit 
and Risk Management Committee and Corporate 
Executive.

Project risks are identified for each key project 
which utilises capital funding.  This is now being 
extended to key projects regardless of the source 
of funding, thereby capturing recurrent and grant 
funded endeavours.  

Operational risk registers are in place for all key 
Business Units.  The Business Units undertake a full 
review on an annual basis, with support from the 
Audit & Risk Management Branch.

Landgate has a structured Business Continuity 
Program – incorporating Business and Information 
Technology (IT) Disaster Recovery protocols.  
Scenario testing of the business plans is conducted 
quarterly.  IT Disaster Recovery Simulations are also 
conducted on a quarterly basis, with an increase 
in demand at each test – whether that is reduced 
recovery time or increased systems to be recovered.

Audit & Risk Management Branch

The Audit & Risk Management Branch (ARMB) was 
formed, in its current structure, in 2008.  Activities 
include internal audit, risk management, insurance, 
compliance and business continuity. All work is 
undertaken using best practice through Australian 
/ International Standards, Internal Audit Standards, 
Treasurer’s Instructions and relevant regulatory 
guidelines.

The ARMB reports directly to the ARMC, 
establishing independence of the internal audit 
function.  It is part of the Office of the Chief 
Executive so as to remain independent from the 
business.  

Landgate has continued to strengthen its 
governance framework by undertaking an internal 
audit during the 2013/2014 financial year.  Some 
recommendations for improvement will be 
implemented during the coming financial year.  
Internal audits conducted during the financial year 
include:

 · Occupational Safety and Health

 · Performance Management

 · Statutory Officers’ Review

 · Grants

 · WA Land Information Authority Act 2006 
(WALIA) Review

 · Equal Employment Opportunity and Industrial 
Relations

 · IT Backup and Recovery

 · Mobile Devices
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Board Remuneration

The Board is established under the Land Information 
Authority Act 2006 (LIAA).  The Board is responsible 
for the performance of the Authority’s statutory 
functions and sets the strategic direction of the 
Authority.  The Board meets on the third Tuesday of 
every month.  Meetings are held at various locations 
including Midland, Perth and Floreat. 

Meeting dates and arrangements may be subject  
to change to address special requirements. The 
Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) is  
a sub-committee of the Board and comprises two 
Board members. In line with its charter, the ARMC 
may invite other participants to its meetings.  The 
primary function of the ARMC is to assist the 
Board and Chief Executive to fulfil their corporate 
governance responsibilities.  The ARMC meets on a 
quarterly basis.

Board

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of  

membership
Gross/actual 
remuneration

Chair Geoffrey Hick Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $46,403

Deputy Chair Roger Hussey * Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $37,122

Member Karen Gadsby * Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $30,206

Member Paul White** Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $27,842

Member Claire Poll Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $27,842

Member Anne Arnold Annual 1/07/13-30/06/14 $27,842

Ex Officio Mike Bradford, Chief Executive N/A N/A N/A

Total $197,257

* Also a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

** Also represents Landgate on Board of earthmine Australia
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Other Committee Remuneration

The Geographic Names Committee (GNC) was 
appointed as an advisory committee to the Minister 
for Lands in 1936 to provide advice to the Minister 
on geographical naming issues.  Appointments 
to the GNC are made by the Minister for Lands 
to represent many different points of view, from 
local communities to professional institutions and 
government agencies within Western Australia. 

The GNC is served by a Secretary and a Secretariat, 
both of which are provided by Landgate. The GNC 
is responsible for managing the nomenclature 
needs for geographical features, administrative 
boundaries, localities and roads.  It also maintains 
the GEONOMA (geo = geographic, noma = Latin for 
‘names’) and nomenclature database. 

GEONOMA is recognised by the State Government 
as the primary source and official register 
for all approved named geographic features, 
administrative boundaries and road names and their 
positions and/or extents. 

Geographic Names Committee

Position Name
Type of 

remuneration
Period of  

membership
Gross/actual 
remuneration

Member Jennie Carter Sitting 1/1/2014-30/6/2014 $160

Member Kevin Trent Sitting 1/7/2013-30/6/2014 $320

Member Russell Burnett Sitting 1/7/2013-6/12/2013 $160

Total $640
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Advertising

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral 
Act 1907, the Authority incurred the following expenditure in  
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and  
media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2013/2014 was $269,544.03, incurred in the following areas:

Advertising Agencies $138,299.76

   Big Head Digital $26,557.00

   Carat Australia Media Services $89,222.27

   Crush $19,545.00

   Dubsat $108.00

   GateCrasher Advertising Pty Ltd $2,867.49

Direct Mail $9,894.72

   Quickmail $6,047.78

   Webcentral $3,846.94

Market Research $93,140.00

   Painted Dog Research Pty Ltd  $93,140.00

Media Advertising Providers $28,209.55

   Australian Institute of Conveyancers $1,000.00

   Australian Property $181.82

   Google Adwords $23,727.28

   Interpoint Events Pty Ltd $1480.45

   PS News $1820.00

Polling NIL
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Sponsorship

Curtin University Partnership Spatial Sciences Studio

The Curtin Alliance Memorandum of Understanding  
between Curtin University and Landgate was 
renewed for a further three years.  The renewed 
agreement continues to encourage Landgate and 
Curtin University (School of Spatial Sciences) to 
work in partnership for the purpose of developing 
and promoting education and research in location 
information and improve education and employment 
opportunities for students in the spatial sciences 
field. 

Bursary

Landgate annually funds a student bursary in Spatial 
Sciences for final year or Honours students enrolled 
in a Bachelor of Science (GIS) at Curtin University. 

The award promotes excellence and innovation 
in spatial sciences, and this year was won by a 
student completing a double degree in GIS and 
geology.

Resources Innovation in Information Technology Unearthed

Resource Innovation in Information Technology is 
an entity formed by entrepreneurs within the Perth 
start-up community.  The Unearthed event was 
aimed at stimulating innovation in the mining sector 
with a view to creating new start-up businesses. 
Sponsorship of the ‘Landgate SLIP Spatial 
Innovation Prize’ was aimed at exposing the Shared 
Location Information Platform (SLIP) and Landgate 
data to the mining sector and start-up community to 
engage new customers and uncover new business 
opportunities.  A $2,000 prize was donated by 
Landgate.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

(Disability Services Act 1993) 

Landgate is proud of its efforts to ensure that 
it is an inclusive and accessible place for its 
staff, customers and members of the public with 
disabilities. During 2013/2014 Landgate focused 
efforts on launching the Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) with meaningful and relevant 
strategies for the coming years. 

Landgate’s 2012-2017 DAIP provides a framework 
for the identification of areas where access and 
inclusion can be improved.  It also informs the 
development of strategies to facilitate the design 
and implementation of projects in response to the 
seven DAIP outcomes.  An annual progress report is 
presented to the Department for Disability Services  
in July of each year, which ensures Landgate’s 
five year plan is monitored and compliant with the 
Disability Services Act 1993.

1. People with disabilities have access to the services of, 
and any events organised by a public agency.  
Our public access enables people with 
disabilities to access all of Landgate’s planned 
events and activities.  The provision of visitor 
facilities is inclusive of services suitable for use 
by all members of the community including 
people with physical and intellectual disabilities. 
 

2. People with disabilities have access to the buildings 
and other facilities of a public agency.  
All Landgate buildings are equipped with:

 · Ramps;

 · Strategically placed automatic door openers 
throughout the building to improve access 
for staff and customers with disabilities;

 · A disability access toilet for public use; and 

 · Wheelchair and hearing impaired assistance 
services at the Midland Customer Centre.

Landgate acquires funds from the Federal 
Government for workplace modifications to 
ensure people with disabilities have equal 
opportunity to access the Landgate building 
facilities and services.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes - cont.

3. People with disabilities receive information from a 
public agency in a format that will enable them to 
access information.  
Information about Landgate’s services is readily 
accessible via various mechanisms including:

 · face-to-face contact;

 · telephone;

 · teletypewriter (TTY);

 · internet, Facebook and Twitter;

 · email;

 · a substantial pool of interpreters within the 
customer service area;

 · alternative formats on request; and

 · Landgate’s corporate webpage being 
designed to W3C standards. 
 

4. People with disabilities receive the same level and 
quality of service from the staff of a public agency.  
A key platform for inclusion at Landgate 
was the endorsed Workforce & Diversity 
Plan 2012-2015 and its aligning action plan, 
designed to assist and identify current and 
future workforce requirements while integrating 
equal employment opportunity and diversity 
components.  This plan includes the Landgate 
Diversity Framework of which one of the key 
components is education.  The framework 
is aimed at creating an environment which 
celebrates diversity and is free from all forms of 
discrimination and harassment. 
 
The Landgate DAIP and Diversity Framework 
have been incorporated into the Staff 
Consultative Committee (SCC) agenda to 
facilitate a forum for continual discussion 
regarding the need for training and awareness 
in these areas of community responsibility.  The 
SCC includes a diversity of representatives 
including disabilities, to ensure a focus is 
maintained in this area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. People with disabilities have equal opportunity to 
make complaints to a public agency.  
Landgate’s complaints management system 
and its feedback mechanisms are accessible 
to all customers and are available through a 
number of appropriate mechanisms. 
 

6. People with disabilities have equal opportunity to 
participate in any public consultation by a public 
agency.  
People with disabilities can participate in 
public consultation by accessing Landgate’s 
services through a number of means as outlined 
under outcome three.  Interpreters are made 
available at all times upon request to ensure 
inclusion during consultation with regard to 
DAIP compliance and Landgate’s Workforce & 
Diversity Plan 2012-2015. 
 

7. People with disabilities have the same access as 
other people to employment opportunities with 
Landgate.  
Three per cent of Landgate’s staff identify as 
having a disability.  Landgate will continue to 
learn and apply innovative strategies to improve 
the attraction, recruitment and retention of 
employees with a view to attracting a diverse 
workforce, leading to a greater percentage of 
staff with disabilities.   
 
This is supported by Landgate’s Workforce & 
Diversity Plan & DAIP which are key platforms 
for inclusion in the agency.  Identifying gaps 
in policy, service provision and operational 
processes has enhanced opportunities for 
greater staff diversity. 
 
Landgate continued to successfully source 
funding to provide Auslan interpreters 
for deaf employees ensuring access to 
information, training, interviews and succession 
opportunities. 
 
Landgate acquires funds from the Federal 
Government for workplace modifications to 
enable people with disabilities to have the same 
opportunities as other staff. 
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes - cont.

7. People with disabilities have the same access as 
other people to employment opportunities with 
Landgate. - cont.  
Landgate’s Human Resources liaises with staff 
and supervisors to ensure that people with 
disabilities are provided with support to carry 
out their employment responsibilities, career 
development and succession opportunities 
through the Workplace Literacy/Language 
Support Program. 
 
Landgate continues to work towards enhancing 
the employment of people with disabilities 
through job design or other innovative and 
flexible employment practices on an individual 
needs basis.
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Diversity Progress Report – Representation

Landgate’s Women in Management 2013/2014

Women in Management
Landgate 

Representation (%)

Distribution (Equity Index) 99

Management Tier 1 0

Management Tier 2 33.3

Management Tier 3 37.5

Management Tier 2 & 3 Combined 36.6

Landgate’s Workforce Diversity 2013/2014

Diversity Group
Landgate 

Representation (%) Equity Index

People from Culturally Diverse Background 16 75

Indigenous Australians 1.0 28

People with Disabilities 3.0 64

Youth (<25) 3.0 26

This information shows the diversity of Landgate 
employees against other state sectors.  The equity 
index compares the distribution of a diversity group 
in the workforce to the distribution of the workforce 
as a whole.  If the group has a similar distribution 
across all ranges as the total workforce the equity 
index is 100.  An equity index of less than 100 
indicates compression of the group at the lower 
salary ranges.  An equity index of more than 100 
indicates compression of the group at the higher 
salary ranges.

Note: as most responses rely on voluntary self-
nomination, it is likely that the information gathered 
is under representative of these diversity groups in 
Landgate.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards  
and Ethical Codes

Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1)

Human Resource Management Standards, Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes Compliance Statement for 
2013/14 Overview

Landgate is committed to upholding the Public 
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, 
the Western Australian Public Sector Code of 
Ethics and Landgate’s Code of Conduct.  Landgate 
strives to reflect our values of community, creativity, 
celebration, sustainability, growth and learning and 
excellence in all that we do.

Public Sector Standards
The Standards are readily accessible on Landgate’s 
intranet.

 · Landgate fosters an environment where staff 
are comfortable talking about the Standards 
and where decisions are fair and equitable and 
capable of review.

 · Landgate’s Human Resources team works 
closely with the business to provide timely 
information around revisions to the Public 
Sector Standards, Commissioner’s Instructions 
and any changes to the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.

 · All recruitment and selection decisions are 
reviewed by independent officers to ensure 
compliance. Applicants are informed of the 
Standards and Breach of Standard claims 
process, with all notifiable employment 
decisions. 

 · One Breach of Standards claim was lodged 
during 2013/14 and this was referred to the 
Public Sector Commission for resolution.

Public Sector Code of Ethics and Landgate’s Code of 
Conduct

 · The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are 
readily available on Landgate’s intranet.

 · The Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct 
are made available and discussed with new 
employees to Landgate.

 · Staff are reminded of key ethical issues on a 
regular basis through the intranet, induction 
courses and workshops.

 · 96% of Landgate staff have taken part in the 
Ethical and Accountable Decision-Making 
training. The remaining staff and new employees 
to Landgate will be captured once the online 
Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
training module is introduced in 2014/15.

Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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Recordkeeping Plans

The following information is provided as required  
by State Records Commission Standard 2,  
Principle 6 – Compliance; Government  
organisations ensure their employees comply  
with the recordkeeping plan.

Landgate is implementing an electronic document 
and records management system (eDRMS). The 
eDRMS role out includes establishing ‘Records 
Super-users’ within business areas who are 
comprehensively trained in the eDRMS and 
underlying standards and processes.  Training in the 
use of the corporate records management system is 
provided on an as needs basis.

Recordkeeping awareness training continues as 
part of Landgate’s induction process. It provides 
an awareness of organisation recordkeeping 
policies, principles and issues.  It also details what 
is required from Landgate staff to comply with the 
requirements of the Landgate Recordkeeping Plan.  
Training content was reviewed in 2012 and is still 
relevant and effective.

All new staff to the organisation are required to 
complete this training within 60 days of enrolment, 
including those from Landgate’s contracted service 
providers.  1,774 individuals have enrolled since the 
introduction of the training, 98% have successfully 
completed the training.

Information Statement

The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 
1992 provides a legal right of access to documents 
held by all state and local government agencies.  
This Annual Report serves the purpose as an 
Information Statement to meet the requirements of 
Part 5 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992.

Freedom of Information Applications for 2013/14

Four valid applications were received for the 
year, two were seeking access to non-personal 
information, and two seeking access to personal 
information, with two applications for internal review 
lodged. Statistics regarding 2013/14 applications 
are provided in the Information Commissioner’s 
Annual Report at www.foi.wa.gov.au.

Information Enquiries

Often material is available without the need to 
formalise a request using Freedom of Information 
(FOI) processes. Requests to access information are 
first directed to Customer Service Officers.  A formal 
FOI application is required if documents are not 
available as part of normal services or business.

Receipt of FOI Applications

FOI applications, payments, correspondence and 
general enquiries should be directed to:

FOI Coordinator
Landgate
PO Box 2222
Midland WA 6936
Telephone (08) 9273 7565
Facsimile (08) 9273 7666.

FOI application forms are available from the 
Authority’s website at www.landgate.wa.gov.au or 
from the FOI Coordinator.

Fees and Charges

The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI 
Act:

 · Application fee for non-personal information is 
$30.00.  There are no fees for applications for 
personal information about the applicant;

 · Charges for dealing with the application are set 
at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata 
for a part of an hour;

 · Charges for supervising inspection of 
documents are set at a standard rate of $30.00 
per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour;

 · Charges for photocopying are $30.00 per hour 
for staff time and 20¢ per copy;

 · Charges for time taken by staff transcribing 
information from a tape or other device are set 
at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata 
for a part of an hour;

 · Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer 
information will be the actual cost; and

 · Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will 
be the actual cost.

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Other Legal Requirements
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Recordkeeping Plans - cont.

Processing Applications

The coordination and assessment of FOI 
applications is centralised, with decentralised 
decision making.  Initial decisions are made by 
the relevant business manager or information set 
owner due to their knowledge of the activities and 
information involved.  The internal review process is 
conducted by the Legal Services team.

Notice of Decision

Applicants are provided with written notice of the 
organisation’s decision, including: 

 · The date of the decision;

 · The name and designation of the decision-
maker;

 · The reasons for deleting any matter;

 · The reasons for deferring access;

 · Arrangements for giving access;

 · The reasons for refusing access to any matter;

 · The amount and basis for any charges levied; 
and

 · The rights of review and procedures to be 
followed.

Review Rights

If an applicant or third party is aggrieved with a 
decision they have the right to submit a written 
request for a review of that decision.  The request 
for a review must be lodged within 30 days of notice 
of the original decision.  The review is conducted 
by a person other than the person who made the 
original decision, is not subordinate to that person 
and is usually a person from the Legal Services 
team.

The Authority must respond with a written notice 

of decision within 15 days of receiving a request 
for a review.  There is no lodgement fee payable for 
internal reviews.  If the applicant or third party is 
still aggrieved they may lodge a written complaint to 
the Office of the Information Commissioner within 
60 days following the internal review decision  
(30 days for third parties).  The Commissioner’s 
decision is final, unless an appeal is made to the 
Supreme Court on a question of law.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Landgate is dedicated to providing and maintaining 
safe and healthy working environments for 
employees, customers and visitors through the 
development and implementation of effective and 
integrated safety, wellness and injury management 
systems.

Landgate’s commitment to Safety and Health is 
articulated within our Occupational Safety and 
Health (OSH) Policy Statement.  The Statement 
is formulated in consultation with employee 
representative groups, endorsed by the Corporate 
Executive and signed by the Chief Executive.  It 
is displayed in prominent locations throughout 
Landgate workplaces. 

Landgate is committed to ensuring a safe and 
healthy workplace for all employees, contractors 
and visitors by:

 · Nurturing the continuous improvement of 
workplace safety, health conditions and culture;

 · Acknowledging and accepting a shared 
responsibility for the safety and health of all 
persons who may be affected by Landgate’s 
activities;

 · Promoting a consultative environment that will 
resolve issues while proactively developing and 
improving OSH systems in the workplace;

 · Providing and maintaining workplaces and 
systems of work so (as far as practicable) 
people are not exposed to hazards; 
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management - cont.

 · Providing appropriate financial, physical 
and human resources to ensure effective 
implementation, maintenance and improvement 
of OSH systems; and

 · Supporting OSH performance based objectives 
and targets to continuously improve and 
eliminate work-related illness and injury. 

OSH Representatives are available to consult and 
provide representation on safety and health matters.  
Representatives’ details are provided via a poster, 
which is displayed throughout the workplace and 
is available on the staff intranet.  Newsletter and 
intranet articles seek to promote the role, recruit 
new representatives and convey their identity and 
availability. 

Landgate’s OSH Committee meets on a six weekly 
basis and as required.  It provides a forum for 
discussion and development of safety systems, 
policies and procedures.  Initiatives developed and 
recommended by the OSH Committee are referred 
to employee/employer consultative groups and the 
Corporate Executive.  Minutes from OSH committee 
meetings are available to all employees via the staff 
intranet. 

It is through effective, timely monitoring of safety 
conditions that Landgate is able to respond to 
any concerns or opportunities for improvement.  
Landgate’s Quarterly OSH and Wellness 
Performance Reports contain an extensive range of 
performance indicators and trend analysis:

 · Engagement – Number of OSH Representatives 
and visits to OSH intranet material;

 · Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
– number of claims, actual and estimated future 
costs;

 · OSH and Injury Management training – 
Percentage of managers trained and the 
timeliness of completed OSH training;

 · Incidents, first aid treatments and ergonomic 
assessments – Number of reported incidents, 
treatments by a First Aid Officer and 
assessments performed by Landgate’s internal 
assessors;

 · Employee assistance program – Overall 
utilisation and the ratio of work related use, 
benchmarked against the public service;

 · Wellness program – Employee participation 
in leisure and lifestyle program activities and 
memberships; and

 · Summary of incidents – A description of all 
recent incident investigations, corrective actions 
and outcomes. 

Performance reports are available via the staff 
intranet and reviewed by Landgate’s Board, 
Corporate Executive and OSH Committee. 
Managers, employees and their representative 
groups are alerted by email and encouraged to 
review with colleagues through their team meetings.

Landgate’s Injury Management Policy is developed 
in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981 and WorkCover WA 
guidelines for injury management.  It documents the 
Authority’s approach to work related and non-work 
related illness and injury and is available via the staff 
intranet.

Landgate’s workplace-based injury management 
service is available to any employee who suffers 
a work related injury or illness and, to those who 
suffer a non-work related injury or illness that 
may be impacted by or upon their return to work.  
Return to work and injury management plans are 
developed and monitored in accordance with the 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981 and Landgate’s Policy.

 · Landgate recognises the benefits of continuous 
improvement in its OSH management systems 
based upon best practice standards.  An 
integral part of Landgate’s approach is a 
comprehensive ongoing workplace inspection 
and systems auditing process.  This includes six 
monthly workplace hazard inspections, annual 
legislative and procedural compliance audits 
and five yearly safety management system 
audits, conducted in accordance with the code 
of practice for OSH in the WA public sector, 
AS4801:2000 and  AS4804:2000. 
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In 2010 Landgate engaged an external auditor 
to review its safety management system.  The 
audit scope was aligned to WA’s WorkSafe Plan, 
WorkSafe Victoria’s SafetyMap and ComCare’s 
National Audit tools.  A review conducted in May 
2014 concluded 100% of the 27 recommendations; 
spanning over nine focus areas had been fully 
addressed.

Throughout 2013/14 Landgate has continued to act 
on opportunities for improvement by:

 · Refining and enhancing OSH aspects of its 
organisational risk register;

 · Implementing an electronic, competency based 
refreshment program for managers who have 
completed training in their responsibilities three 
years previously;

 · Embedding a new integrated electronic 
performance development system which 
incorporates the communication and affirmation 
of OSH responsibilities, initiatives and 
education;

 · Expanding upon its range of key performance 
indicators and reports for the OSH Committee, 
Corporate Executive and Board oversight; 

 · Enhancing corporate oversight and due 
diligence mechanisms; and

 · Developing and reviewing an expanded set 
of OSH guidelines in order to document OSH 
and injury management systems and the 
management of key OSH risks.

Landgate will build on these improvements through a further assessment of its OSH management systems 
in 2015.

Actual Results Results against Target

Measure 2012/13 2013/14
2013/14 

Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Landgate has continued 
to perform well, in the 

prevention and management 
of workplace injury.

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate

0.19 0.12 0.17

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate

0 0 0

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work:

Only two incidents occurred 
in the 2013/14 period. One 

of these incidents incurred a 
short period of lost time.

(i) within 13 weeks 100% 100% N/A

(ii) within 26 weeks 100% 100% ≥ 80%

Percentage of managers trained 
in occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities

87% 93% ≥ 80%

Competency based 
electronic training and 

refreshment has been well 
received and highly effective. 



1 Midland Square, MIDLAND WA 6056
Telephone: (08) 9273 7341  

Email: customerservice@landgate.wa.gov.au

www.landgate.wa.gov.au


	Landgate Annual Report 2013/14
	Contents
	Statement of Compliance
	Operational Highlights
	Chairman’s Message
	Chief Executive’s Message
	Executive Summary
	Financial Summary
	Performance Summary
	Significant Achievements
	Our Customersand Stakeholders –Enhancing Value
	Our Business Improvement –Planning Our Future
	Our Strategic Alliances, Partnerships and Innovation – Developing Tomorrow’s Business
	Our People –The Reason for Our Success


	Significant Issuesand Trends
	Significant Issues and Trends

	Authority Overview
	Board
	Corporate Executive
	Organisational Structure
	Strategic Framework

	Disclosures and Legal Compliance
	Independent Audit Opinions
	Certification of the Financial Statements
	Certification of the Key Performance Indicators
	Ministerial Directives
	Other Financial Disclosures
	Governance Disclosures
	Other Legal Requirements


	Button 109: 
	Button 106: 
	Button 108: 
	Button 105: 
	Button 107: 
	Button 102: 
	Button 104: 
	Button 101: 
	Button 103: 
	Button 98: 
	Button 100: 
	Button 97: 
	Button 99: 
	Button 86: 
	Page 8: Off
	Page 101: Off
	Page 122: Off
	Page 143: Off
	Page 164: Off
	Page 185: Off
	Page 206: Off
	Page 227: Off
	Page 248: Off
	Page 269: Off
	Page 2810: Off
	Page 3011: Off
	Page 3212: Off
	Page 3413: Off

	Button 88: 
	Page 8: Off
	Page 101: Off
	Page 122: Off
	Page 143: Off
	Page 164: Off
	Page 185: Off
	Page 206: Off
	Page 227: Off
	Page 248: Off
	Page 269: Off
	Page 2810: Off
	Page 3011: Off
	Page 3212: Off
	Page 3413: Off

	Button 85: 
	Page 9: Off
	Page 111: Off
	Page 132: Off
	Page 153: Off
	Page 174: Off
	Page 195: Off
	Page 216: Off
	Page 237: Off
	Page 258: Off
	Page 299: Off
	Page 3110: Off
	Page 3311: Off
	Page 3512: Off

	Button 87: 
	Page 9: Off
	Page 111: Off
	Page 132: Off
	Page 153: Off
	Page 174: Off
	Page 195: Off
	Page 216: Off
	Page 237: Off
	Page 258: Off
	Page 299: Off
	Page 3110: Off
	Page 3311: Off
	Page 3512: Off

	Button 94: 
	Button 96: 
	Button 90: 
	Button 92: 
	Button 61: 
	Button 63: 
	Button 129: 
	Button 130: 
	Button 82: 
	Page 36: Off
	Page 381: Off

	Button 84: 
	Page 36: Off
	Page 381: Off

	Button 81: 
	Page 37: Off
	Page 391: Off

	Button 83: 
	Page 37: Off
	Page 391: Off

	Button 131: 
	Button 132: 
	Button 78: 
	Page 40: Off
	Page 421: Off
	Page 442: Off
	Page 463: Off
	Page 484: Off

	Button 80: 
	Page 40: Off
	Page 421: Off
	Page 442: Off
	Page 463: Off
	Page 484: Off

	Button 77: 
	Page 41: Off
	Page 431: Off
	Page 452: Off
	Page 473: Off
	Page 494: Off

	Button 79: 
	Page 41: Off
	Page 431: Off
	Page 452: Off
	Page 473: Off
	Page 494: Off

	Button 74: 
	Page 50: Off
	Page 521: Off
	Page 542: Off
	Page 563: Off
	Page 584: Off
	Page 605: Off
	Page 626: Off
	Page 1347: Off
	Page 1528: Off
	Page 1549: Off
	Page 15610: Off
	Page 15811: Off
	Page 16012: Off
	Page 16213: Off
	Page 16414: Off
	Page 16615: Off
	Page 16816: Off
	Page 17017: Off

	Button 76: 
	Page 50: Off
	Page 521: Off
	Page 542: Off
	Page 563: Off
	Page 584: Off
	Page 605: Off
	Page 626: Off
	Page 1347: Off
	Page 1528: Off
	Page 1549: Off
	Page 15610: Off
	Page 15811: Off
	Page 16012: Off
	Page 16213: Off
	Page 16414: Off
	Page 16615: Off
	Page 16816: Off
	Page 17017: Off

	Button 73: 
	Page 51: Off
	Page 531: Off
	Page 552: Off
	Page 573: Off
	Page 594: Off
	Page 615: Off
	Page 636: Off
	Page 1357: Off
	Page 1538: Off
	Page 1559: Off
	Page 15710: Off
	Page 15911: Off
	Page 16112: Off
	Page 16313: Off
	Page 16514: Off
	Page 16715: Off
	Page 16916: Off
	Page 17117: Off

	Button 75: 
	Page 51: Off
	Page 531: Off
	Page 552: Off
	Page 573: Off
	Page 594: Off
	Page 615: Off
	Page 636: Off
	Page 1357: Off
	Page 1538: Off
	Page 1559: Off
	Page 15710: Off
	Page 15911: Off
	Page 16112: Off
	Page 16313: Off
	Page 16514: Off
	Page 16715: Off
	Page 16916: Off
	Page 17117: Off

	Button 113: 
	Button 115: 
	Button 70: 
	Page 64: Off
	Page 661: Off
	Page 682: Off
	Page 703: Off
	Page 724: Off
	Page 745: Off
	Page 766: Off
	Page 787: Off
	Page 808: Off
	Page 829: Off
	Page 8410: Off
	Page 8611: Off
	Page 8812: Off
	Page 9013: Off
	Page 9214: Off
	Page 9415: Off
	Page 9616: Off
	Page 9817: Off
	Page 10018: Off
	Page 10219: Off
	Page 10420: Off
	Page 10621: Off
	Page 10822: Off
	Page 11023: Off
	Page 11224: Off
	Page 11425: Off
	Page 11626: Off
	Page 11827: Off
	Page 12028: Off
	Page 12229: Off
	Page 12430: Off
	Page 12631: Off
	Page 12832: Off
	Page 13033: Off
	Page 13234: Off

	Button 72: 
	Page 64: Off
	Page 661: Off
	Page 682: Off
	Page 703: Off
	Page 724: Off
	Page 745: Off
	Page 766: Off
	Page 787: Off
	Page 808: Off
	Page 829: Off
	Page 8410: Off
	Page 8611: Off
	Page 8812: Off
	Page 9013: Off
	Page 9214: Off
	Page 9415: Off
	Page 9616: Off
	Page 9817: Off
	Page 10018: Off
	Page 10219: Off
	Page 10420: Off
	Page 10621: Off
	Page 10822: Off
	Page 11023: Off
	Page 11224: Off
	Page 11425: Off
	Page 11626: Off
	Page 11827: Off
	Page 12028: Off
	Page 12229: Off
	Page 12430: Off
	Page 12631: Off
	Page 12832: Off
	Page 13033: Off
	Page 13234: Off

	Button 69: 
	Page 65: Off
	Page 671: Off
	Page 692: Off
	Page 713: Off
	Page 734: Off
	Page 755: Off
	Page 776: Off
	Page 797: Off
	Page 818: Off
	Page 839: Off
	Page 8510: Off
	Page 8711: Off
	Page 8912: Off
	Page 9113: Off
	Page 9314: Off
	Page 9515: Off
	Page 9716: Off
	Page 9917: Off
	Page 10118: Off
	Page 10319: Off
	Page 10520: Off
	Page 10721: Off
	Page 10922: Off
	Page 11123: Off
	Page 11324: Off
	Page 11525: Off
	Page 11726: Off
	Page 11927: Off
	Page 12128: Off
	Page 12329: Off
	Page 12530: Off
	Page 12731: Off
	Page 12932: Off
	Page 13133: Off
	Page 13334: Off

	Button 71: 
	Page 65: Off
	Page 671: Off
	Page 692: Off
	Page 713: Off
	Page 734: Off
	Page 755: Off
	Page 776: Off
	Page 797: Off
	Page 818: Off
	Page 839: Off
	Page 8510: Off
	Page 8711: Off
	Page 8912: Off
	Page 9113: Off
	Page 9314: Off
	Page 9515: Off
	Page 9716: Off
	Page 9917: Off
	Page 10118: Off
	Page 10319: Off
	Page 10520: Off
	Page 10721: Off
	Page 10922: Off
	Page 11123: Off
	Page 11324: Off
	Page 11525: Off
	Page 11726: Off
	Page 11927: Off
	Page 12128: Off
	Page 12329: Off
	Page 12530: Off
	Page 12731: Off
	Page 12932: Off
	Page 13133: Off
	Page 13334: Off

	Button 118: 
	Button 120: 
	Button 66: 
	Page 136: Off
	Page 1381: Off
	Page 1402: Off
	Page 1423: Off
	Page 1444: Off
	Page 1465: Off
	Page 1486: Off
	Page 1507: Off

	Button 68: 
	Page 136: Off
	Page 1381: Off
	Page 1402: Off
	Page 1423: Off
	Page 1444: Off
	Page 1465: Off
	Page 1486: Off
	Page 1507: Off

	Button 65: 
	Page 137: Off
	Page 1391: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1433: Off
	Page 1454: Off
	Page 1475: Off
	Page 1496: Off
	Page 1517: Off

	Button 67: 
	Page 137: Off
	Page 1391: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1433: Off
	Page 1454: Off
	Page 1475: Off
	Page 1496: Off
	Page 1517: Off

	Button 128: 


